ODETOLA, LOVE O. Ph.D. Water Quality Perceptions and Water-Related Practices among African Refugee Women: A Qualitative Study. (2023) Directed by Dr. Sharon Morrison. 159 pp.

Many in and out of the country presume that those residing in the United States have universal access to safe drinking water. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention asserts that "the United States is fortunate to have one of the safest public drinking water systems." Yet many mistrust tap water in the United States. Recent national estimates suggest households that mistrust their drinking water spend over 9% of their income on bottled water and other water replacement efforts. Studies highlighting immigrants' knowledge, perception, and water usage have mostly focused on Hispanic groups. African refugees, for example, represent one of the fastest-growing immigrant populations in the U.S. Yet little is known about them on this topic. How do African refugee women perceive their tap water quality? What are the water safety practices in which they engage? How do they use tap water during pregnancy and postpartum stages? Building on 5 years of ethnographic work, this qualitative study adopted a constructivist research paradigm to address these questions. I conducted key informant interviews with twelve African refugee women. For analysis, I adopted Airhihenbuwa's PEN-3 cultural model. The results indicated that pre-resettlement enablers (i.e., health professionals, education system, resettlement agencies) and nurturers (i.e., extended family and neighborhood influences) informed their water quality perceptions and practices in the U.S. Their tap water quality perceptions and water safety practices centered on microbial contamination, rather than heavy metal pollutants such as lead. There were also unique cultural water practices, enablers, and nurturers critical to refugee women's pregnancy and postpartum experiences. The study provides implications for public health educators, researchers, resettlement agencies, maternal-child health specialists, and policy advocates.

WATER QUALITY PERCEPTIONS AND WATER-RELATED PRACTICES AMONG

AFRICAN REFUGEE WOMEN: A QUALITATIVE STUDY

by

Love O. Odetola

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree Doctor of Philosophy

Greensboro

2023

Approved by

Dr. Sharon Morrison Committee Chair

APPROVAL PAGE

This dissertation written by Love O. Odetola has been approved by the following committee of the Faculty of The Graduate School at The University of North Carolina at Greensboro.

Committee Chair

Committee Members

Dr. Sharon Morrison

Dr. Sandra Echeverria

Dr. Stephen Sills

Dr. Paige Smith

Dr. Cassandra Workman

March 2, 2023 Date of Acceptance by Committee

March 2, 2023 Date of Final Oral Examination

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I must thank God for keeping me sane throughout this process. Being able to complete this dissertation at this time is all by the grace of God.

Dad and Mum, thank you for the sacrifices. Thank you for calling, praying, encouraging, and counseling. Thank you for reminding me always to go back to God when it gets tough.

I would also like to express deep gratitude to Dr. Morrison, my chair, for your selflessness in this process. You met consistently week after week for hours to see this project come to fruition. Thank you.

I am incredibly grateful to my committee members, Dr. Echeverria, Dr. Smith, Dr. Sills, and Dr. Workman. Thank you for your outstanding feedback. Thank you for being so generous with your time, even at times when the semester was busiest.

To the UMOJA women's group – Thank You.

Daniel, thank you for texting and calling. You would ask me, "Big sis, how you doing? I mean, how are you really doing? How is the dissertation coming along?" These check-ins meant so much. Charity, thank you for your supportive presence, the laughs, your beautiful smile, and your insightful feedback over the years. Honored and grateful to have you as my sister.

Thank you to Dr. Bonilla, the Ahmed Family, Olaoye Family, my Church Family, Mummy Folake, Dr. Braimoh, Sarah Tummala, and so many others who believed that this was possible and cheered me on along the way.

Finally, to my sweet husband, thank you for your love and support. Thank you for pushing me to stay focused.

iii

LIST OF TABLES	ix
LIST OF FIGURES	X
CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION	1
Perceptions and Attitudes	1
Statement of the Problem	2
Purpose of the Study	3
Research Questions	3
CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	5
Contaminants in Tap Water: A Focus on Lead Exposure	5
Lead Exposure by Socioeconomic and Refugee Status	6
African Refugees & Lead Exposure	7
Lead Exposure and Perinatal Health Effects	8
Water-Related Practices and Beliefs in Sub-Saharan Africa	10
During Pregnancy	10
During Labor	11
During Postpartum Stages	11
Situating the Issue Within the Social Determinants of Refugee Health Framework	12
Group Heterogeneity	12
Environmental Determinants of Refugee Health	13
Environmental Justice: Racial Segregation, Water Quality, and Health Outcomes	15
Research Gap	16
CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY	17
Purpose of Study	17
Global to Local Refugee Contexts	17
The Conflict in the Democratic Republic of Congo	18
The Water Situation in the DRC	19
Congolese Refugees: The Journey to the USA	20
The Local Context: The Piedmont Triad and Greensboro	22

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pilot Study	25
Research Questions	27
Research Design	28
Qualitative Methodology	
Constructivist Research Paradigm	29
Ethnographic Immersion	30
Preliminary Study	33
Study Participants	36
Eligibility	36
Sampling	36
Participant Recruitment	37
Final Sample Description	38
Participant Ethics	39
Data Collection	39
Interviews	39
Data Analysis	40
Phase 1: Data Reduction	40
Phase 2: Data Display	40
Quotation Inventory	41
Diagramming	42
Episode Profiles	42
Moving on from the Initial Analysis	43
Phase 3: Data Display & Conclusion Deduction (Using PEN-3 Cultural Model)	44
PEN-3 Application in Past Studies & the Current Study	47
PEN-3 Application in the Current Study	48
Validity	49
Positionality and Reflexivity	49
The Next Three Chapters	50
CHAPTER IV: "WATER IS LIFE": A PEN-3 ANALYSIS OF WATER QUALITY PERCEPTIONS AND PRACTICES AMONG AFRICAN REFUGEE WOMEN	52
Abstract	52
Introduction	53

Water Rich Yet Safe Water Poor	53
The Congo War: The Deadliest War in Modern African History	53
Journey to the U.S.: Exposure Continued	53
Resettlement in the U.S.	54
Methods	56
Research Setting	56
Study Design	57
Participant Recruitment and Sample	58
Data Collection and Procedures	58
Data Analysis	59
PEN-3 Model: Organization Tool	60
Findings	61
Pre-Resettlement Water Quality Perceptions	62
Water Quality Perceptions: "Drink The Tap Water, You Might Get Sick"	62
Pre-Resettlement Water Safety Practices	63
Medicating Tap Water: "You Will Taste the Medication [and] Smell It"	63
"In Burundi, We Are So Lucky with Water"	64
Post-Resettlement Water Quality Perceptions and Practices	65
Water Quality & Trust: "I Switched in My Head and Did Not Trust Water Anymore"	66
Water Quality Perceptions and Taste: "I Tasted That Tap Water The Taste is Not Good"	67
Water Quality & Sickness: "When He Drinks [the Tap Water] He Gets Sick"	67
"Can't We Put Medication in the Water to Destroy" Lead?	68
Pre-Resettlement Water Quality-Related Enablers	69
Health Professionals: "Medical Staff Saying Don't Drink the Water"	69
Neighborhood Vendors: "That Mummy or Her Children Will Fetch the Water You Pay"	70
DRC Education System: "Children See Where the Tap Water is Coming From"	70
Post-Resettlement Water Quality-Related Enablers	71
Education About U.S. Water Systems: "Water Flows from Where? I Don't Know"	71
Medical and WIC Staff: "There is a Doctor That Told Us That the Tap Water is Good"	72

Resettlement Agencies: "Our Case Worker Told Us That This Water is Dirty"	72
Pre- and Post-Resettlement Nurturers in Water Quality Perceptions and Safety Practices	73
Pre-Resettlement Nurturers: "If There is No Water, [My Husband] Did Not Like That"	73
Post-Resettlement Nurturers: "In Apartments, All the Africans, Everybody is Buying Water"	74
Convenience and Drinking Water Practices: "It is the One That is Nearest to Me That I Drink"	75
Discussion	76
Strengths and Limitations	82
Conclusion	82
CHAPTER V: "AFTER BIRTH YOU TAKE HOT WATER, AND PUT HERE": INTERROGATING WATER QUALITY AND PREGNANCY-POSTPARTUM PRACTICES AMONG AFRICAN REFUGEES	84
Abstract	84
Introduction	84
Methods	86
Approach	86
Recruitment and Data Collection	87
Data Analysis	89
Adapting the PEN-3 Cultural Model	90
Findings	91
Positive Water-Related Practices to Prevent Diseases and Promote Health	91
The Existential Use of Holy Water	93
Negative Water Practices during Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages: "Lavement" (Enema or Anal Douching)	94
Enablers in Water-Related Practices during Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages	95
Nurturers in Water-Related Practices During Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages	96
Discussion	98
Water Practices During Pregnancy	98
Postpartum Water Practices	99
Strengths and Limitations	101
Conclusion	102

CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION	103
Study Purpose and Key Findings	103
Research Significance	104
Informing PEN-3 Model	107
Future Research	
REFERENCES	109
APPENDIX A: STUDY INFORMATION SHEET (ENGLISH)	148
APPENDIX B: INFORMATION SHEET (FRENCH)	150
APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHICS FORM	152
APPENDIX D: INTERVIEW GUIDE	155
APPENDIX E: EXCERPT FROM DATA REDUCTION PHASE	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Participant Demographics	. 38
Table 2. Research Questions, Methods, Analysis & Results Summary	. 50
Table 3. Participant Demographics	. 61
Table 4. Participant Demographics	. 88

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Refugee Migration and Planned Assistance	21
Figure 2.	The Water Treatment Process	24
Figure 3.	Sort and Sift Initial Learning Phase	42
Figure 4.	The PEN-3 Cultural Model (Iwelunmor et al., 2014)	45
Figure 5.	The PEN-3 Cultural Model (Iwelunmor et al., 2014)	60
Figure 6.	The PEN-3 Cultural Model (Iwelunmor et al., 2014)	90
Figure 7.	Water-Related Pregnancy and Postpartum Practices Among African Refugee Women	91

CHAPTER I: INTRODUCTION

Perceptions and Attitudes

Both in and out of the country, many presume that those residing in the United States have universal access to safe drinking water (Ritchie et al., 2018). In fact, the Centers for Disease Control asserts that "the United States is fortunate to have one of the safest public drinking water systems" (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021b). Yet, despite the general presumption that access to safe water is universal, many mistrust tap water in the United States.

Past studies have found significant relationships between the perception of water quality and characteristics such as racial-ethnic minority status, age, education level, and household income (Flynn et al., 1994; Pierce et al., 2019a). Interestingly, some of these studies have indicated that country of origin is the most important factor informing mistrust of water quality, notably in Latin-American nations (de França Doria, 2010; Hobson et al., 2007; Javidi & Pierce, 2018; Pierce & Gonzalez, 2017; Pierce & Lai, 2019; Rosinger et al., 2018).

Most U.S.-based studies focusing on immigrants' water quality perceptions and water usage have focused on Hispanic groups (Colburn & Kavouras, 2021; Park et al., 2019). The findings that Spanish-speaking Latino immigrant households are less likely to drink tap water than English speakers hint at the hypothesis that some immigrant groups may also perceive their water in the U.S. as unsafe (Hobson et al., 2007). However, there is very little research on non-Hispanic immigrant communities and their perception of their water quality. Therefore, this hypothesis may warrant further attention.

Tap water mistrust contributes to adverse welfare and health impacts. Individuals' perception of their tap water as unsafe often discourages tap water intake, leading to higher consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages (Onufrak et al., 2014). Over time, higher

consumption of sugar-sweetened beverages contributes to obesity, poorer oral health, and other negative health consequences (Ogden et al., 2012). In addition, households that mistrust their tap water also bear significant economic costs. Literature suggests that a lack of knowledge about water quality results, previous experience with compromised local water systems, water odor, sociocultural beliefs about tap water, and the time spent in the country of origin all contribute to mistrust of water quality (Anadu & Harding, 2000; Gorelick et al., 2011; Onufrak et al., 2014; Pierce et al., 2019b).

Statement of the Problem

Recent national estimates suggest that households who mistrust their drinking water spend over 9% of their income on bottled water and other water replacement efforts (Javidi & Pierce, 2018). Unfortunately, low-income households and immigrant families bear the brunt of this cost. Most of these studies on immigrants' knowledge, perception, and usage of water have predominantly focused on Hispanic groups. There is very little research on non-Hispanic immigrant communities and their perception of their water quality. African immigrants and refugees, for example, represent one of the fastest-growing immigrant populations in the U.S. Refugees are a subset of immigrants "who [have] been forced to flee their home because of war, violence or persecution, often without warning. They are unable to return home unless and until conditions in their native lands are safe for them again" (International Rescue Committee, 2022, "Who is a refugee," para. 2). If admitted into the United States as refugees, they do not choose where to live. Refugee families are sometimes placed in low-income neighborhoods and have a disproportionately higher risk of exposure to tap water contamination (Allaire et al., 2018; Balazs & Ray, 2014; Stillo & Gibson, 2017). Yet little is known about refugee groups on their water quality perceptions and water-related practices in the United States. There is, therefore, a

critical need to identify African refugee perceptions and practices around water quality and use prior to educational interventions.

Purpose of the Study

This qualitative study, therefore, sought to provide an in-depth understanding of local African refugee women's tap water quality perceptions and water-related practices across the lifespan, with a focus on the pregnancy and postpartum stages (the postpartum stage refers to the first six weeks after birth for the mother (World Health Organization, 2022c). Low-income refugee groups are at increased risk of exposure to water contaminants, including high lead levels, as a result of exposure prior to arrival in the U.S. Unfortunately, this exposure to lead and other contaminants is more likely to continue even after resettlement in the country. There is growing literature on perceptions and practices around water quality among foreign-born groups, but it specifically focuses on Hispanic groups. There is, however, a dearth of information on the knowledge, attitudes, perceptions, and practices among refugee groups in the U.S. How do African refugees perceive their tap water? What practices do they engage in to ensure good water quality? What role does water play during pregnancy and postpartum stages? Gaining a rich, deep understanding of what African refugees know about water quality processes, how they perceive their water, and what water-related practices they engage in are crucial to developing culturally relevant public health education interventions to limit exposure to water contaminants and promote positive pregnancy experiences.

Research Questions

Thus, my research questions build on a pilot qualitative study and the current gap in public health education literature. The purpose of this chapter, therefore, was to provide a

background to the problem and present the following research questions that will guide inquiry into the problem.

RQ 1: How do African refugee women generally *perceive* tap water quality? In the U.S.?

- a. What do African refugee women know about tap water contaminants (e.g., lead exposure)?
- b. What role do enablers (cultural traditions, social and health systems) play in African refugee women's tap water quality perceptions and their knowledge of water contamination issues?
- c. How do nurturers (i.e., family, peers, neighbors, kinfolk) shape refugees' knowledge and perceptions of tap water quality issues?

RQ 2: What water safety practices do African refugee women engage in?

- a. How do these water safety practices compare to or differ from those they adopted prior to resettling in the U.S.?
- b. How are enablers and nurturers involved in maintaining water safety practices?

RQ 3: What water-related practices do African refugee women engage in to ensure positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences?

- a. Are there unique water-related practices that occur during pregnancy and postpartum stages?
- b. How do they carry out these water-related practices for pregnancy when in the U.S.?

CHAPTER II: REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

Contaminants in Tap Water: A Focus on Lead Exposure

In 1914, the US Public Health Services set drinking water quality standards for water systems providing water to interstate water system transporters (Baum et al., 2015). By 1962, the Service was monitoring up to 28 contaminants. Most states then adopted these standards, although there was no federal-level legislation around water quality. However, as water testing became more frequent, water system deficiencies and water contamination became increasingly evident. As a result, water quality issues and environmental concerns emerged before Congress, resulting in the passage of the Safe Drink Water Act (SDWA) in 1974 (US EPA, 2022b). The SDWA and its amendments now set legal limits (also called maximum contaminant levels (MCLs) for over 90 contaminants (US EPA, 2022a). The SDWA allows states to set their own drinking water limits if they are at least as stringent as SDWA's standards. The Act mandates public water systems to regularly monitor contaminants in water at the source, treatment center, and distribution system.

Yet, access to potable water remains a critical public health issue in the United States. In 2015 alone, over 20 million people relied on community water systems that violated the United States Environmental Protection Agency's (US-EPA) water quality standards (Allaire et al., 2018). The historic widespread use of lead pipes and fixtures, for example, has resulted in water contamination. The US EPA has set the maximum contaminant level for lead in drinking water at zero because of its acute toxicity, even at small concentrations. Yet between 2018 and 2020, more than half of the U.S. population was served by water systems that detected some level of lead in the drinking water (Fedinick, 2021).

There is no amount of lead exposure that is known to be safe (World Health

Organization, 2022a). Lead is an especially toxic metal that induces negative effects in pregnant women, fetuses, and children. Unfortunately, lead in residential drinking water remains an overlooked source of exposure in the literature (Renner, 2010). Lead-contaminated water often results from corroded lead in household plumbing, galvanized piping or lead solder, and brass fittings, and rarely from the soil or industrial sites (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022c). Given the toxicity of lead, the 1986 Safe Drinking Water Act prohibited the use of lead pipes, flux, and solder in public water systems in the U.S. (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2017). Current research suggests that lead in water may be a more significant source of exposure than previously understood (World Health Organization, 2022a). In an American Journal of Public Health article, Hanna-Attisha and her colleagues reemphasize that water is indeed a growing source of lead exposure in the United States due to aging water infrastructure (2016). Consumption of lead via drinking water is notably more dangerous because lead is more bioavailable (more easily absorbed in the body) in water than it is in food.

Lead Exposure by Socioeconomic and Refugee Status

The exposure to and effects of lead exposure are unevenly distributed across various social and economic classes. Country of birth is a significant predictor of blood lead levels among immigrants such as refugees. Some studies have concluded that refugee status should be considered a risk factor for lead poisoning. Geltman et al. (2001) reveal that:

Children who are at particular risk are those from developing countries where environmental exposures are more ubiquitous. In addition, a significant percentage of refugees acquired elevated levels after arrival, thus suggesting the importance of followup testing of refugee children. (p. 158). Out of seven factors, including birthplace, age, gender, pre-existing conditions such as anemia, and intestinal parasitosis, the country of birth was found to be the strongest predictor of elevated blood lead level (Geltman et al., 2001). Refugee families, for example, have no choice in where they are housed upon arrival in the U.S. Resettlement agencies decide where they live when they first arrive. As a result, refugee families are usually placed in low-income neighborhoods, known to have disproportionately higher levels of lead toxicity in water (Allaire et al., 2018; Balazs & Ray, 2014; Stillo & Gibson, 2017). The reality that this exposure continues post-resettlement in the U.S. is of concern.

Post-resettlement refugee status, therefore, continues to be a compounding factor in the context of lead exposure. Notably, refugee status may be a risk factor for lead poisoning. This is because mothers and children from countries with a higher prevalence of environmental exposures, such as lead, may have had pre-existing lead exposure (Geltman et al., 2001). And even after arrival, resettled refugees may continue to be exposed to lead. And women of childbearing age who have lived 0-4 years in the US have an average of 54% (95% CI 36% to 75%) higher blood lead level when compared to women who were born in the U.S. (Horton et al., 2019). Yet we know little about what refugee women living in the U.S. know about environmental health hazards, especially lead exposure (E. O. Adebamowo et al., 2006; Haman et al., 2015).

African Refugees & Lead Exposure

It is important to note here women in the sub-Saharan African (SSA) setting are less aware of lead exposure hazards (E. O. Adebamowo et al., 2006; Bede-Ojimadu et al., 2018; Haman et al., 2015). Low-income African refugee women, now residing in the U.S., often lived in neighborhoods that may have had a high environmental lead burden, with little to no

regulation on lead in consumer products. Unfortunately, few studies have investigated their knowledge levels and awareness around lead hazards in tap water after resettlement in the U.S. Past research has focused on minority Hispanic communities (Colburn & Kavouras, 2021; Park et al., 2019). However, African refugees constitute socially and culturally distinct minority communities. Yet little is known about African refugee communities' attitude towards their tap water in the U.S. Thus, this is where the discipline of Public Health Education can contribute immensely. These are women and their families arriving and resettling in the U.S. with minimal knowledge of possible exposure to lead through a vital resource such as tap water.

Lead Exposure and Perinatal Health Effects

The possible ongoing exposure to lead upon arrival in the U.S. is of acute concern for various reasons. First, no amount of lead is known to be safe. Even exposure to supposedly low levels of lead has been associated with negative maternal-child health outcomes. Second, the way lead is stored in the body makes pregnant women, fetuses, lactating mothers, nursing infants, and children notoriously vulnerable (Craft-Blacksheare, 2017; Ferguson et al., 2013). This is because an adult's body excretes about 99% of the lead that enters the body within a few weeks of introduction into the body. However, a child's body only gets rid of about 32% of any amount of lead that enters the body (Agency for Toxic Substances & Disease Registry, 2020). Approximately 73% of the lead that remains in the child's body is stored in the child's bones.

Third, conditions such as pregnancy and lactation often promote de-mineralization. This process may then lead to intensified lead mobilization from the maternal bone (Craft-Blacksheare, 2017). There is a strong correlation between lead levels in the umbilical cord and maternal lead levels simply because lead can readily enter the placenta (Ettinger et al., 2010; Mahdi et al., 2022). Hence lead has been spotted in the fetal brain as early as the end of the first

trimester. As such, the nervous systems of developing fetuses and children are most vulnerable to the nefarious impact of lead (American College of Obstetricians & Gynecologists (ACOG), 2019).

Exposure to lead has been associated with higher rates of preterm birth (Cheng et al., 2017; Dave & Yang, 2020). Preterm birth is defined as a birth that occurs before 37 weeks of gestation (World Health Organization, 2022b). Adverse effects of lead exposure, such as preterm birth and low birth weight, are disproportionately concentrated among women of lower socioeconomic standing (Dave & Yang, 2020). Exposure to lead has been associated with higher rates of preterm birth (Cheng et al., 2017; Dave & Yang, 2020). Various studies have shown that blood lead levels \geq 5 ppb significantly increase the risk of preterm delivery with an adjusted odds ratio of 2.00 [95% CI] 1.35–3.00 (Taylor et al., 2015). However, no level of lead is safe because adverse health outcomes have been observed even when blood lead levels are below 5 ppb (WHO, 2019). Geospatial analysis has been applied in previous research to determine lead exposure and prioritize mitigation responses (Hanna-Attisha et al., 2016). Here, geospatial analysis refers to the process of using Geographic Information Systems to identify geographic locations that have been disproportionately exposed to contaminants like lead or that have indicated a trend of high blood lead levels in residents living in the select locations. Spatial analysis focusing on lead and birth outcomes at the neighborhood level is sparse. Spatial analysis studies on lead exposure focus on blood lead levels, with little attention to lead in residential water or even birth outcomes (Hanna-Attisha et al., 2016).

The few studies focused on refugees and preterm birth have revealed greater odds of preterm birth among refugee groups who have settled in industrialized nations like the United States. Wanigaratne et al. (2016), for example, found that refugees also have up to 17% greater

cumulative odds of preterm birth than non-refugees. The length of residence in the host country is associated with increased preterm birth (Urquia et al., 2010). Greater proportions of refugees who have lived longer in the industrialized nation experience higher preterm rates over time. Indeed, this issue of higher preterm births and low birth weight has been linked to contaminants such as lead in tap water.

Water-Related Practices and Beliefs in Sub-Saharan Africa

Despite the potential presence of contaminants in water, water is a critical component of cultural care across the life course, specifically during pregnancy and postpartum stages. African refugees' knowledge and perceptions about water inform water-related practices. In addition, historical experiences and cultural beliefs in the country of origin influence these water-related practices.

During Pregnancy

Current literature, although sparse, reveals water-related practices that African women adopt during pregnancy. For example, in the West African country of GuineaKankeliba tea is one of the most common drinks (Lang-Balde, 2019). Kinkeliba tea is a tisane made from leaves and branches from the Combretum micranthum tree, steeped in hot water. The women believe that the tea provides some necessary nutrients for a healthy pregnancy, addresses common pregnancy ailments, and "keeps the baby clean" in utero. Birth attendants provide this tea at home, while midwives make the tea in the hospital for women during the prenatal stage. In addition, during prenatal visits, health workers often recommend this tea to women. Tea consumption during pregnancy has also been reported among women from the Democratic Republic of Congo (Burns et al., 2016; Maykondo et al., 2022). Other water-based traditional medicines are often in teas steeped with barks, stems, and leaves of locally available trees.

Recommendations, however, around the timing and dosage of herbal teas and water-based concoctions are debated.

There is also widespread use of "holy water" in Nigeria and other African countries (Okafor, 2000). In part because of the deterioration of medical services, prayer houses scattered throughout the country provide 'holy water.' This 'holy water' is then used for preventive or treatment purposes during pregnancy. Edema in pregnancy, threatened miscarriage, high fever, or indigestion during pregnancy are all examples of issues that individuals may use holy water to address (Okafor, 2000). The individual either applies the water to the affected area of the body or simply drinks it.

During Labor

Another common water-related practice during pregnancy is the use of hot water concoctions that are meant to introduce oxytocin into the woman's body (Lang-Baldé, 2019). For example, some African tribes boil lemon leaves to give to the woman. The belief is that drinking lemon leaves steeped in hot water is similar to oxytocin and acts as a stimulant to induce stronger contractions during labor, expel the placenta or retract the uterus postpartum (Lang-Baldé, 2019). This is a common practice among home birth attendants who use lemon leaves-water mixture as oxytocin to speed up contraction and labor.

During Postpartum Stages

Some women drink warm water after pregnancy to help with energy and to help cleanse the mouth and the stomach from what is believed to be dirt following childbirth. Drinking a local drink prepared with hot water and millet ("zoomkom") or a local drink prepared with fruits ("tuozaafi") is common in a place like Northern Ghana (Adatara et al., 2019). These water-based drinks are believed to strengthen women and help with breast milk production. Unfortunately,

water-related restrictions post-pregnancy also occur in some African households. Although the physician may advise the mother to drink a lot of water, family members may sometimes counsel the mother to avoid drinking water to avoid "scars" or other negative consequences (Adatara et al., 2019). Such misinformation can be dangerous to the postpartum recovery and health of the mother.

Situating the Issue Within the Social Determinants of Refugee Health Framework

These issues of mistrust of tap water, exposure to contaminated water, and prevalence of poor perinatal health outcomes are steeped in a Social Determinants of Refugee Health framework. Social determinants of health (SDOH) are the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work, age, and the systems put in place to deal with illness (World Health Organization, 2013). Public health education practitioners have come to recognize the importance of considering the institutional and social factors that shape an individual's life and how these contexts influence our well-being. These determinants of health are multifaceted and include living and working conditions, environmental and cultural contexts, community and social influences, as well as general socioeconomic contexts (Davies et al., 2009). All these characteristics uniquely impact displaced persons or forced migrants. Forced migration can, in turn, amplify the impact of these factors on refugees' health. Hence, determinants of health that uniquely impact the health and well-being of refugee groups are encapsulated in the phrase 'social determinants of refugee health.'

Group Heterogeneity

Although often aggregated into one group, refugees are a heterogenous group (Gieles et al., 2019; Hyman, 2004). Refugees are unique for various reasons, ranging from their country of origin to their cultural traditions, their linguistic distinctiveness, and their socioeconomic status.

From a public health education perspective, it is worth noting that the African refugee population is diverse linguistically. Close to 63% speak a language other than English at home (Pew Research Center, 2017). Common languages are Swahili, Arabic, Amharic, and other languages of Central, Eastern, and Southern Africa (US Census Bureau, 2021). This is important because health education interventions may be inaccessible and incomprehensible if the materials are only written in English. Consequently, a proportion of the African population is excluded from public health education efforts due to a language barrier.

Even at the sub-group level, different refugee groups receive different levels of attention in the literature. Most studies that look at water quality among African-born groups are concentrated in sub-Saharan Africa or refugee camps (Cronin et al., 2008; Mutono et al., 2021; Thomas et al., 2020). African refugees are one of the least studied immigrant groups when considering housing or residential water quality issues (Ziersch & Due, 2018). For example, although African-born residents represent one of the fastest-growing foreign-born populations in the U.S., few studies consider African refugees' living and drinking water quality (Javidi & Pierce, 2018; Pierce & Gonzalez, 2017).

Environmental Determinants of Refugee Health

The environment is an important social determinant of health, specifically considering factors associated with drinking water quality and perinatal health outcomes among refugee groups. Although there is, unfortunately, limited data on contaminant exposure in water in refugee-dense neighborhoods, there is information on other sources of pollution, notably air pollution among the broader immigrant population in the U.S. These same groups are also more likely to be in neighborhoods where the water is contaminated at levels that pose a threat to their health. Unfortunately, these trends in uneven exposure to contaminants are also pervasive on a

global scale in the global South. Low-income refugees who may have been disproportionately exposed to hazardous substances in their home countries have a higher chance of still being exposed to contaminants in their drinking water upon arrival in the U.S. In fact, some studies have found that U.S. counties with a higher percentage of immigrant communities and non-English speaking households have a higher number of proposed Superfund sites (sites contaminated with hazardous substances) and a greater number of sources of hazardous waste (T. W. Collins et al., 2015; Hunter, 2000; Liévanos, 2015).

Several studies reiterate the disturbing trend that members of ethnic and racial minorities are at an increased risk of unsafe drinking water (Bede-Ojimadu et al., 2018; Caron-Beaudoin et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2017; Cleveland et al., 2008; Silva et al., 2018; Stillo & Gibson, 2017). They focus on factors such as class, race, and ethnicity (not explicitly refugee status) as they pertain to principles of environmental justice and drinking water quality. Although they do not explicitly consider refugee status as a factor in drinking water quality and justice, they do provide insight into the complex relationship between determinants of health and the environmental justice framework.

A recent study, for example, matched demographic and economic data with 2010–2013 Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) compliance records in U.S. local government water utilities (Switzer & Teodoro, 2018). The regression analyses found that the ethnic and racial composition of a community predicts its drinking water quality. Socioeconomic status, a social determinant of health, influences this relationship. More specifically, Black and Hispanic subgroups are the most impacted. Furthermore, this interaction of SES is larger in Hispanic-dominant communities than in Black neighborhoods. Hence, not only is race-ethnicity (Black/Hispanic) an important

aspect of unequal environmental exposure, but the concept that this is most pronounced among the poorest of the poor is of significance from an environmental justice lens.

Environmental Justice: Racial Segregation, Water Quality, and Health Outcomes

Throughout the late 19th and early 20th centuries, cities in the United States invested in water and sanitation infrastructure (Beach et al., 2022). However, segregation allowed city planners to exclude predominately Black neighborhoods to lower the costs of providing improved water systems. Many of these historically segregated Black neighborhoods are still predominately Black. Although the Civil Rights Act of 1964 allegedly banned segregation law, these neighborhoods continue to bear the consequences of poorer water systems (Heblich et al., 2021). Even when water systems might be contaminant-free, recontamination may occur at the household level. Water that may be free from contaminants at the treatment center may become re-contaminated as it travels through aging or deficient plumbing systems within the home (Harvey et al., 2016). Consequently, water that may have otherwise been pollutant-free could become contaminated with lead by the time it flows out of the tap in the home. This is especially true in older homes that were built before the 1970s.

Some scholars suggest that historical segregation and ongoing systemic racism remain key drivers of deficient water systems and related poor perinatal health outcomes among Black communities (including low-income African refugees) in the U.S. Many studies have provided evidence that lifespan exposure to ongoing systemic racism in the U.S. significantly drives the inequalities we see in these maternal-child outcomes (Alhusen et al., 2016; Bassett et al., 2020; Burris & Hacker, 2017; Parchem et al., 2021).

Yet little attention has been given to lead exposure in drinking water, especially at the household level. This knowledge gap is especially critical because the impact of lead is

irreversible (O'Connor et al., 2020). Without addressing this knowledge gap, overlooked exposure to lead will likely continue contributing to higher rates of preterm birth among refugee groups. In addition, the Healthy People 2030 goal of reducing exposure to heavy metals and minimizing the incidence of preterm birth in the population may remain unachieved (Healthy People, 2030a, 2030b).

Research Gap

Indeed, researchers have come to acknowledge that social, cultural, and economic factors converge in complex interactions, influencing the range of responses to environmental exposures (Payne-Sturges & Gee, 2006). These socio-cultural and economic influences must be studied and addressed to tackle environmental injustice. Unfortunately, most of the studies on this topic have been skewed in topical and population focus. Past research has emphasized air contamination and pollutants rather than water contamination. Past studies have also centered on Hispanic immigrants or African Americans (Chakraborty et al., 2014; Grineski et al., 2015). There is, therefore, little to no data on exposure to water contaminants and African refugee communities.

We are unaware of African refugees' knowledge of these contaminants in water. Neither do we have a comprehensive understanding of how they perceive their drinking water quality or what they may do to address any water quality concerns, especially during the critical stages of pregnancy and postpartum. Relatedly, most studies have adopted an exclusively quantitative design; few studies have explored this topic with a qualitative design. Hence, my research interest focuses on filling these gaps.

CHAPTER III: METHODOLOGY

Purpose of Study

This qualitative study seeks to provide an in-depth understanding of local African refugee women's knowledge, attitudes, perceptions, and practices around water quality across the lifespan, with a focus on pregnancy and postpartum stages. Low-income refugee groups are at increased risk of high blood lead levels as a result of exposure to contaminated water prior to arrival in the U.S. Unfortunately, this exposure to lead and other contaminants in the water is more likely to continue even after resettlement in the country. There is some limited literature on perceptions and practices around water quality among foreign-born groups, specifically Hispanic groups. There is, however, a dearth of information on the perceptions and practices among refugee groups in the U.S. How do African refugees perceive their tap water? What practices do they engage in to ensure good water quality and to ensure a positive pregnancy experience? Gaining a rich, deep understanding of what African refugees know about water quality processes, how they perceive their water, and what water-related practices they engage in are crucial to developing public health interventions. Such evidence-based interventions would promote positive pregnancy outcomes by addressing knowledge gaps and maximizing positive practices while minimizing exposure to water contaminants.

Global to Local Refugee Contexts

The United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees (UNHCR) estimates that the rate at which people flee war has dramatically increased from 6 people per minute in 2005 to about 25 people per minute in 2018 (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2019). A refugee is "someone who has been forced to flee his or her country because of persecution, war or violence" (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2023). Hence, a refugee has

legitimate reasons to fear persecution and is often afraid to return home or unable to do so. The 1951 Geneva Convention is the primary international policy document defining refugee status. The Convention explicitly describes who can be named a refugee and the legal protection and assistance a refugee should receive in countries that signed the document.

As of 2022, there are over 100 million forcibly displaced people around the world. That is like displacing the entire population of California (population: 39,613,493), Texas (population: 29,730,311), Florida (population: 21,944,577), and New York (population: 19,299,981) at the same time (United States Census Bureau, 2023). In the U.S. alone, over 3 million refugees have been admitted since 1975, and 400,000 individuals of this group were admitted between 2012 and 2017. About one fourth of these 400,000 were admitted exclusively from Africa (U.S. Department of State, 2021). In 2016, the highest number of refugees was from the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) (Krogstad & Radford, 2017). These numbers highlight the fact that there is a significant number of refugees, notably from the DRC, in the U.S. About half of the refugee population are women, many of whom are between the ages of 18 and 49 during their reproductive age range.

The Conflict in the Democratic Republic of Congo

The Democratic Republic of Congo is among the five poorest nations in the world (World Bank, 2022). Yet the country has one of the largest reserves of resource wealth - estimated to be worth more than \$24 trillion of untapped mineral resources (European Union's Generalized Scheme of Preferences, 2020). For example, DRC is home to significant gold, diamonds, copper, zinc, and cobalt reserves. In addition, the nation is a major supplier of coltan, used in phones and electronic gadgets. Unfortunately, this expansive wealth has also fueled ongoing conflict in the nation. The conflict, which has lasted over two decades, is said to have

begun in 1994 (Congressional Research Service, 2022). This was when genocide broke out in neighboring Rwanda, and genocidaires fled to eastern DRC to form armed groups. Eventually, other rebel groups also formed. In 1996, Rwanda invaded what is now known as DRC to exterminate rebel groups that had fled there. This marked the First Congo War, involving neighboring Uganda, Zambia, and Angola. The First Congo War came to a gradual end in 1997.

Soon after, the Second Congo War erupted when ethnic Tutsi minority rebel groups formed in eastern DRC instigated a rebellion (Reyntjens, 2009). Again, this second war involved neighboring nations, including Rwanda, Namibia, Angola, and other armed groups. After about 5 years, this Second Congo War slowed down as peace was achieved in 2003. Nonetheless, ethnic violence and occasional in-country conflict continue. The conflict in DRC has now become more localized, with sporadic eruptions of violence across several parts of the country. This makes the conflict in DRC more challenging. Recently in 2021, there has been an uptick in attacks against civilians, such as killings, sexual exploitation, abuse, rape, and other gender-based violence acts (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2021). Sadly, even in parts of the country where there is peace, the devastating ripple effect of conflict is acutely evident (UNICEF, n.d.). Loss of livelihood, extreme poverty, lack of access to safe water, and food insecurity are rampant.

The Water Situation in the DRC

The DRC holds more than half of Africa's water reserves (UNICEF, n.d.). Yet there remains a stark picture of ongoing water service shortfalls in rural places and among the poorest, as well as an endemic lack of safe water. An urban-rural water quality gap indicates that about one in five people (19%) in urban areas lack access to improved water, and almost 70% in rural areas (World Bank Group, 2017). Unfortunately, even in light of this concept of "improved

water," water quality remains a major issue across both urban and rural zones. Democratic Republic of Congo WASH Poverty Diagnostic Survey results show that contamination is widespread, even in urban households that have piped water. In rural water, contamination is virtually universal. Therefore, refugees fleeing the DRC are often exiting a water-precarious situation.

Congolese Refugees: The Journey to the USA

The U.N. approximates that there are 4.5 million internally displaced persons (IDPs) in the DRC (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2022a). These are individuals who have fled their homes to find safety but have not crossed an international border. IDPs stay within their country's borders. In 2020 alone, an estimated 1.5 million new conflict-related IDPs were dislodged. In addition to IDPs, there are more than 800,000 DRC refugees who fled across international borders for safety and now live in other countries (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2023). The majority of Congolese refugees who are able to flee across international borders live in the seven neighboring countries: Tanzania, Burundi, Rwanda, Angola, Uganda, the Republic of Congo, and Zambia (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2021). See Figure 1.

Figure 1. Refugee Migration and Planned Assistance (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2021)



Only strong candidates (less than 1% of the global refugee caseload) are selected for resettlement (A. Pope, 2015). Those selected to resettle in the U.S. must undergo at least 12 screening checks (Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service, 2021; Pope, 2015). This vetting process involves the United Nations, the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI), the Department of Justice, the Department of Defense, the Department of Homeland Security, the U.S. Citizenship & Immigration Services, the Department of State, and various other U.S. agencies. The vetting process includes a minimum of three fingerprint verifications, three background

checks, several medical exams, multiple in-person interviews with specialized Department of Homeland Security and State Department officials, and final security checks at the airport.

In fiscal years 2018 and 2020, the most refugees were admitted from DRC. In 2020, The United States admitted 2,868 Congolese refugees (U.S. Department of State, 2021). As of September 2022, the U.S. has welcomed over 25,000 refugees (U.S. Department of State Bureau of Population, 2022). The highest proportion of these refugees is from the Central African region. Congolese families tend to be large, with up to 14 individuals in a household. Thirty-five percent of the principal applicants in the caseload are married. While 48% are single and 12% are widowed. The remaining 5% are in common-law marriages, divorced, separated, or of unknown marital status. Single mothers make up about two fifths of the entire Congolese caseload.

The Local Context: The Piedmont Triad and Greensboro

Upon arrival in the United States, refugees do not choose where they are resettled. The U.S. State Department contracts with local refugee resettlement agencies to prepare for and welcome newly arrived refugees to the United States. This specific initiative is called the Reception and Placement Program. Through funding from the program, resettlement agency case workers secure and prepare furnished housing, provide navigation support, offer cultural orientation, and some basic needs assistance. This program is limited to the refugees' first 90 days in the U.S.

North Carolina is one of the top ten States that receives and resettles refugees (Baugh, 2022a). When refugees, including Congolese refugees, arrive at the airport in the U.S., a refugee resettlement agency staff welcomes them and brings them to a home or apartment that has been prepared for them in advance. This preparation may include a stocked pantry, modest furniture,

and basic amenities. In North Carolina, we have over 20 organizations participating in the North Carolina Refugee Assistance Program. In Guilford County, North Carolina, sponsoring organizations like the North Carolina African Services Coalition and Church World Services are responsible for welcoming them and providing for their needs during the first eight months of arrival. This includes providing housing and some limited home necessities. During this period, case managers help new refugee arrivals to navigate their new community environment. Adults are often enrolled in English classes, while children are placed in schools. Case managers also support refugees in learning financial literacy and helping them find a job as the refugees work towards self-sufficiency. After eight months, all refugees are expected to be self-sufficient and pay for their rent and living expenses.

Unfortunately, many of the apartments in which refugees are resettled are of poor quality. Locally, for example, the Summit-Cone apartment complex on the northeast side of the city of Greensboro was a common residence placement for resettled Congolese refugees. This apartment complex, described as a "42-unit apartment complex riddled with deep potholes and broken glass" was unveiled to be too hazardous to occupy in August 2018 (Bueter, 2018; Ford, 2018). City code compliance inspectors discovered over 466 violations; they found at least five violations in each apartment. Major violations include leaking sewer lines and dysfunctional faucets. Residents also shared horror stories of bad water sanitation experiences in these apartments, noting, for example, that "sometimes the worms were coming from the basement because the basement was full of sewage" (Ford, 2018). A refugee resident and community leader concluded that "It's like the landlord is killing you little by little". Yet these were conditions in which Congolese refugee families were placed. This case illustrates why studying residential water quality issues in refugee households is critical.

Specifically, in Greensboro, NC, the water treatment process begins at Lake Brandt and Lake Townsend (City of Greensboro, n.d.). Lake Higgins is a backup reservoir in the event of a draught. Water from Lake Townsend is treated at the Townsend Water Plant, while water from Lake Brandt is treated at the Mitchell Water Plant. The water treatment process includes pretreatment of raw water, coagulation/flocculation (process to remove suspended solids in the water), sedimentation, filtration, stabilization, fluoridation, and chloramination (adding chloramine to drinking water to disinfect it; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2020; Greenwood, 2022). Please see Figure 2 for a pictorial depiction of this process. After the final addition of elements such as Fluoride and corrosion inhibitors, water is stored in storage tanks and released into the pipes that lead to customers. Unfortunately, even after undergoing this rigorous treatment process, water may get re-contaminated as it travels through aging pipes, especially in homes built before the 1970s.

Figure 2. The Water Treatment Process (City of Greensboro, n.d.)



The City of Greensboro recently called to identify lead water service lines on private property to address home contamination. This program, titled the Water Resources Department's Lead and Copper Compliance program, involves residents and business owners who use Greensboro water. Residents must follow directions to test their water line material and report their findings online. This program is solely in English and is generic without adaptations for African refugee groups (*Lead & Copper Program Survey*, 2023).

Unfortunately, refugee households are routinely placed in low-income housing. A community engagement associate working for the Greensboro Housing Coalition noted that "most of these apartment complexes that are cheap are in distressed communities. Communities that have been historically redlined and where a lot of crime happens" (NC Health News, 2021). In addition, individuals, including refugees living in low-resource neighborhoods, may be disproportionately susceptible to poor water quality and unmaintained faucets (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2021a). According to the CDC, the most common sources of lead in drinking water, for example, are lead faucets, pipes, and plumbing fixtures (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022b). Such exposure may increase the risk of exposure to lead and contaminated water. Yet refugee families may be unaware of the possibility of being exposed to contaminated tap water.

Pilot Study

In the summer of 2021, I received a UNCG Graduate Summer Research grant to conduct a qualitative pilot study to begin exploring this gap in the literature. The goals were to (a) engage low-income African refugee households in the tap water lead testing process and (b) qualitatively assess participants' knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) about tap water and lead. Past research has focused on minority Hispanic communities (Colburn & Kavouras, 2021; Park et al., 2019). However, African refugees constitute socially and culturally distinct minority communities. Yet little is known about African refugee communities' attitude towards their tap water in the U.S. During the pilot study, I used a "citizen science" approach to engage household members in tap water testing. Together, we performed a dipstick test designed to measure trace
amounts of lead and other key contaminants in tap water and discussed the results with members of each of the eight African refugee households that constituted the study sample. I then conducted semi-structured household interviews using a culturally-modified interview guide to gather their KAP (Odetola & Morrison, 2021). I also provided educational materials about lead exposure to help address the issue. Prior to this study, participants (adults in the household) deemed their tap water to be unsafe due to other contaminants. For example, one participant shared, "It's like there's salt in it [tap water]" and therefore used bottled water.

Participants in the pilot study also had limited knowledge of lead, its presence as a contaminant in tap water, its dangers, and its negative influence on pregnancy outcomes. This is important as refugees, including African refugees, are often resettled through federally funded Housing Voucher Programs that subsidize low-income housing (Gilbert et al., 2010). In 2016, about one fourth of all federally assisted housing units were built before 1978 and thus had a much higher chance of having lead piping in the homes (Center on Budget and Policy Priorities, 2019; Office of Lead Hazard Control and Healthy Homes, 2016). In fact, the American College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists (ACOG) recommends a risk assessment of lead exposure at the health professional's earliest contact with pregnant or lactating women (American College of Obstetricians & Gynecologists (ACOG), 2019). This is because exposure to lead has been linked to a variety of poor health outcomes, including preterm birth (Cheng et al., 2017; Dave & Yang, 2020). In addition to possible disproportionate exposure to lead, refugees also have up to 17% greater cumulative odds of preterm birth than non-refugees (Wanigaratne et al., 2016). Yet this recent pilot study revealed participants had limited knowledge about the possibility of having lead in water and the importance of testing their water for lead.

Interestingly though, household members described practices they adopted to ensure safe water and its use during pregnancy and post-pregnancy. For example, participants spoke about using water to make a potassium-rich salt solution that African mothers drink to aid postnatal recovery. This salt ("potash") is also known to induce uterine contractions and could be dangerous to health (Ajayi et al., 2016; Rabiu & Malami, 2019). Yet this practice may be unfamiliar to local health professionals working with African refugees in new settlement regions in the U.S. There is a growing body of literature on water-related endeavors such as the use of "holy water" and adoption of water restrictions or tribal rituals during pregnancy and postpartum stages (Aziato et al., 2016; Okafor, 2000; Otoo et al., 2015; Withers et al., 2018). However, no studies focused comprehensively on the role and usage of water during these life stages for African refugee women in the U.S. If maternal health professionals are unaware of these waterrelated practices, healthcare delivery may be missing some crucial contributors to water-quality related health outcomes in this minority sub-group (Zheng et al., 2021). Therefore, there is a critical need to identify African refugee women's knowledge, attitudes, perceptions, and practices around water quality, use, and consumption before educational interventions.

Research Questions

Thus, my research questions build on the pilot qualitative study and the current gap in the literature. The purpose of this chapter, therefore, is to discuss the study approach and methodology used to answer the following research questions:

RQ 1: How do African refugee women generally *perceive* tap water quality? In the U.S.?

a. What do African refugee women know about tap water contaminants (e.g., lead exposure)?

- b. What role do enablers (cultural traditions, social and health systems) play in African refugee women's tap water quality perceptions and their knowledge of water contamination issues?
- c. How do nurturers (i.e., family, peers, neighbors, kinfolk) shape refugees' knowledge and perceptions of tap water quality issues?

RQ 2: What water safety practices do African refugee women engage in?

- a. How do these water safety practices compare to or differ from those they adopted before resettling in the U.S.?
- b. How are enablers and nurturers involved in maintaining water safety practices?

RQ 3: What water-related practices do African refugee women use to ensure positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences?

- a. Are there unique water-related practices that occur during pregnancy and postpartum stages?
- b. How do they carry out these water-related practices for pregnancy when in the U.S.?

Research Design

Qualitative Methodology

This study was qualitative and exploratory. Researchers characterize qualitative methodology by the overarching study objectives rather than the various types of data that can be collected. For example, qualitative studies seek to answer "what" and "how" questions about a subject of study (Thorogood & Green, 2013). Hence, questions such as "How do African refugee women perceive their tap water quality?" would be well addressed through qualitative research. Qualitative methods are especially useful in addressing the topic of water quality and water use

among African Refugee women because knowledge is limited on the topic (Remler & van Ryzin, 2021). Therefore, qualitative methods would be best suited to develop models and theories around this population's attitude towards tap water quality and their water-related practices.

Qualitative research is also suitable in this study given that one of the study aims is to understand participants' water quality perceptions and behaviors, from the perspective of the study participants, their (Aliff et al., 2017; Bailey et al., 2020). Qualitative research is marked by a flexible perspective on research strategy and an emphasis on understanding (Thorogood & Green, 2013). A semi-structured interview guide (rather than a structured interview questionnaire or a rigid list of interview questions) presented a suitable tool to promote open dialogue during data collection.

Constructivist Research Paradigm

In this study, I adopt a constructivist research paradigm, as these are most appropriate for the questions I seek to answer. To strengthen my research endeavor, I must reflect on my epistemological and ontological assumptions (Ormston et al., 2013). The constructivist paradigm presumes a "relativist ontology ... a subjectivist epistemology ... and a naturalistic set of methodological procedures" (Denzin & Lincoln, 2008). Constructivist research approaches suggest that "reality is socially constructed" and therefore seek to understand human experience (Cohen et al., 2002; Mertens, 2019). The constructivist research reavily relies on the participant's description of the situation of interest (Creswell, 2017).

Relatedly, constructivists seldom begin with a theory; rather, they allow an inductive generation of a theory across the research process (Creswell, 2017). Hence, Obrist et al. (2003) oppose the adoption of a simplistic social constructivist perspective. Rather they recommend a constructivist perspective that views the individuals as agents within a structural, cultural, and

social setting. Constructivists analyze social discourse data captured through observations and interviews, among other activities. They seek to identify subjective meanings within social contexts and depend on the beliefs and perspectives of the research participants.

The constructivist researcher also admits the impact of their experiences and background on the study. Ormston et al., however, note that research stances and methods should simply be applied as guides, not rigid principles that the researcher is mandated to subscribe to (Ormston et al., 2013). Hence my research perspective is broadly social constructivist in nature; however, my focus is on water quality-related knowledge, attitudes, perceptions, and practices. Particularly, I seek to identify the underlying experiences around water quality during pregnancy and postpartum phases in African refugee families.

Ethnographic Immersion

This dissertation draws broadly on over 5 years of ethnographic immersion in the local refugee community in Greensboro, NC. Ethnography centralizes culture, allowing cultural information to be discovered (Monrouxe & Ajjawi, 2020). In addition, ethnographic research allows for the development of descriptive and explanatory theories around cultural practices and beliefs. Ethnography is one of the oldest approaches to qualitative research, originating in anthropology and dating back to the 19th century (Wall, 2015). Ethnography is a research approach that seeks to learn about a community and gain an in-depth understanding of its cultural and social context. Roper and Shapira (2000) note that "ethnography is a research process of learning about people by learning from them" (p. 1). More recently, ethnography has been used widely in public health and medicine (Andreassen et al., 2020; Long et al., 2008; C. Pope, 2005).

Ethnography blends fieldwork, participant observation, and the reliance on key cultural informants to learn from a select group or culture. The researcher initiates fieldwork by immersing themselves in the community. Participant observation consists of observation and participation in the people's daily lives(Fetterman, 1989), while key informants are an integral part of ethnographic research. They are cultural experts with unique perspectives and knowledge on the research topic. For example, in this study, a key informant was an African refugee woman who had experienced water quality and had carried a pregnancy to term both here in the U.S. and in her country of origin. Over the last 5 years and throughout the interview process, I used formal and informal interactions to create a detailed picture addressing the research questions.

Recent examples of ethnographic research in public health have focused on various topics, including pregnancy, water quality, and conflict displacement. Utilizing participant observations and in-depth interviews, Dr. Wang et al. (2022), for example, interacted with postpartum women, traditional midwives, mothers, mothers-in-law, and other older women to study the changes in traditional postpartum practices in the modern Chinese context. While in Nigeria, Amodu et al. also adopted an ethnographic approach focused on women in Nigeria (2021). The authors studied the intersectionality of women's reproductive health access Conflict-Affected Displaced Women in Nigeria. Still, with the adoption of ethnographic methods, Patterson considers a West Virginia Water Crisis. Indeed, ethnographic research has been and continues to be a venue for collecting culturally rich data. Driven by the context of their culture and society, ethnography seeks to provide a holistic perspective that encapsulates the breadth and depth of a specific group's beliefs, knowledge, and actions (Roper & Shapira, 2000). Although I am specifically considering water quality in the current study, the research questions are nested within the broader context of environmental health conditions.

My interest in the environmental aspect of maternal and child health (MCH) came through my ethnographic immersion, over the past 5 years, with local refugee and immigrant communities. This interest was piqued while conducting ethnographic fieldwork under the mentorship of Dr. Sharon Morrison. I engaged in cultural immersion, informal conversations, and participant observation to assess the lived experiences of Congolese refugee women who have resettled in Greensboro. Fieldwork was conducted during community events hosted by the Center for New North Carolinians (CNNC) at the University of North Carolina Greensboro (UNCG). "The CNNC promotes access and integration for immigrants and refugees in North Carolina by bridging newcomer populations with existing communities through direct service provision, research, and training" (Center for New North Carolinians, n.d.).

As a CNNC research fellow and volunteer, I spent time visiting with mothers in immigrant-refugee homes and attended UMOJA Group meetings and activities. UMOJA (the Swahili word for unity) is a support group that emerged out of monthly gatherings of Congolese and other African refugee women, faculty, and students from UNCG, North Carolina A&T State University, Guilford College, North Carolina State University, University of North Carolina-Chapel Hill, and American supporters. The main goal was for these African refugee women to have the support and structures they needed to be successful in the new country. Success here is defined in terms of what the women themselves defined as success (Harrison, 2017). During monthly meetings, women, mostly mothers, expressed a variety of viewpoints linked to being successful in America, including having safe housing, celebrating healthy and happy pregnancies, and instituting good child-rearing practices rooted in their cultures but also fitted to customary U.S. norms. Unfortunately, their reality starkly contrasted with what they defined as success.

During the fieldwork, I participated in community meetings with local community stakeholders and academic partners, volunteered at key relevant community center events, and visited the homes of some of these refugee women. At these home visits, I noticed housing deficiencies. I clearly recall the example of the home of a senior couple I visited in the Winter of 2018. I accompanied community liaisons to visit select families. In the case of this specific family, as we entered their home, we were slapped by acutely cold temperatures. It was about 30 degrees outside. Inside their living room, it was just as cold. Soon we got talking. The couple began explaining that they had had no heat for about 2 weeks. As we talked, I could not help but reflect on the negative health impact of long-term exposure to such cold temperatures. Other housing issues that arose as I spent time in the community included pervasive mold (a risk factor for childhood asthma and other health issues), faulty stairs (a major safety hazard), and unmaintained faucets (a source of water contamination). These field observations prompted me to explore how contextual factors may influence maternal and child health.

Preliminary Study

To delve deeper into the topic, I received a 2018 summer assistantship from the School of Health and Human Sciences at UNCG. With the assistantship, I hoped to understand further cultural and structural factors that have impacted their maternal experience in the refugee camps, and those that still affect their living experiences and health outcomes in the U.S. Unfortunately, in the Summer of 2018, a residential fire struck, claiming the lives of five Congolese refugee siblings, all under the age of 12 years old. The tragedy completely halted all previous plans. In addition, local and national news outlets covered the tragic event. Hence, respecting the need for the community to process this loss, I took a detour and conducted a media content analysis on this event that had devastated the parents and the local Congolese community.

During this media analysis and ongoing community engagement, living conditions and environmental factors emerged as broad areas of interest that warranted further attention. Household water sources arose as an area of concern as several residents in the vicinity of the fire complained about deficient piping systems (McLaughlin, 2018). Residents' observations demonstrated hazardous housing conditions, notably dangerous for young children and pregnant women. Similar issues have been highlighted in research by Stillo and Gibson (2017), Coley et al. (2013), and Miranda et al. (2012), confirming a need to focus on housing conditions, including residential water quality.

This purposive study builds on my foundational ethnographic engagements and my qualitative pilot study. Over the last 5 years, I have been fortunate to build relationships with key cultural brokers and community liaisons. Cultural brokers are individuals who negotiate two or more cultures with stakeholders in organizations that serve as change catalysts (Heifetz & Laurie, 2001; National Center for Cultural Competence, 2004; National Research Council, 1994), while community liaisons

are able to facilitate access to a range of social services including financial and employment services educational institutions, housing services, legal services, faithbased communities, culturally responsive health resources and services, as well as supporting the development of networks between families with similar needs. (Wei et al., 2021, p. 2)

Mr. Louis Pasteur Mashengo is an example of a cultural broker and community liaison. I met Mr. Mashengo while helping families move from their recently condemned homes after the deadly fire broke out at the 'Summit Apartments' in Greensboro, NC. As described in a Piedmont Triad National Public Radio (NPR) affiliate article,

Louis Mashengo is a Congolese refugee speaking out about living conditions at Summit-Cone. The former educator is soft-spoken, fluent in several languages, and a leader in the African community here. His cell phone is practically attached to his hand—constantly texting and advising residents, sometimes, he says, until 2 or 3 in the morning. (D. Ford, 2018, p. ??)

Considering his background and instrumental position in the community, Mr. Mashengo actively voiced concerns about substandard and hazardous housing conditions to members of the Greensboro City Council and local authority figures. As a result, he is one that some identify as a 'community champion.'

Ms. Natacha Nikokeza is another key cultural broker. Originally from Burundi in East Africa, Natacha came to the United States in 2008 as a refugee with her husband and three sons. Wanting to support fellow refugee women and families, Natacha co-founded UMOJA in 2015. Now a senior program coordinator at the CNNC at UNCG, Ms. Nikokeza has been key in bridging and building trust between UMOJA members, university stakeholders (i.e., faculty, students), and American service providers. Ms. Natacha was an outstanding resource as I conducted my pilot study data collection process in the Summer of 2021. She guided me to neighborhoods and community enclaves with African refugees, alerted me to some of the challenges these households face, and provided opportunities to volunteer time, language, and cultural skills to assist women with health education and provider visits. Indeed, both Mr. Louis Mashengo and Ms. Nikokeza's support and guidance were indispensable during the pilot study. Both cultural brokers continue to support this dissertation study and remain cultural advisors for the study process and verification of findings.

Study Participants

Eligibility

Participants were African refugee women (18 years and older) who resettled to North Carolina from countries such as Uganda, Tanzania, Kenya, and South Africa and who have had a child in the United States or an African region (see Appendix A and Appendix B). The women were originally from the Democratic Republic of Congo and surrounding countries, Rwanda and Burundi, but fled due to war and political conflict.

Sampling

This dissertation was conducted among African refugee families in Greensboro, NC. North Carolina is among the top 10 states that resettle the most refugees (National Immigration Forum, 2020). The Piedmont Triad Region is home to a significant portion of these refugees. My work and relationships formed during the ethnographic fieldwork and pilot studies provided a solid foundation for the proposed study. In this section, I focus on the sampling approach to this study. The purpose of sampling in qualitative research is not a generalization but rather to provide a deeper understanding of a select topic (Creswell & Poth, 2016).

I employed purposive and snowball sampling in this study (Patton, 2002; Suri, 2011). As Etikan et al. (2016) explained, in purposive sampling, "the researcher decides what needs to be known and sets out to find people who can and are willing to provide the information by virtue of knowledge or experience" (p. 147). In purposive sampling, I selected participants that matched criteria that were relevant to the research questions. These participants were selected because they could provide information that addressed the study's aims. Purposive sampling occurred as I reached out to women in the local African community who I already knew. Snowball sampling occurred when refugees who had completed the study referred me to other

refugees. Snowball sampling is a recruitment technique in which research participants help recruit other research participants that fit the eligibility criteria (Handcock & Gile, 2011). African refugee women (above 18 years old) were the participants whose perspectives were needed to answer the research questions. These were women who were admitted into the U.S. as "refugees."

Participant Recruitment

I conducted targeted recruitment at key community events that I attended. For example, I was invited to a Congolese woman's baby shower. There, I connected with other women in attendance. I explained my dissertation project to one of the women. Soon, she invited me to her home, exclaiming, "Come to my home on Saturday afternoon, and we can talk. I will tell you …" I recruited other participants at UMOJA monthly meetings or special events like the "Zumba In The Park" event. Finally, I used snowball sampling to recruit some participants. The participants I interviewed provided the contact information of other potential participants. I called them, introduced myself, and shared the project details before proceeding with scheduling an interview time. Twelve interviews, except one, occurred in the participants' homes.

The purpose of meeting with these women was to delve further into the research questions, as previously mentioned, and to learn more about their experiences with water quality. During previous ethnographic fieldwork, I used the opportunity to build relationships and rapport with them; hence, they were comfortable with inviting me into their homes for conversations around health-related topics. I tailored the recruitment script to fit the context or circumstance of pre-interview meetings (e.g., recruitment at a baby shower vs. at a UMOJA monthly meeting). I offered a \$25 cash incentive to each woman for their participation in the dissertation study.

Final Sample Description

A total of 13 women completed the interview (see Table 1). Unfortunately, two interviews were lost due to media file corruption, and only one of these two women was available to reconduct the interview. Hence a total of 12 interviews were included in this study. Women who participated ranged from age 24 to 50s. The majority were born in the Democratic Republic of Congo, and two were from Burundi, while one was from Rwanda. Five out of the 12 participants did not complete high school, while about one third had a professional or graduate degree.

ID	Country of Birth	Refugee Residence	Age	Arrival in U.S. (Year)	Number of Children	Highest Degree
Yvonne1	DRC	Burundi	~50	2017	5	Professional Degree
Patience2	DRC	Uganda	~40	2014	3	High School
Therese3	DRC	Burundi	~25	2018	2	Less than High School
Bridgette4	DRC	Tanzania	28	2019	3	Less than High School
Susie5	DRC	Burundi	49	2017	5	High School
Chally6	DRC	South Africa	33	2013	4	Less than High School
Sarah7	Rwanda	Burundi	24	2018	1	Less than High School
Fanta8	Burundi	South Africa	42	2015	4	Less than High School
Ange9	DRC	_	41	2007	5	Vocational Training
Matilda10	Burundi	Kenya	46	2008	3	Graduate
Ally11	DRC	Kenya	40	2014	3	High School

Table 1. Participant Demographics

Participant Ethics

This project received institutional review board approval from the University of North Carolina in Greensboro. I explained the study's intent and purpose during recruitment and right before the interview started. As a result, all but two participants consented to have their interviews audio-recorded. I took notes while speaking with the two participants who declined audio recording.

Data Collection

Eleven of the 12 interviews occurred between June 2022 and September 2022. The data included the demographics form and transcripts of 12 interviews (see Appendix C). In addition, the interview guide included 10 questions and their respective sub-questions (see Appendix D). Importantly, I must note that the data collection and analysis were contextualized within the observations and interactions that occurred over the 5 years of ethnographic fieldwork.

Interviews

Eleven interviews and field observations occurred in the home of the participants. One interview took place in the participant's office space, as that was best suited for her work schedule. I conducted interviews in English and in French. French interviews were translated into English and transcribed. For two of the interviews, a Swahili-speaking community member who spoke Swahili and French introduced me to two of her neighbors who she knew would qualify for the study. Both neighbors spoke Swahili, with very limited French. For these two interviews, I conducted the interview in French, while the community member interpreted it in Swahili. I should note here that although this may be far from ideal, this is a minority population with limited data available in the literature. Therefore, being able to collect this data is crucial to

the development and implementation of culturally tailored environmental and public health education interventions. These interviews lasted between about 20 minutes to 120 minutes.

Data Analysis

I began the analytical process after two thirds of the interviews had been conducted. Artifacts of data collection included interview transcripts. I used a brief questionnaire to collect demographics which were used to provide a profile of each interviewee. All participant data were anonymized for data analysis, with pseudonyms assigned to each participant. Given the exploratory nature of this study, I conducted a thematic analysis without an a priori theoretical framework (Ziebland & McPherson, 2006). I wanted to be careful not to exclude salient results simply because they are outside the scope of my preconceived ideas. Miles and Huberman (1994) describe three major components of qualitative data analysis: data reduction, data display, and conclusion deduction and/or corroboration.

Phase 1: Data Reduction

I read and reread transcripts to familiarize myself with and immerse myself in the data (Spencer et al., 2013). In this process, I jotted down initial notes on the data and any emerging subcategories and categories in a table. Next, I organized these emerging initial findings in a table, including columns "Research Question," "Time" (Pre- vs. Post-resettlement), "Memos," "Quotes," and "Participant ID" (see Appendix E). This table helped me organize codes, enabling me to get a detailed snapshot of emerging findings. This constituted the initial data reduction process.

Phase 2: Data Display

To further sift through the data, I engaged in data display methods as defined in Maietta et al.'s (2021) "Sort and Sift, Think and Shift" analysis approach. Developed and fine-tuned over

two decades, The Sort and Sift, Think and Shift qualitative data analysis approach (referred to hereafter as Sort and Sift) is an iterative process in which researchers dive into qualitative data to discern its content and dimensions. Researchers then take a step back to assess what they have learned to compare and connect findings with current trends in the field and to identify implications. According to Maietta et al. (2021), "researchers, working individually or in teams, move from establishing an understanding of what is in the data ("Diving In") to exploring their relationship to the data ("Stepping Back")" (p. 2046). Sort and Sift analysis tools include the Initial Learning Period (ILP), Quotation identification and data inventory, Diagramming, and Episode profiles. I used each of these tools in the analysis process and will be detailing my steps below. I primarily adopted three analytical tools, namely quotation inventory, diagramming, and episode profiling. As I progressed through the data with ILP, these initial analysis activities informed the episode profiles and the list of topics to be monitored.

Quotation Inventory

During the quotation inventory, I re-read the interview transcripts and highlighted quotations that stood out. Quotations can stand out for various reasons. For example, "Power Quotations" are data segments that lead the researcher to pause and reflect (Brandau & Davis, 2018).

'Turning point' quotations reflect uniquely powerful data segments that literally 'turn' the way analysts see their data ... "Pack-and-go" quotations are valuable to applied researchers. These quotations introduce findings that are intuitively of interest to researchers and point to immediate, accessible, and actionable changes that can be made by practitioners. (Maietta et al., 2021, p. 2050)

For example, several women rely heavily on physician or health professional input to gauge the quality of their tap water. Quotes highlighting the differing expectations around health and water quality indicate that some public health education interventions may be valuable in addressing these gaps.

Diagramming

As I built an inventory of quotations, I then transitioned to visually displaying these quotations and/or the story depicted in these quotations (see Figure 3). First, I used a plain sheet of paper to draft a visual depiction. I then transitioned to PowerPoint slides to further connect the dots and paint a more comprehensive picture of the dataset.



Figure 3. Sort and Sift Initial Learning Phase

Note. Adapted from "Sort and Sift, Think and Shift" (Maietta et al., 2021)

Episode Profiles

Put together, the quotation inventory, the diagram, and the document memo comprise the episode profile. "The goal of an episode profile is to tell a holistic, vertical story of each interview, focus group, fieldnote, or other type of qualitative data collection episode" (Maietta et al., 2021, p. 2051). It is important to note that throughout the Sort and Sift process, I repeatedly

referred to the table I had developed in the Data Reduction phase. As a result, I could pull from the codes and themes that had emerged from that initial phase and build a more comprehensive picture of what the data was revealing.

Moving on from the Initial Analysis

The analysis process described above details my vertical analysis, a process in which the initial episode profile encapsulates a holistic picture of each data collection episode. After this vertical analysis, in line with the Sort and Sift approach, I stepped back from the data to mine the episode profiles (see previous Figure 3). Mining occurred when I reviewed the episode profiles and emerging topics and worked to understand how ideas are connected within and across topics and across episode profiles. In addition, I monitored for larger themes that may cut across the data as a whole. The process of sorting and sifting, shifting and thinking describes the procedures that I undertook to analyze the data.

As I applied the Sort & Sift approach, I read and reread the transcripts to familiarize myself and immerse myself in the data (Ritchie et al., 2013). As a result, a rough coding framework emerged in which different parts of the data documents were indexed under different themes. After developing this initial coding framework, I used Quirkos, a qualitative research analysis software, for further analysis. As the analysis progressed, more codes were added in Quirkos in an iterative process.

As coding was ongoing, I would reread the data collected under each category several times to gain a deeper and clearer understanding of the scope of topics within each category (Ritchie et al., 2013). At this point, I met my adviser to discuss emerging themes. Upon reviewing and revising the themes, I coded 10% (n=2) of the interviews with another coder who happened to be an undergraduate student and a member of the African refugee community. As I

analyzed the data, I also needed to explore outlying cases and gauge their meaning (Kamdar et al., 2022). I met with my adviser weekly to discuss findings.

Phase 3: Data Display & Conclusion Deduction (Using PEN-3 Cultural Model)

As I refined the major themes inductively, I also applied Airhihenbuwa's PEN-3 cultural model to explore how it can further organize study findings (Figure 2). I used the model as a conceptual framework to identify and characterize positive, neutral, and negative water-related knowledge, attitudes, beliefs, and practices (Airhihenbuwa, 1995). The PEN-3 model was developed to centralize culture in research studies and interventions that focus on health beliefs, behaviors, and health outcomes (Iwelunmor et al., 2014).

The model consists of three primary domains (see Figure 4):

- The cultural Identity domain comprises Person, Extended Family, and Neighborhood (PEN) - highlighting the focus of the health behavior interventions
- The Relationship and Expectation domain includes Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers (PEN) - indicating the main influences of behavior.
- 3. The Cultural Empowerment domain focuses on Positive, Existential, and Negative factors (PEN) demonstrating the impact of behavior on health.

The PEN-3 model has been applied to a diverse set of topics, ranging from maternal health to knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) and water and sanitation research studies (Al et al., 2009; Blackstone et al., 2018; Chemuru & Srinivas, 2015; Katsinde et al., 2014; Mohammadinia et al., 2021; Sofolahan-Oladeinde et al., 2017; Uprety et al., 2020). PEN-3 has also been applied in qualitative studies and in studies focusing on African populations (Uprety et al., 2020). In conjunction with the exploratory qualitative study design, I used the PEN-3 model for analysis.



Figure 4. The PEN-3 Cultural Model (Iwelunmor et al., 2014)

The PEN-3 Model presented here is an iteration of the original model presented by Collins O. Airhihenbuwa (Airhihenbuwa, 1995) and modified by Iwelunmor et al. (2014). The three dimensions of (a) Cultural Identity, (b) Relationships and Expectations, and (c) Cultural Empowerment and their respective domains are explicitly described below.

The "Cultural Identity" domain features the intervention points of entry. A public health education intervention can be implemented at the Persons, the Extended family members of the Neighborhoods level:

Person. Health education is committed to the health of all. To this end, individuals should be empowered to make informed health decisions.

Extended family. Health Education is concerned not only with the immediate nuclear family but also with extended kin ... However, when a program is designed to target a particular member of the family (e.g., the mother), the individual should become the focus of the study and must be recognized.

Neighborhood. Health education is committed to promoting health and preventing disease in neighborhoods and communities. Involvement of community members and

their leaders becomes critical in the provision of culturally appropriate health programs (Airhihenbuwa, 1995, p 3-10).

The second dimension of PEN-3 is "Relationships & Expectations" (formerly referred to as "Educational Diagnosis of Health Behavior"). It comprises three factors, namely Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers.

Perceptions. Perceptions comprise the knowledge, attitudes, values, and beliefs within a cultural context that may facilitate or hinder personal, family, and community motivation to change.

Enablers. Enablers are cultural, societal, systematic, or structural influences or forces that may enhance or be barriers to change, such as the availability of resources, accessibility, referrals, employers, government officials, skills, ad types of services (e.g., traditional medicine).

Nurturers. Another important element is the degree to which health beliefs, attitudes, and actions are influenced and mediated, or nurtured, by extended family, kin, friends, peers, and the community (Airhihenbuwa, 1995, p 3-10).

The third and most critical dimension of the PEN-3 model is cultural empowerment:

Positive behaviors. These are behaviors that are based on health beliefs and actions that are known to be beneficial and must be encouraged. These behaviors are critical in the empowerment of persons, extended families, and neighborhoods.

Existential behaviors. Existential behaviors comprise those cultural beliefs, practices, and/or behaviors that are indigenous to a group and have no harmful health consequences, and thus need not be targeted for change and should not be blamed for program failure simply because they are ill-understood.

Negative behaviors. Negative behaviors are based on health beliefs and actions that are known to be harmful to health: Health providers must therefore examine and understand them within their cultural, historical, and political contexts before attempting to change them (Airhihenbuwa, 1995, p 3-10).

PEN-3 Application in Past Studies & the Current Study

The PEN-3 model has been applied in various studies to adopt a cultural lens in addressing health behaviors (Blackstone et al., 2018). It is common for researchers and practitioners to apply the PEN-3 model to centralize culture in the study of health behaviors or the development of health education interventions. For example, Ezeanolue et al. (2019) used the PEN-3 model to develop a theoretical framework for the Health Beginning Initiative (HBI), a complex maternal-child health intervention. To identify the key components of the HBI, they needed to consider the influence of culture on health and health behaviors. Hence, the authors found that PEN-3 was a unique cultural model that could be used as an organizational framework to explicate HIV and develop solutions to these problems by centralizing culture. In applying the "Cultural Identity" domain of the PEN-3 model, the authors identified the significant role of faith in Nigerians' personal, cultural, social, and community life. Hence, they developed the HBI intervention to increase HIV screening among pregnant women and their male partners by including faith leaders as a point of intervention.

In addition, the Relationships and Expectations domain in the PEN-3 model informed the inclusion of enablers from local organizations to be involved in the HBI planning team. These enablers included representatives from women's groups, HIV support groups, HIV education and advocacy groups, faith-based organizations, delivery centers, hospitals, and representatives from government agencies. This planning team then applied the Cultural Empowerment domain of the

PEN-3 model to identify barriers to as well as positive, existential, or negative factors that are critical to health behavior change. All in all, the PEN-3 model ensured that the Health Belief Initiative incorporated culture-related factors to be core elements as it was being developed. The theoretical framework was then used to evaluate HBI's impact on HIV testing, retention of pregnant women, their male partners, and newborn care.

The PEN-3 model has also been applied in research focusing specifically on Congolese immigrants (Ilunga Tshiswaka et al., 2018; G. L. S. Whembolua et al., 2019; G. L. Whembolua & Tshiswaka, 2020). Ilunga Tshiswaka et al. (2018), for instance, conducted a study to examine the role of cultural beliefs on physical activity and to explore attitudes and perceptions on physical activity to minimize the risk of diabetes among Congolese immigrants in Champaign, Illinois (Tshiswaka et al., 2018). Using both the Cultural Empowerment dimension (Positive, Existential, and Negative) and the Relationships and Expectations dimension (Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers), the authors were able to identify intrinsic cultural perceptions and attitudes around different types of physical activity in this population. For instance, participants identified a pronounced willingness to dance as a likely source of increased physical activity rather than going to the gym. Hence, the application of the PEN-3 model ensured that such cultural nuances in physical activity would be brought to the forefront and would be important in planning.

PEN-3 Application in the Current Study

For the current study, I applied the PEN-3 model to describe perceptions around water quality, focusing on lead exposure. I also identified water-related practices during pregnancy that are culturally unique to this population. I applied Airhihenbuwa's (1995) PEN-3 cultural model to organize water quality perceptions, enablers, and nurturers influencing water-related

behaviors. I then applied the PEN-3 model to highlight water-related practices during pregnancy and postpartum among Congolese refugee women. This level of analysis and associated discussion have implications for targeted public health education at the "person, family, and neighborhood" levels.

Validity

Lincoln and Guba (1985) describe the following four broad facets of trustworthiness in qualitative research: credibility, dependability, transferability, and confirmability. Therefore, to maximize these trustworthiness features, I engaged in consistency checks. I specifically engaged in interrater reliability, during which another coder analyzed several transcripts and identified emerging topics and themes to compare the themes that emerged across both of our analyses. The second coder was a member of the African refugee community who also happened to be an undergraduate student research assistant (Erlandson et al., 1993). For credibility, I shared various major themes of the study with interview participants for cross-checking. Misunderstanding and misrepresentation were discussed and reviewed. Finally, I repeatedly compared the data with research findings and interpretations to ensure dependability.

Positionality and Reflexivity

A major threat to validity is making assumptions and disregarding my position as a researcher. In this community, I am both an outsider and an insider. As an African immigrant woman who speaks French, one of the major languages spoken in this community, I was considered an insider. However, I was also an outsider because my mother tongue was not Swahili, a mother tongue that is the main language in this context. In addition, I was a graduate student enrolled in a program that is cost-intensive, interacting with women, many of whom had only high school-level education. In view of these, I had to consciously reflect on how my

insider/outsider position influenced my interactions with the women during the data collection and analysis processes.

Of utmost importance is engagement in reflexivity (O'Reilly, 2012). Through reflexivity, researchers acknowledge, engage with, and reflect on how their role shapes the study. In such reflexivity, transparency is key (Dodgson, 2019). Transparency occurred at distinct stages of the research process. For example, I provide details on the sampling process by including specific examples of how the sample for this study was finalized. In addition, I described the research study with details that provided both global and local background information. This transparency is to provide "contextual, and circumstantial aspects on the process and findings of the study" and situate the findings in view of my positionality" (Berger, 2015, p. 221). Ultimately, I hope this study's results contribute to improved environmental conditions and positive pregnancy experiences among African refugee groups.

The Next Three Chapters

In the subsequent two chapters, Chapters IV and V, I share two manuscripts that include the study results of the three research questions, as highlighted in Table 2. I will also be discussing these findings, sharing some implications, and providing recommendations for further research. The final chapter, Chapter VI, details the implications of the study findings for various groups, including public health educators, researchers, resettlement agencies, maternal-child health specialists, and policy advocates.

Research Questions	Methods	Analysis Framework	Results
RQ 1: How do African refugee women perceive tap water quality in general? In the U.S.? RQ 2 : What water safety practices do African refugee women engage in?	Key Informant Interviews	 PEN-3 Model Cultural Empowerment Cultural Identity Domains Relationships & Expectations 	Water Quality-related Perceptions, Enablers & Nurturers (PEN)
RQ 3: What water-related practices do African refugee women engage in to ensure positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences?			Positive, Negative, Existential (PEN) Practices and related Enablers & Nurturers

CHAPTER IV: "WATER IS LIFE": A PEN-3 ANALYSIS OF WATER QUALITY PERCEPTIONS AND PRACTICES AMONG AFRICAN REFUGEE WOMEN

Abstract

Each year, millions of refugees flee violence to find refuge in neighboring countries and beyond. After undergoing a stringent process, less than 1% of the global refugee caseload is granted refugee status to resettle in the United States. A growing refugee population in the United States is East and Central African refugees. Upon arrival in the U.S., living conditions for these refugees are unfortunately far from ideal. Some of these housing complexes have been shown to have unmaintained faucets and contaminant-compromised water. Yet we are unaware of African refugee women's awareness of water quality. How do they perceive their tap water quality? What water safety practices do they engage in? Twelve East-Central African refugee women completed a demographic form and key informant interviews based on a semi-structured interview guide. I adopted the PEN-3 model to guide analyses. The results indicated that preresettlement knowledge, enablers (health professionals, education system, resettlement agencies), and nurturers (extended family and neighborhood influences) informed their post-resettlement water quality perceptions and practices in the U.S. Tap water quality perceptions and water safety practices centered on microbial contamination, rather than on heavy metals such as lead. There were also unique health conditions and socio-cultural beliefs that informed water quality perceptions and practices. The study provides implications for public health professionals, resettlement agencies, and policy advocates.

Introduction

Water Rich Yet Safe Water Poor

The Democratic Republic of Congo holds over half of the African continent's water reserves. Yet about 70% of individuals in rural areas and 19% in urban areas lack access to safe water (World Bank, 2017). This is compounded by the fact that the DRC and surrounding East and Central African countries have been involved in various conflicts. Moreover, amid ongoing violence outbreaks in the country, residents face stark water service shortfalls in rural and urban settings.

The Congo War: The Deadliest War in Modern African History

The Democratic Republic of Congo is also home to one of the world's largest reserves of resource wealth, estimated to be worth more than \$24 trillion (European Union's Generalized Scheme of Preferences, 2020). Unfortunately, this same wealth has been a driving force behind a series of conflicts over 2 decades. The first war started in September 1996 and lasted until May 1997 (Weiss, 2000). The second war in 1998 started when Uganda, Rwanda, and several Congolese army units took over major segments of Eastern DRC. This second war involved most countries in East Central Africa. Over 5 million people died in these conflicts, the highest number of deaths since World War II. Following several attempts to end the second war, an agreement was finally signed in Lusaka in 1999 (Coghlan et al., 2007; Weiss, 2000). Yet after this peace agreement was signed, violence has continued to break out in what seems to be ongoing conflict at the localized level.

Journey to the U.S.: Exposure Continued

Seeking to preserve their lives, individuals and families flee this violence and lifethreatening living conditions to seek refuge in neighboring countries. Over 500,000 refugees

from the DRC have taken refuge in nine neighboring countries (Cultural Orientation Resource Center, 2014). The largest percentages of Congolese refugees are in Rwanda, Tanzania, Uganda, and Burundi. Although conditions differ between countries and within countries, living conditions in these receiving countries are equally harsh. Refugees often face high poverty levels, poor housing, and deficient water and sanitation systems. Frequent incidence of cholera is widely reported, and some education is in place to ensure that residents know how to address microbial contamination in their homes (Bwire et al., 2021). Unfortunately, little to no emphasis is on education about heavy metal exposure in water and low-cost remediation options. Yet various studies have shown the high prevalence of water contamination, including microbial and heavy metal contamination, in most receiving countries (Ali et al., 2021; Kilavi et al., 2021; Mutebi et al., 2022). This exposure to heavy metals like lead has been linked to negative maternal-child health outcomes, yet there appears to be minimal education or awareness (Craft-Blacksheare, 2017; Ferguson et al., 2013). Significant health issues associated with lead exposure should concern educators, researchers, and practitioners.

Resettlement in the U.S.

After several years of living in precarious conditions in neighboring African countries, some refugees seek refuge in the U.S. The vetting process for refugee resettlement is excruciatingly stringent. Refugees undergo at least 12 screening checks before being selected to resettle in the U.S. (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022d; Refugee Council USA, 2017). As a result, less than 1% of the global refugee caseload is selected to resettle in the United States. Refugees do not choose where to live in the U.S.; they are often placed in low-income or Section 8 housing (Gilbert et al., 2010; National Immigration Law Center, 2018). Upon arrival in the United States, living conditions and the tap water quality conditions in low-income

neighborhoods in the United States are far from ideal (Allaire et al., 2018; Hanna-Attisha et al., 2016).

Some of these housing complexes have been shown to have unmaintained faucets as well as higher levels of lead in the drinking water (Brown & Margolis, 2012; Hanna-Attisha et al., 2016; Kraft & Scheberle, 1995). Yet, we continue to have limited knowledge of refugees' awareness of water quality and the possibility of lead exposure. How do they perceive their general tap water quality? What practices have they adopted to address water quality concerns? What contextual characteristics influence their water quality perceptions and water safety practices?

Hence this study sought to explore the following two questions and their respective subquestions:

- 1: How do African refugee women *perceive* tap water quality in general? In the U.S.?
 - a. What do African refugee women know about contaminants (e.g., lead exposure) in tap water?
 - b. What role do enablers (cultural traditions, social and health systems) play in African refugee women's tap water quality perceptions and their knowledge of water contamination issues?
 - c. How do nurturers (i.e., family, peers, neighbors, kinfolk) shape refugees' knowledge and perceptions of tap water quality issues?
- **2:** What water safety practices do African refugee women engage in?
 - a. How do these water safety practices compare to or differ from those they adopted prior to resettling in the U.S.?

b. How are enablers and nurturers involved in maintaining water safety practices?

Methods

Research Setting

Over the last five years, I have been involved with local refugee and immigrant communities, under the mentorship of Dr. Sharon Morrison. I engaged in participant observations, cultural immersion and informal conversation to examine the lived experiences of African refugee women who have resettled in Greensboro. Fieldwork work occurred in immigrant-refugee homes, during Center for New North Carolinians community events and at UMOJA Group meetings and activities. Umoja (the Swahili word for unity) is a support group that seeks to help immigrant-refugee women adapt to life in the U.S.

The current study builds on my foundational ethnographic engagements, as well as our qualitative pilot study. During the ethnographic work, I was fortunate to build relationships with principal community contacts and cultural brokers. Mr. Louis Pasteur Mashengo is an example of one such community liaison. I first met Mr. Louis while assisting families who were moving from their recently condemned homes. A local news outlet describes Mr. Mashengo as "soft-spoken, fluent in several languages, and a leader in the African community here. His cell phone is practically attached to his hand—constantly texting and advising residents, sometimes, he says, until 2 or 3 in the morning" (Ford, 2018) . Indeed Mr. Louis was and remains a key community person.

Ms. Natacha Nikokeza is another cultural broker I connected with. Admitted to the U.S. as a refugee, Natacha co-founded the UMOJA group in 2015. She now serves as an 'insider' bridging between the UMOJA group and other stakeholders at the University of North Carolina

and other institutions. On a personal level, Ms. Nikokeza has been an integral part of data collection processes and strategy. Doubtless, Mr. Mashengo and Ms. Nikokeza's guidance have been indispensable over the last several years. In addition to the families they connected me with, many of the same women and families I have interacted with over the last 5 years were also involved in this research study.

Study Design

This qualitative study explores local African refugee women's water quality perceptions and safety practices. Qualitative methods are appropriate for developing theories and models. Qualitative studies like this one seek to understand the "how" and "what" of the study subject (Thorogood & Green, 2013). Consequently, questions such as "How do African refugee women perceive their rap water quality?" would be best suited for a qualitative research design, notably since there is little information on this question. A distinct feature of qualitative research is its adaptable research strategy and emphasis on understanding (Thorogood & Green, 2013). Hence a semi-structured interview guide (instead of a fixed list of interview questions or a structured questionnaire) was a suitable tool to stimulate open dialogue and rich data.

The study draws on over 5 years of ethnographic immersion in a local refugee community in Greensboro, NC. Ethnography is a research approach that aims at learning about a community and gaining an in-depth understanding of its social and cultural context. Roper and Shapira (2000) propose that "ethnography is a research process of learning about people by learning from them" (p. 1). Ethnography has now been applied in the field of public health and medicine (Andreassen et al., 2020; Pope, 2005). Reliance on key cultural informants is commonly used in ethnography.

This study, therefore, builds on my foundational ethnographic work. My research perspective is broadly social constructivist in nature. However, my focus is on water qualityrelated perceptions and practices. Constructivist research approaches suggest that "reality is socially constructed" and therefore seek to understand human experience (Cohen & Manion, 1994; Mertens, 2019). The constructivist researcher heavily relies on the participant's description of the situation of interest (Creswell & Lundberg, 2003). Relatedly, constructivists seldom begin with a theory; rather, they allow an inductive generation of a theory across the research process (Creswell & Lundberg, 2003).

Participant Recruitment and Sample

Sampling in qualitative research aims to gain a deeper understanding of a specific phenomenon rather than to achieve generalization. I used purposive and snowball sampling (Patton, 2002; Suri, 2011). Purposive sampling consisted of reaching out to women within my local African network, which has grown over the years. In contrast, snowball sampling occurred when refugees who had completed the study referred me to other refugees. Participants were finalized based on the eligibility criteria. Participants were 12 women (above age 18) admitted into the U.S. as "refugees" from East-Central Africa, namely from the DRC, Burundi, and Rwanda.

Data Collection and Procedures

The University of North Carolina Greensboro's institutional review board approved this project. During recruitment and right before the interview, I explained the purpose of the study. When asked if the interview could be recorded, two participants declined. All other participants consented to audio recording their interviews. Eleven interviews and field observations occurred in the participants' homes. One interview was conducted in the participant's office space because

that was what worked best for her work schedule. I conducted interviews in English or French. French interviews were translated and transcribed into English. Two of the interviews were conducted in French while a community member interpreted them into Swahili. The interviews lasted between about 20 and 120 minutes.

Data Analysis

Data collection included interview transcripts. In addition, a brief questionnaire gathered demographics, informing a profile for each interviewee. I began the analytical process after about two thirds of the interviews had been completed. For data analysis, pseudonyms were assigned to each participant. I first engaged in thematic analysis without an a priori theoretical framework, in line with the exploratory nature of the study (Ziebland & McPherson, 2006).

For further analysis, I adopted Maietta et al.'s (2021) 'Sort and Sift, Think and Shift' qualitative data analysis approach (otherwise known as Sort and Sift). Sort and Sift is an interactive process through which researchers dive into qualitative data to discover its content (Maietta et al., 2021). They then step back to assess what they have grasped, comparing, contrasting, and connecting findings. Ultimately, they can connect findings with trends in the fields and determine implications. I adopted three Sort and Sift analytical tools, namely: quotation inventory, diagramming, and memoing. Put together, the quotation inventory, diagram, and document memo make up the episode profile. The episode profile tells a holistic story of each interview or data collection episode. To address validity, I met with my adviser weekly to discuss emerging themes as coding was ongoing. After reviewing and revising some of the themes, I also coded 10% (n=2) of the interviews with another coder. She was a UNCG student and a member of the African refugee community.

PEN-3 Model: Organization Tool

After refining the major themes inductively, I applied Airhihenbuwa's PEN-3 cultural model (see Figure 5) to organize the study findings further. The PEN-3 model was developed to centralize culture in research studies and interventions that focus on health beliefs, behaviors, and health outcomes (Iwelunmor et al., 2014).





The model consists of three primary domains:

- Cultural Identity domain comprises of: Person, Extended Family, Neighborhood (PEN) - highlighting the focus of the health behavior interventions.
- The Relationship and Expectation domain includes Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers (PEN) - indicating the main influences of behavior.
- 3. The Cultural Empowerment domain focuses on Positive, Existential, and Negative factors (PEN) demonstrating the impact of behavior on health.

I used the model as a conceptual framework to identify water quality perceptions and related enablers and nurturers in Africa and the U.S. (Airhihenbuwa, 1995).

Findings

This study sought to examine African refugee women's perceptions around their tap water quality as well as water safety practices they engage in. Participants were from the Democratic Republic of Congo and surrounding East-Central African countries. A total of 13 women participated in an interview, each lasting between 20 to 120 minutes (See Table 3). Unfortunately, two interviews were lost due to media file corruption, and one of these two women was available to reconduct the interview. Hence a total of twelve interviews were included in this study. Participants' ages ranged from their 20s to 50s. The majority were born in the Democratic Republic of Congo, two in Burundi, while one was born in Rwanda. Five out of the twelve participants did not complete high school. However, about one third had a professional or graduate degree.

ID	Country of Birth	Refugee Residence	Age	Arrival in U.S. (Year)	Number of Children	Highest Degree
Yvonne1	DRC	Burundi	~50	2017	5	Professional Degree
Patience2	DRC	Uganda	~40	2014	3	High School
Therese3	DRC	Burundi	~25	2018	2	Less than High School
Bridgette4	DRC	Tanzania	28	2019	3	Less than High School
Susie5	DRC	Burundi	49	2017	5	High School
Chally6	DRC	South Africa	33	2013	4	Less than High School
Sarah7	Rwanda	Burundi	24	2018	1	Less than High School
Fanta8	Burundi	South Africa	42	2015	4	Less than High School
Ange9	DRC	~	41	2007	5	Vocational Training
Matilda10	Burundi	Kenya	46	2008	3	Graduate
Ally11	DRC	Kenya	40	2014	3	High School

Table 3. Participant Demographics
Emergent themes were categorized within the Relationships and Expectations domain of the PEN-3 model, namely under the Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers factors. Under each of these three factors, the findings showed that participants' pre-resettlement and post-resettlement experiences were interconnected. The pre-resettlement phase encompasses all experiences before refugee admission into the United States. This includes the experiences in the home country, in refugee camps, and other temporary places of residence. It is important to consider refugees' preresettlement experiences because these continue to influence their water-related perceptions, enablers, and nurturers even after resettlement in the U.S. Interviews revealed a blending of preand post-resettlement contextual factors. These contextual factors are organized via the PEN-3 model and cross-tabulated to show the multifaceted and nuanced nature of the women's perceptions of water quality.

Pre-Resettlement Water Quality Perceptions

Water Quality Perceptions: "Drink The Tap Water, You Might Get Sick"

Perceptions, including knowledge of water quality among participants, were influenced by pre-resettlement experiences. Jeanie, a Congolese mother of two young children, shared that her experience in DRC conditioned her to mistrust tap water. Although she lived in Burundi, known to have good water, she believed all tap water was unsafe and shared,

In DRC, I lived in Bukavu. In Bukavu ... If you drink the tap water, you might get sick within 30 minutes. Definitely, if you continue to drink the tap water, you may not survive up to 3 days in DRC. Sometimes, when you turn on the tap, it comes out brown like chocolate. It is so so bad. You cannot drink it. So, what we do is that we boil the water and let it cool.

Indeed, knowledge and beliefs around water quality in the African context predominantly centered on pathogenic contamination, like microbial contamination, rather than heavy metals in water, such as lead. As Patience, a young mother of three children, said about her preresettlement refugee experience when she fled from DRC to neighboring Uganda: "You have to boil the water in Uganda. So, in Uganda, there are a lot of microbes in the water. You definitely need to boil the water." Her partner, who happened to be in the living room as we were talking, goes on to bolster her statement by adding:

When you go to Kampala, you begin to smell some odors, and dirt everywhere. So, people have gotten into the habit of boiling the water. Because there have been cholera epidemics ... All those years I was in Uganda, we had to boil water every day.

Pre-Resettlement Water Safety Practices

Medicating Tap Water: "You Will Taste the Medication ... [and] Smell It"

In addition to boiling water, participants also believed in using "medication" to purify it. For example, one middle-aged refugee mother of five explained that "to filter the water, you boil it at 100°C, or you put medication that we call 'chlore.' It is a chemical product that is white." So, the participants and/or their family members completed the purification process with the medication. However, in some settings, the medication was introduced into the water system at the water treatment plant. In Burundi, for example, Patience explains that "[The water company] puts medication in" the tap water before delivering it through the water systems to households.

In places where this did not occur, public health professionals may offer the medication to families who cannot afford it on their own or are unable to boil, especially in the event of cholera outbreaks. Yvonne, a middle-aged nurse, explains that "if there are people who do not have the means to boil. They don't have a lot of things, like equipment, we would distribute

medication." These might be lower-income families who perceive "boiling is a heavy task" and a burden. The caretaker in the house may express concern, for example, that "instead of cooking the children's food, I need to now start boiling water. I don't have a lot of coal. I don't have a lot of branches to turn on the fire. We will just drink the water like that." In this case, "the health agencies give medication to each family, so that they will put it in water," informing them that "if you want to drink water, put the medication inside the water."

However, Patricia cautioned, "When you drink [the medicated water], you smell it. You smell the odor." Yvonne also said, "When you drink that water, you will taste the medication." This water purification medication introduces a specific taste and smell to the water. But Yvonne reassures that despite the unique taste and smell of the medicated water, public health professionals educate the public that "[the water] is not bad because we have disinfected it ... We have put in the medication. You should drink that water. It is clean water."

"In Burundi, We Are So Lucky with Water"

Water quality perceptions differed within and across countries. It appeared that those who trusted their tap water in Africa and did not have to worry about boiling or medicating their water knew it was an uncommon reality. For example, Matilda was born in Burundi but had to flee to Kenya due to life-threatening violent conditions. Her perception of water quality differed drastically from her home country of Burundi. She shared,

We are very lucky in Burundi. We lack so many things. So many things have broken. So many things are so bad. But we are so lucky with water. We can drink water from the tap. Yeah, but you will leave to go to Rwanda, which is like a twin country next door. They can't drink their water. They have to, you know, boil it. They have to, like, they have to do things in order for them to drink it.

Similarly, Chally, a Congolese mother who fled to South Africa also asserted that they just drank the tap water "like that" in South Africa, without any purification interventions.

Even in places where tap water was safe, opting for bottled water instead of tap water was a matter of affordability for some. In Burundi, bottled water was affordable. Jeanie, a young mother of two, explains that:

When I moved to Burundi in 2004, I was already used to not trusting tap water. And in Burundi, bottled water was cheap. For 20 liters, it could cost only 1000 franc, so maybe like 2 dollars. Although the tap water in Burundi is good, and I did not need to boil the water anymore, I only drank bottled water. We call that water "kingu." Kingu is a water company. There are several water companies in Burundi. Kingu is just one of them.

In Uganda, Patience admits that "the rich people, they use bottled water." Buying and drinking bottled water was a symbol of high social status, as bottled water was a lot more expensive. Whereas in a country like Burundi, where water was more affordable, most people drank tap water freely, and bottled water was less of a social status symbol.

Post-Resettlement Water Quality Perceptions and Practices

Post-resettlement water quality perceptions differed by country of residence before resettling in the U.S. All participants relocated from their birthplace to an intermediary country before migrating to the U.S. Participants lived in the DRC, Burundi, Rwanda, Kenya, Uganda, and South Africa. The participants who lived in Burundi and South Africa right before migrating to the U.S. perceived their tap water as safe. For example, Yvonne, who was born in DRC, but fled to Burundi, maintained a positive perception of tap water even after she moved to the United States. She shared that "in the home country, we drink water that is good, natural." Similarly, Fanta, who was born in Burundi but lived in South Africa before she moved to the U.S., shared,

"I came from South Africa ... we drank tap water." Both participants who had positive experiences in Africa before resettling continued to trust and drink tap water upon arrival in the U.S.

Water Quality & Trust: "I Switched in My Head and Did Not Trust Water Anymore"

Pre-resettlement knowledge and experiences influence participants' perceptions around their post-resettlement tap water quality in the U.S. It is important to note that the situation in the country where they resided right before migrating to the U.S. appears to influence their current perceptions more than the conditions in their native country. For example, unlike Fanta and Yvonne, Matilda, born in Burundi, shared that "growing up, it was safe for us to drink the water. That way, I didn't have any issues trusting water here."

The story, however, changed when she had to flee to neighboring Kenya as she shared that

We lived in Kenya for 2 years, right before coming [to the U.S.]. I saw that like I switched in my head and then did not trust water anymore ... So, when I lived in Kenya, we had to buy water. We had these huge bottles that had a filter and a tiny, like, you know, "robinet" ('tap' in French). And then, like ever since, even here, we never trusted water from the tap here [in the U.S.]. So, we always had, you know, bottles. And then later on, like we have a fridge that might filter.

Her experience for 2 years in Kenya overrode the positive experiences she had growing up, instilling a distrust of tap water that persisted even after resettlement in the U.S. Regardless of the place of birth, participants' perceptions around tap water quality upon arrival in the United States are highly influenced by their experience in the country they lived in before they moved to the U.S.

Water Quality Perceptions and Taste: "I Tasted That Tap Water... The Taste is Not Good"

Some women did not trust tap water because of its taste. Others were unaware of its source or water system purification processes. For example, a young Congolese mother who just gave birth to a baby boy shared that "They [resettlement agency staff] said to drink the tap water when you want, but for me, it is not good (...) And I tasted that tap water, and I said nah-uhh ... The taste is not good." Although she was born in the DRC, she lived in Burundi before resettling in the U.S. Therefore, tap water in Burundi was better for her. In addition, she was aware of the treatment processes that tap water underwent in Burundi. As a result, she explained, "water in Africa, they have put medication in the water, looks like salt. It is better" than the water in America. Similarly, Jeanie mistrusts tap water in the U.S. because of her pre-resettlement experience:

I don't drink tap water. I feel like the tap water is not good. Sometimes, my son (who is 4 years old) would get a cup and drink straight from the tap. I tell him not to do that. I think I feel this way because of my experience in DRC.

Hence several participants distrusted the tap water for various reasons, including its taste, lack of knowledge about purification processes, and resettlement experiences.

Water Quality & Sickness: "When He Drinks [the Tap Water] He Gets Sick"

Others perceive tap water in the United States as a source of body pains and other health concerns. Bridgette, for example, shared that since she came to the U.S., she noticed that her stomach had hurt when she drank tap water. Ange, a mother of five children, all under 12 years old, corroborated this experience as she expressed uneasiness over the quality of tap water. She shared that her

husband says the sink (tap) water is bad. He says when he drinks it, he gets sick. He begins to cough, and his neck hurts ... but I don't know if that's just him or if it really is bad ... Also, my sister-in-law says the water is not good. She says when she drinks sink water, she gets sick.

So unfortunately for some, tap water was perceived as a cause of health issues.

"Can't We Put Medication in the Water to Destroy" Lead?

When asked about knowledge about lead exposure in water, most had never heard about the possibility of lead contamination. Ally, one of the few participants with a graduate degree, shared that she had never heard of water contamination in the U.S.: "Lead contamination? I have never heard of that. I personally just feel like tap water is not so safe." Only two of the twelve refugee women had ever heard of heavy metal (e.g., lead) exposure in water. Both of these women were highly educated, one as a nurse and the other as a lawyer. As one of them stated:

With these metals, if it enters the body, it is bad ... it's like you take the example of a metallic nail [in water]. If I take the example of a metallic nail, even if I boil [the water], the nail will stay there. See, now, you need to filter that water ... because these metals do not go away, they stay there like that. So now [after you] boil the water ... You need to filter the water.

So even for the refugee woman who has some knowledge about heavy metal exposure, she believed that you would still need to boil it before filtering. When specifically asked about addressing lead in water, a Congolese refugee mother asked, "If there is something in the water, can't we put medication in the water to destroy this thing?" Therefore, in line with their preresettlement experiences in East-Central Africa, the other women who spoke about lead exposure

also believed that boiling the water or adding some medication to it should eliminate any water contamination in the United States.

Pre-Resettlement Water Quality-Related Enablers

Health Professionals: "Medical Staff ... Saying Don't Drink the Water"

Enablers are structural, societal, cultural, and systemic influences that may promote or dissuade positive water quality perceptions and behaviors. The women identified enablers that were predominantly present in the pre-resettlement context. Medical and public health staff are key enablers in water quality experiences among the African refugee women in this study. For example, a Congolese refugee mother of five adult children explained, "when there is an epidemic, medical staff, people who are in sanitary health, they walk through all the streets with a microphone saying 'Don't drink the water without boiling it. You have to boil this water." Indeed, there is an expectation that professionals, including medical staff or news outlets, will inform community residents in a timely manner of any water quality compromises.

This situation differed by country. In Burundi, for example, access to safe tap water was widespread. Occasionally, tap water may be unavailable. But Jeanie shared that when the water system professionals know there will be no water flowing from taps, they might inform you 3 days ahead. They may also provide some justification for the lack of tap water; perhaps they are doing some pipe maintenance or for some other reason. This openness of communication was missing in a country like DRC.

This quality of communication is an enabler that influences their level of trust in the water. The quality of communication is a positive enabler in Burundi because it promotes confidence in the water system and eases stress around water accessibility and quality. However,

the lack of communication from water system professionals is a negative enabler in DRC because it informs mistrust in the water quality process.

Neighborhood Vendors: "That Mummy or Her Children Will Fetch the Water ... You Pay"

In addition, when there is no water flowing from the tap, there are enablers within the community that are key to ensuring that there is still potable water. These are community members or neighbors who address the issue of lack of tap water when water resources fall short. They form a communal system. As a woman explains that in the city of Bukavu in DRC, for example:

In the neighborhood, there are maybe two people who have a tap. So, at 6 pm, 7 pm, we have containers [jerrycans], and you write your name. For example, in my family, we wrote my name on our container. You write the name, and at 7 pm, 6 pm, you go drop your container over there. That mummy or her children will fetch the water for you. In the morning, you pay.

Residents then pay a "mummy" in the neighborhood who may have access to water. Although this incurs additional costs for residents, it is helpful because the community "can go one week, two weeks without water coming from the tap." This communal system of addressing water scarcity is an enabler.

DRC Education System: "Children ... See Where the Tap Water is Coming From"

Another enabler highlighted in this study is the Education System. In DRC, for example, some participants disclosed that children are often required to visit the water treatment center as a part of the school curriculum. Patience, a Congolese mother of three children under 10, shared, "In Africa, I think when I was in middle school or high school, we went to visit where they filter water." Yvonne bolsters this point by noting that "all the children, when you are at school, they all go there to see where the tap water is coming from. There is a class that we teach. Each child undergoes this course." So participants can have informed perceptions and knowledge about water quality and treatment processes. Such an education system is a positive enabler within the pre-resettlement context.

Post-Resettlement Water Quality-Related Enablers

Education About U.S. Water Systems: "Water ... Flows ... from Where? I Don't Know"

Interestingly, the education system continues to be an important enabler even in the U.S. However, since there was little formalized adult education around tap water quality or treatment processes after resettlement in the U.S., refugee women and their families were often told simply to drink tap water. So there appears to be some confusion about where our tap water comes from. Therese notes that she is unsure of where the tap water in the U.S. comes from. She wonders if the same water she is expected to drink in the kitchen is the same one that flushes our bathrooms: "It's the same water [in the kitchen] that flows in the bathroom. From where? I don't know." This possibility, to her, is concerning.

Other participants like Yvonne shared that this is the same concern that many African women have:

Here [in the U.S.], people say, "Oh, the water pipe tap water, toilet water, water we shower with – they all go through the same water pipe." How can the same water we use

to flush our toilets be the same water that we are expected to drink in the kitchen? This lack of knowledge about the U.S. water system is an enabler contributing to a lack of trust in tap water. Relatedly, Ange, a mother of five young children, discloses how she had tried to prevent her children from drinking tap water. But the children responded, "Yes, mummy, it's safe. We can drink it. Even at school, we drink it like that." The fact that teachers and school

staff allow children to drink the water influences Ange's children to think the water must be safe. So, in turn, Ange's uneasiness about tap water quality eased up a bit.

Medical and WIC Staff: "There is a Doctor That Told Us That the Tap Water is Good"

In addition, influenced by experience in the East-Central African context, several women mentioned medical staff as the major actors in their perceptions of water quality after resettlement in the United States. A refugee mother confidently asserted: "There is a doctor that told us that the tap water is good. If it was bad, they would have told us, 'You should stop,' you should use the bottles (bottled water)." She mentioned, "When we go to the hospital, they ask. Also, at WIC, they ask, 'Do you mix your water?' Me too, I ask the question, and he [the doctor] said, 'it's good." The questions asked at the hospital when one goes for postnatal checkups, as well as the visits to WIC centers, convince her that the tap water is indeed good. Similarly, Ally shares that "the tap water, I know already that it's good water" because the nurse who came to visit her after her baby was born in 2021 told her that the water was good for making formula. Yet Ally, like many of the other participants, primarily drinks bottled water.

Resettlement Agencies: "Our Case Worker Told Us That This Water is Dirty"

Most participants also mentioned that, upon arrival in the U.S, the resettlement agency did not provide bottled water. Chally, for example, explains that, "The first time I came here [to the United States], I drank sink water. They [the agency] didn't buy water. They gave us soda, milk, juice, [and] no water. So, I took [it] directly from [the] tap. They never said it was bad."

Although Chally does not recall the agency saying anything about the quality of the tap water, some other participants shared that the resettlement agency workers explicitly mentioned that they should drink the tap water. Therese restates that "They [the Resettlement Agency] said to drink the tap water when you want." Yvonne said her family's caseworker encouraged them to drink tap water. "She [resettlement caseworker] said to drink tap water."

Some resettlement agency case workers expressly warned participants against drinking bottled water. Yvonne shared, "When we first arrived, our case worker told us that this water (pointing to bottled water) is dirty... She said to drink tap water." Yet although resettlement agencies encourage participants to drink tap water, many revert to buying and drinking bottled water, as influenced by their neighbors and other nurturers.' Further details are provided in the section below titled "Post-resettlement Nurturers."

Pre- and Post-Resettlement Nurturers in Water Quality Perceptions and Safety Practices Pre-Resettlement Nurturers: "If There is No Water, [My Husband] Did Not Like That"

Prior to resettlement, in the African contexts, there are family members and community members that teach participants how to address water contamination. Family members often expected the women and/or the mother in the home to secure potable water. In Uganda, for example, where water contamination and cholera epidemics are rampant, Patience's husband expected her to ensure that she secure water. She was then to boil and store it adequately. He expected that there should be always enough clean water in the house. Patience goes on to explain that "if there is no water, with the children, he [husband] did not like that. He would always tell me, fill up the containers, you should not lack water." In this instance, her husband would be a nurturer.

This pressure put some strain on Patience. The situation of having to boil water for safety was perceived as an additional work burden "because in Uganda, I don't know, it [boiling water] was like work" (Patience). The lack of access to potable water was also a source of emotional distress. The strain and additional work required to ensure water was sterilized (via boiling) and

stored fell on the woman. Participants who lived in refugee camps often had to ration clean water. This practice of rationing water has become an ingrained habit that even continues in the United States. As Matilda put it, "With refugees, especially those coming from camps, [potable] water is so rare that when they get it ... it's like, this is how much we have, we have to make it last this long. So, you know, yeah, they don't drink water that much."

Post-Resettlement Nurturers: "In Apartments, All the Africans, Everybody is Buying Water"

Although the resettlement agency, caseworkers, and health professionals may encourage participants to drink tap water, neighborhood-level nurturers greatly influence their drinking water practices. For example, upon arrival, many African refugees in Greensboro are resettled in low-cost apartment complexes. Upon arrival, participants shared that their resettlement agency seldom provides bottled water. Rather the caseworkers encourage refugee families to drink tap water. But as the newly resettled refugees begin to mingle and get to know their fellow African neighbors living in the apartment complexes. They notice that their neighbors do not drink tap water; rather, they buy bottled water.

As Fanta, originally from Burundi, stated, "All the neighbors from Africa, and you know I was living in apartments, all the Africans, everybody is buying water. Then I asked why don't you drink the tap water? They said No, here you buy." Fanta herself believed that tap water was safe; however, because Africans in the neighborhood all bought water, she also felt compelled to purchase and buy bottled water instead of drinking tap water. Matilda, a graduate, also shared her experience:

But then when they get here [to the U.S.], the other thing is that they see everyone else, you know, using the bottles to drink water. And, you know, using the tap water to cook,

and do the dishes and do everything else. So, they continue to do it, like in every refugee household. They will go to bottled water.

Similarly, for participants who had moved at least once or more times since they arrived in the United States, they often continued the same drinking water practices they had seen when they first arrived. Sarah, for example, shares that when she first arrived in the U.S., the family that she lived with used bottled water, rather than tap water. So, she got used to it. She continued using bottled water when she got married and moved to her husband's house. She does not think that tap water was bad. In fact, she believes that it is safe.

However, because she was already used to drinking bottled water, she avoids drinking from the faucet and would rather buy water. When asked about what she would do when there is no bottled water in the house, she said she would go to the store to purchase it, or she would just drink juice. This practice of drinking bottled water rather than tap water is sometimes assumed and understood among fellow African friends and neighbors. If she were to go to a fellow African friend's home, the friend would know to serve bottled water, not tap water. However, if she were to go to an outsider's home, she would simply drink whatever was offered to her: "If I come to your house and if you don't have this (pointing to bottled), I will drink the tap water." Drinking water practices in the U.S. therefore seemed to differ depending on the setting. *Convenience and Drinking Water Practices: "It is the One That is Nearest to Me That I Drink"*

However, it is important to note that this emphatic preference for bottled water is not always honored. Although some participants prefer exclusive bottled water, some drink both bottled and tap water. Ultimately, it came down to availability for most participants. For example, Therese, a mother in her mid-20s, explicitly mentioned during her interview that she

avoids tap water at all costs because of its taste and safety concerns. Yet, a few months before her interview, while at a community event, she had asked me for water. At the time, she may have been about 7 months pregnant. I told her that there was only tap water. Given the availability of just tap water in an environment with little to no other option, she agreed to drink tap water. Susie, a 50-something-year-old grandmother, succinctly explains this situation: "It is the one that is nearest to me that I use." Yvonne also said she does not "decide [between tap and bottled]. If I feel like drinking, I drink." Hence, although all participants drink bottled water, some mix tap and bottled water.

Discussion

This study sought to elucidate African refugee women's perceptions of their tap water quality and the water safety practices in which they engage. The results indicated that preresettlement knowledge, enablers (structural forces), and nurturers (extended family, friends, and community influences) informed their post-resettlement water quality perceptions and practices in the U.S. Tap water quality perceptions and water safety practices centered on pathogenic contamination, rather than non-pathogenic pollution such as lead exposure. Specifically, on lead contamination in tap water, participants' awareness of the possibility of having lead in tap water was minimal.

This was in line with the experiences they had in the East-Central African context. Additionally, enablers in East Africa including the education system, medical professionals, water, sanitation and hygiene professionals dictated what most participants knew about water quality. While nurturers including family and community members who taught the women how to eliminate pathogens in water, were key influences of water quality perceptions in this study. Generally, the water quality experience in the country where the participant lived immediately before coming to the U.S. influenced how she perceived her water quality, regardless of the water situation where she was born or had grown up in.

Although more than half of the participants shared that they trusted the water, they all preferred bottled or filtered water. This aligns with results in other studies focusing on immigrant groups (Reese et al., 2023; Rosinger et al., 2022; Scherzer et al., 2010). Given the lack of literature on diverse groups of immigrants and refugee groups, I am gleaning from past studies that have included at least one immigrant group, not exclusively African refugee groups. Latinx immigrant populations are the predominant immigrant group explicitly delineated and included in past studies. A study, for example, using 2013 American Housing Survey data, found that individual and household socioeconomic status indicators, such as racial or ethnic minority status, informed the perception of tap water quality. Another study that surveyed 208 participants (9% Latino, 79% African American) concluded that respondents preferred bottled water over tap water (Huerta-Saenz et al., 2012). However, unlike several other studies that showed that minority groups preferred bottled water, Huerta-Saenz et al. found no significant differences in water preferences among ethnic groups.

The current study focused on a specific racial and ethnic minority, namely African refugees, and found disinclination towards tap water. Results revealed a prevalence of the sociocultural belief that being able to afford bottled water is a sign of high social status (Howell et al., 2020). This societal assumption may contribute to participants opting for bottled water, rather than drinking tap water even when they believe that tap water is safe. This result is of importance to public health educators or water quality professionals who are seeking to better serve this unique group. In public health education interventions, it would be important to address this core belief, for sustainable impact.

As noted above, participants preferred bottled or filtered water over tap water, although most believed that tap water was safe. Stoler et al. (2015) identified four sets of factors that may make individuals rely on packaged water:

(1) The demographic hypothesis, i.e., residents who are younger, male, and poorer; (2) The knowledge hypothesis, i.e., residents who are less educated or unfamiliar with water treatment options; (3) The social attitudes hypothesis, i.e., residents who neither know anyone else who treats their water, nor have anyone encouraging them to do so; (4) The individual attitudes hypothesis, i.e., residents who perceive a need to treat their water or have low confidence in their ability to effectively treat their own drinking water. (p. 52-60)

Participants in the current study expressed uncertainty about where drinking water originated from. They wondered how the drinking water from the kitchen faucet could be the same water flowing through the toilet. This was a similar concern expressed in a study conducted in an urban slum in Ashaiman, Ghana (Stoler, 2015). Despite safe piped water access, lowincome households opted for packaged water. This preference for packaged water was partly linked to a lack of knowledge. Specifically, residents unfamiliar with water treatment options were more likely to opt for store-bought water, regardless of the cost associated with purchasing water. In this regard, an aspect that the current study adds to the existing literature is refugees' self-perceived lack of education on water sources and purification processes as a reason for avoiding tap water. This is an issue that public health educators can easily address.

Other participants in this study negatively perceived tap water and preferred bottled water over tap water because of its taste. Similar results were found in a recent cross-sectional study of 4,041 adults in the U.S. (Park et al., 2022). The authors found that the only significant

racial/ethnic interaction was between tap water taste and plain water intake. The study concluded that interventions focusing on tap water taste might help to increase water consumption. Comparably, in our study, it is possible that tackling the issue of tap water taste might contribute to addressing poor perceptions of tap water, especially in places where tap water is indeed safe.

For a few participants, drinking tap water induced health issues such as stomachaches, neck pains, and ill health. Pain associated with water intake has been studied in the past and has been linked to water quality compromises. Other studies have identified the occurrence of such pains with elevated fluoride, zinc, and copper levels in the water. For example, elevated fluoride levels in water have been linked to gastric irritation, presenting symptoms such as gastric pain and nausea (Riggs et al., 1990). In addition, past accounts have reported anecdotal evidence from people who seem sensitive to fluoride and have reported having gastric irritation and body pains, among other symptoms (Connett et al., 2010).

Lead poisoning has also been associated with body pains (Ayoob & Gupta, 2007; Jamshaid et al., 2018; Mitra et al., 2017; Pizarro et al., 2001; Ugran et al., 2017; Wani et al., 2015). Early symptoms of lead toxicity include joint pains. Symptoms of chronic exposure to lead include abdominal pain, nausea, and vomiting (Patrick, 2006). However, the current study provides anecdotal accounts of bodily pain and ill health associated with drinking tap water. It does not consider the reason behind the symptoms. Therefore, investigating the relationship between the symptoms the participants described and any water quality compromises is beyond the scope of this study. Nonetheless, for future studies, it may be helpful to delve deeper into the prevalence of negative health symptoms and their connection to tap water consumption. In addition, it is important to see if these reports of poor health outcomes are associated with compromises in tap water quality.

Specifically, on knowledge about lead exposure in water, participants in this study had minimal knowledge about lead contamination in water. Studies focusing on lead exposure awareness among African refugee groups living in the U.S. are sparse. However, a few studies have considered knowledge about lead exposure among Africans living in Africa. Olewe et al. (2009), for example, conducted a study on lead exposure in a Kenyan slum in East Africa. When 359 adults were asked if they knew about lead, only 5% of this sample knew something about lead. In addition, over 95% of this group did not know of possible sources of exposure to lead. Other studies have also revealed a very low awareness of lead exposure and its effects in several African countries (E. Adebamowo et al., 2006; E. O. Adebamowo et al., 2006; Haman et al., 2015). This is concerning because lead levels have been known to be disproportionately high in pre-resettlement and post-resettlement settings where refugees live and work.

Some studies have found exposure to lead unacceptably high in certain African urban areas, including in Lubumbashi, DRC, and South Africa (Obadia et al., 2018). Some of this exposure to lead in the African setting is due to water pollution. Concentrations of toxic metals such as lead exceed guidelines in some river waters in South Africa and the DRC (Addo-Bediako et al., 2018; Atibu et al., 2016). Others have found that lead levels in groundwater exceed WHO, US-EPA, and EU drinking water maximum contaminant levels (Atibu et al., 2013; Muhaya et al., 2021; Muhaya & Badarhi, 2022). The same trend in high lead levels in drinking water was found in South Africa, Uganda, and Kenya (Addo-Bediako et al., 2018; Bamuwamye et al., 2022; Kasozi et al., 2019). These are all countries where the refugees in this study lived before resettling in the U.S. This exposure to lead may continue even after arrival in the United States (Dignam et al., 2019; Edwards et al., 2009). Refugees are often placed in low-income housing with an increased risk of having unmaintained piping and contaminated water (Allaire et al.,

2018; Gilbert et al., 2010; Hanna-Attisha et al., 2016; National Immigration Law Center, 2018). Hence, it is concerning that there is little to no knowledge about lead exposure in tap water and its health consequences.

Participants believed in boiling or medicating tap water to address their water safety concerns. Unfortunately, boiling and medication would not address the issue in the U.S., where heavy metal contamination, such as lead exposure in water, is prevalent in some low-income housing. Furthermore, boiling water does not reduce lead levels but may increase them (Minnesota Department of Health, 2022). Rather, there are simple, low-cost remediation measures to mitigate exposure to lead via drinking water. For instance, the US EPA recommends using only cold water to prepare food and drinks (United States Environmental Protection Agency, 2022).

In other words, public health education may encourage flushing water outlets before drinking and food preparation. Such education could also include information on using cold water to make food or drinks and regularly cleaning out faucet aerators and outlet screens. This result and related implications are noteworthy partly because of a previous pilot study presented at the 2021 United States Coalition on African Immigrant Health Conference on African Immigrant Health. The pilot study revealed that this population uses hot water directly from the tap to make tea, hot chocolate or for cooking purposes (Odetola et al., 2021). These study implications are especially important in low-income accommodations, where household water systems have tested high for lead. It is also relevant in homes with plumbing fixtures, welding solder, and pipe fittings made before 1986 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022c).

Strengths and Limitations

This study has several strengths and limitations that are important to note. Given the semi-structured nature of the interview guide, some questions were not pre-determined but emerged as the interview unfolded. Hence all participants were not asked the exact questions. This fluidity in the interview guide may have led to interview variability. It is important to note that such flexibility is important for this exploratory study and provides a venue for probing and delving deeper into the topic. A rigid set of structured questions would have presented a disadvantage to collecting rich data in this study.

The women spoke retrospectively about their pre-resettlement experiences. They may therefore have shared their stories with some recall bias simply because individuals seldom have a complete picture of what happened in the past. However, despite potential recall bias, including their pre-resettlement circumstances in data collection and analysis is still important. These give a historical context, informing a more comprehensive understanding of the topic. Finally, this study focused on a small group and solely explored women's perspectives, limiting its generalizability. Nonetheless, the focus on refugee voice that is otherwise missing in water quality research is noteworthy and should provide a foundation for future larger-scale studies to build on.

Conclusion

This study revealed that although most participants perceive their water as safe, they still opt for bottled water. Studies focusing on refugee populations and their tap water perceptions are sparse. Past research has, however, shown a disparity between immigrants and the native-born population, indicating immigrants' preference for bottled water rather than tap water (Colburn & Kavouras, 2021; Huerta-Saenz et al., 2012; Scherzer et al., 2010). Most of these studies among

immigrants have focused primarily on Hispanic groups. A recent review, for example, revealed that Latinx adults consistently drink less tap water and more bottled water than their non-Hispanic counterparts (Colburn & Kavouras, 2021). Although our study was not comparative, it fills a critical gap in the literature by focusing on a uniquely different immigrant group, namely African refugee women.

Future studies should focus on testing water in housing where refugees are resettled. It is important that forthcoming studies seek to ascertain lead awareness levels among refugee groups. This should be from a communal and family-oriented perspective. Relatedly, future studies should also further delve into the root cause of ailments that participants attributed to drinking tap water. Our study will form the basis for larger-scale studies among this growing group in the United States.

CHAPTER V: "AFTER BIRTH ... YOU TAKE HOT WATER, AND PUT HERE": INTERROGATING WATER QUALITY AND PREGNANCY-POSTPARTUM PRACTICES AMONG AFRICAN REFUGEES

Abstract

Water plays a critical role in pregnancy and postpartum experiences. Some water-related practices benefit the mother and child, while some may harm their health. Unfortunately, there is limited research on refugee communities in the United States and their water use during pregnancy and postpartum. This study, therefore, seeks to answer the following questions: How do refugees use tap water during pregnancy and postpartum stages? Given the effect of water contaminants like lead on birth outcomes, what water safety practices do refugee women use to ensure potable water? This qualitative study evolves from a five-year ethnographic work. Through purposive and snowball sampling, I conducted key informant interviews with 12 African refugee women in Greensboro, North Carolina. I adopted the PEN-3 model to guide analyses. The results reveal unique cultural water practices, enablers, and nurturers critical to East-Central African refugee women's pregnancy and postpartum experiences. The study also discusses implications for public health educators, researchers, and maternal-child health specialists.

Introduction

Worldwide forced displacement is at its highest in decades (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2017). As of May 2022, over 100 million people were forcibly displaced globally (United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees, 2022b). The United States is receiving an increasing number of refugees from the African region. North Carolina is on the list of the top ten States that receive refugees in the U.S.(Baugh, 2022b). Upon arrival in the

U.S., refugees do not choose where to live. Instead, they are placed in a home that a refugee agency prepares for them. This house or apartment is stocked with food, furniture, and some home necessities.

Unfortunately, some of the housing where refugees are resettled are of poor quality. For example, Summit-Cone was an apartment complex in Greensboro, North Carolina, where Congolese refugees were often resettled. But a 2018 city inspection revealed hundreds of housing deficiencies and hazards plaguing the apartment complex. For example, a local newspaper described it as a "42-unit apartment complex riddled with deep potholes and broken glass" (Bueter, 2018; D. Ford, 2018). Residents also reported other water-sanitation horror stories, sharing that "sometimes the worms were coming from the basement because the basement was full of sewage" (Ford, 2018), while city inspectors found over 466 violations, including dysfunctional faucets and leaking sewer lines (Bueter, 2018; D. Ford, 2018).

Broadly speaking, individuals like refugees living in such low-resource neighborhoods may be disproportionately exposed to unmaintained faucets and poor water quality Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022b). According to the CDC, the most common sources of contaminants like lead in drinking water are lead faucets, pipes and plumbing fixtures. No amount of lead is known to be safe. Exposure to even low levels of lead in water is linked to higher perinatal morbidity risk.

Immigrant women from conflict-zone countries are at a higher risk of neonatal mortality and morbidity than their native-origin counterparts (Behboudi-Gandevani et al., 2022). Although there is very little research on the extent of water contamination in refugee households and its effect on pregnancy outcomes, it is important to understand how refugee women use water. Water is critical during pregnancy and postpartum (Collins et al., 2018; Shewamene et al., 2017).

So, knowing how refugees use tap water during pregnancy and postpartum stages would be constructive. Given the effect of water contaminants like lead on birth outcomes, what water safety practices do refugee women use to ensure potable water? Unfortunately, there is a dearth of information on water-related practices that refugee groups engage in during pregnancy and postpartum phases in the U.S. This study, therefore, sought to begin to fill that gap by addressing the following question and sub-questions:

What water-related practices do African refugee women use to ensure positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences?

- a. Are there unique water-related practices that occur during pregnancy and postpartum stages?
- b. How do they carry out these water-related practices for pregnancy when in the U.S.?

Methods

The Institutional Review Board at the University of North Carolina Greensboro approved this study.

Approach

This study resulted from 5 years of ethnographic immersion in local immigrant-refugee communities in Greensboro, North Carolina. Over the last 5 years, under the guidance of Dr. Sharon Morrison, I engaged in cultural immersion, participant observation, and informal conversations on the lived experiences of African refugee women in Greensboro. I completed this fieldwork in immigrant-refugee homes, at the Center for New North Carolinians community events, and UMOJA Group events. Umoja (which means unity in Swahili) was founded to help immigrant and refugee women adapt to life in America (Harrison, 2017). The main objective was for Congolese and other East-central African refugee women to have the support and structures they needed to thrive. The women defined success in their own terms. For example, during monthly UMOJA meetings, women expressed a variety of viewpoints on success linked to being successful in America. They mentioned having safe housing and celebrating healthy and happy pregnancies.

This study, therefore, builds on my foundational ethnographic work. My research perspective is broadly social constructivist in nature; however, my focus is on water quality-related knowledge, attitudes, perceptions, and practices. Constructivist research approaches suggest that "reality is socially constructed" (Mertencs, 2005, p. 12; Cohen & Manion, 1994, p. 36) and therefore seek to understand human experience. The constructivist researcher heavily relies on the participant's description of the situation of interest (Creswell, 2003). Relatedly, constructivists seldom begin with a theory; rather, they allow an inductive generation of a theory across the research process (Creswell, 2003). Particularly, I sought to identify the underlying experiences around water quality during pregnancy and postpartum in African refugee families. In this study, African refugee water-related pregnancy and postpartum experiences can be considered a subculture of immigrant maternal health.

Recruitment and Data Collection

I employed purposive and snowball sampling in this study (Patton, 2002; Suri, 2011). Purposive sampling occurred as I reached out to women in the local African community who I already knew. Snowball sampling occurred when refugees who had completed the study referred me to other refugees. In purposive sampling, participants were selected because they matched criteria relevant to the research questions. In addition, these participants were selected because

they could provide information that addresses the study's aims. As Etikan et al. (2016) explained, in purposive sampling, "the researcher decides what needs to be known and sets out to find people who can and are willing to provide the information by virtue of knowledge or experience" (p. 2). African refugee women (above 18 years old) are the participants whose perspectives are needed to answer the research questions (see Table 4).

ID	Country of Birth	Refugee Residence	Age	Arrival In U.S. (year)	Number of children	Highest Degree
Yvonne1	DRC	Burundi	~50	2017	5	Professional Degree
Patience2	DRC	Uganda	~40	2014	3	High School
Therese3	DRC	Burundi	~25	2018	2	Less than High School
Bridgette4	DRC	Tanzania	28	2019	3	Less than High School
Susie5	DRC	Burundi	49	2017	5	High School
Chally6	DRC	South Africa	33	2013	4	Less than High School
Sarah7	Rwanda	Burundi	24	2018	1	Less than High School
Fanta8	Burundi	South Africa	42	2015	4	Less than High School
Ange9	DRC	~	41	2007	5	Vocational Training
Matilda10	Burundi	Kenya	46	2008	3	Graduate
Ally11	DRC	Kenya	40	2014	3	High School

Table 4. Participant Demographics

A total of 12 women were included in the study. Eleven interviews and field observations occurred in the home of the participants. One interview occurred in the participant's office, which worked best for her work schedule. I conducted interviews in English or French. French interviews were translated and transcribed into English. A brief demographics questionnaire provided a profile of each interviewee. The women were born in the Democratic Republic of Congo, Rwanda, and Burundi. The purpose of meeting with these women was to delve further into the research questions and learn more about their water-related pregnancy and postpartum experiences. Herein lies the importance of immersing myself in the community over an extended period. I had the opportunity to build relationships with them, and they were comfortable inviting me into their homes.

Data Analysis

Analyses began after about two thirds of the interviews had been conducted. For data analysis, all participant data was anonymized, with pseudonyms assigned to each participant. I conducted thematic analysis without an a priori theoretical framework, given the exploratory nature of this study (Ziebland & McPherson, 2006). I wanted to be careful to not exclude salient results, simply because they are outside the scope of my preconceived ideas.

In the analysis process, I used the 'The Sort and Sift, Think and Shift' qualitative data analysis approach (referred to hereafter as Sort and Sift). Developed and fine-tuned over 2 decades, Sort and Sift is an iterative process in which researchers dive into qualitative data and then take a step back to assess what they have learned. Researchers are then to connect findings to current trends in the field before eventually detailing implications. Sort and Sift analysis tools include the Initial Learning Period (ILP), Quotation identification and data inventory, Diagramming, Memoing, and Episode profiles. I primarily adopted three analytical tools: quotation inventory, diagramming, and memoing. As I progressed through the data, these initial analysis activities informed the episode profiles and the list of topics to be monitored.

As coding was on-going, I would reread the data collected under each category several times to gain a deeper and clearer understanding of the scope of topics within each category

(Spencer et al., 2014,82). At this point, I met Dr. Sharon Morrison to discuss emerging themes. Upon reviewing and revising the themes, I coded 10% (n=2) of the interviews with another coder, an undergraduate student and a member of the African refugee community.

Adapting the PEN-3 Cultural Model

I applied Airhihenbuwa's PEN-3 cultural model to further organize study findings. The PEN-3 model (see Figure 6) was developed to centralize culture in research studies and interventions focusing on health beliefs, behaviors, and outcomes (Iwelunmor et al., 2014).

Figure 6. The PEN-3 Cultural Model (Iwelunmor et al., 2014)



The model consists of three primary domains:

- The cultural Identity domain comprises Person, Extended Family, and Neighborhood (PEN) – highlighting the focus of the health behavior interventions
- The Relationship and Expectation domain includes Perceptions, Enablers, and Nurturers (PEN) – indicating the main influences of behavior.
- 3. The Cultural Empowerment domain focuses on Positive, Existential, and Negative factors (PEN) demonstrating the impact of behavior on health.

I applied Airhihenbuwa's PEN-3 cultural model to organize study findings. I identified positive, existential, and negative pregnancy and postpartum water-related practices, enablers and nurturers. This level of analysis informed implications for targeted public health education.

Findings

Positive Water-Related Practices to Prevent Diseases and Promote Health

The major theme for positive water-related pregnancy and postpartum practices is Healing & Health. Water is used to promote health, prevent disease, and relieve the ailing woman. Water is crucial in promoting positive pregnancy experiences during pregnancy. Several women emphasized using showers to start the day energetically (see Figure 7).

Figure 7. Water-Related Pregnancy and Postpartum Practices Among African Refugee Women

 Pre-resettlement
 Douching
 Post-resettlement

 Holy Water Use
 Douching
 Low Water Consumption
 Douching

 Boil & Cool Water
 Drink Tap Water
 Drink Bottled Water
 Drink Cold

 Postpartum Shower
 Recover in Cold Water
 Drink Cold

Patience, a young mother of three children from the DRC, shared,

Even when you are pregnant. You may be uncomfortable and all. But if you take a shower at 6 am, 5 am, very early in the morning, all day you will be good. It can be hot water, as long as it's early in the morning. But many people use cold water. I used cold water, when I was pregnant with these two, I was with my elder sister. Every morning at 6 am, 5 am, I have to wake up. If I wake up at 8 am, 9 am, I will be weak all day.

Others, like Sarah, use hot water to massage swollen legs during pregnancy. This helps reduce the extent of the swelling. But, again, the role of water here is to promote a positive pregnancy experience.

Water continues to play a critical role for African refugee mothers postpartum. Patience noted that "they usually tell the woman after delivery, the first thing you have to do to regain strength is to take a shower. That's what we do at 6 am." Susie, a mother of five children in her 50s, corroborated, "If you have just given birth, you need to shower with hot water ... It is for the mother's health. You use hot water, very, very hot ... to remove the blood." Hot water stomach massage post-delivery was also emphasized and re-emphasized repeatedly. A middle-aged mother, who is a nurse, noted that "You take hot water, and put it here (places her hand on the stomach area), she lays down like this, and gently, gently, you massage. It is to clean up all the dirt that remains."

Water was also used in situations where there were some complications, such as an episiotomy—a surgical cut at the opening of the vagina during the birthing process. Ally described,

In Africa, when they know that it's the first baby. They will always do that [cut the vaginal opening] to add space for you [so the baby can come out easier]. After that, they [sew the cut back up]. But some people ... because maybe you have a big baby, the baby can make you like that [cause a vaginal tear].

She shared that she experienced such a cut which caused excruciating pain and discomfort. To alleviate the pain, Ally shared that she took medication and sought help, but to no avail. It wasn't until another woman encouraged her to sit in cold water that she finally found relief:

It took a long time to heal. Even [walking] was hard for me. Yeah, after like almost a month, I still [felt] bad. But one lady came, she said 'every morning you wake up early. And go put water in the big shower. Then you sit down there, with the cold water.' Hmm it helped oh! Early in the morning, like you know the water is very cold. When you use cold water, [within] one week you will heal.

Within a week or so of sitting in cold water, Ally's vaginal cut was able to heal. So, by the time she had her two other children, she knew what to do. She simply resorted to sitting in very cold water to speed up the healing process.

The Existential Use of Holy Water

Water also has a crucial role in religious and cultural settings. Women report the use of holy water during pregnancy and postpartum stages. Holy water is the water that the priest has prayed for. Sarah, a 24-year-old mother, for example, shared, "I am Catholic. So, during the service, the priest prays for the water." She explains that during the postpartum stage, water continues to be important for spiritual well-being. She specifies that after birth, the priests "pray for the water, and for the baptism of the child, they put it on the child's forehead."

Patience, a Congolese mother of three, further expounds that holy water can also be water pastors bring from River Jordan. She explains, "Sometimes there are pastors who come from where they baptized Jesus, [river] Jordan. There are pastors that take water from there to bring, and they sell it." She then explains that holy water "is for blessings. You can drink it. You can shower with it." In addition, it is believed to "get rid of demons, curses." Interestingly, women who used holy water reported discontinuing this practice in the United States "because here is not like at home, in Africa" (24-year-old Rwandan mother).

Negative Water Practices during Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages: "Lavement" (Enema or Anal Douching)

"Lavement" (Enema or Anal Douching) with warm water is another common practice among the interviewed women. A Congolese refugee nurse, Yvonne, described 'lavement' as "You put water in the anus. It goes directly into the stomach and cleans it out. When they do lavement, and put in hot water, really that puts the mother in good health." She explained that after the enema, the mother "will have the desire to eat, and she will also recover her strength quickly." Susie gives further detail on what are believed to be the benefits of a postpartum enema:

After one or two weeks (postpartum), you do 'lavement.' It heals the sores. If you have just given birth, you will likely have sores in your intestines, yeah, in the stomach. So ... you use water for the lavement - hot water. And to avoid disease, especially to avoid fever, what we call malaria, after delivery ... Because if you've just given birth, most women have a fever.

As several women stated, not all women engage in an enema. The nurse noted,

There are some who don't do 'lavement,' they take medication ... They just give them antibiotics at the hospital. And they tell them to drink a lot of hot tea. She takes hot water ... and the antibiotics to take care of infections. Since if a woman is bleeding, the door is open to infections. So now you have to give her antibiotics, antibiotherapy to address infections of the genital routes.

Hence in this population, enema is believed to prevent postpartum infection and disease. Women continue enema even after arrival in the United States. Susie said, "Even me, I bought something for lavement here in America from a lady. They sell it for lavement. They [African

women] are really doing lavement here." Those not practicing enemas often resort to Western medication to address infections or illnesses.

Enablers in Water-Related Practices during Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages

As a reminder, enablers are structural factors that may enhance or discourage certain behaviors or practices. Enablers can include government officials, employers, availability of resources, and types of services (e.g., traditional medicine). Participants reveal several enablers in their adoption of pregnancy and postpartum water-related practices. For example, before resettlement in the U.S., women were still expected to keep working hard to ensure their families had access to clean water, even during pregnancy. They were expected to secure water, ensure it was boiled, and appropriately stored. Patience described it as:

In Uganda ... it was like work. Boiling water ... and if there is no water, with the children ... He [my husband] did not like that. He would always tell me, fill up the containers, you should not lack water. He did not like it when there was no water.

Some perceived this societal expectation as perfectly normal. Bridgette, for instance, confidently affirms that: "Pregnancy is not sickness. Pregnancy does not affect your hands (smacks her hands together, as if to show that her hands are free to work). You have to work." Hence the enabler is the societal expectation that even when advanced in pregnancy, the woman is expected to continue the often physically demanding task of securing water for the family.

Relatedly, an important enabler is a societal stance that "water is life." Before she resettled, Ally lived in a community where drinking water was emphasized in the classroom. Due to this exposure to the educational system and the societal belief that water is crucial to life, she drank a lot of water. However, upon arrival in the U.S., the weather can be much colder than

what African refugee mothers are used to. This contributed to some women drinking less water, as they did not feel thirsty as often. Ally shares that:

Well now that I am here (In America), the truth is that I drink much less water because it is cold here. I like to drink water when the sun is hot and I feel refreshed. But here it is so cold, I drink less water now. And when I am not drinking enough water, I feel pains on the bottom corner of my sides (pointing to the sides). So that's how I know that I have not been drinking enough water. And then I get up and go get water and drink.

The colder weather in North Carolina contributed to one of the participants drinking less water in the U.S.

Participants perceived health practitioners and nurses as key enablers in their waterrelated practices. For example, Ally shared,

The nurse can come visit you, like that time, when I had this one (her last child). [It] was that time when Corona was bad. So, the nurse, they're like, they're scared to come in the house because of COVID. But they keep calling you to ask you some questions ... They tell you to use tap water (for formula) ... Yeah, they tell you to use tap water. They tell you tap water is good water, you should use it, even for me.

Other participants reiterated the scenario that during pregnancy and after delivery, their doctors and nurses encouraged them even to use the water for formula. So, they believed that if the doctor is encouraging them to use the water for the baby's formula feeding, then the water must be safe, and they can also use it without concern.

Nurturers in Water-Related Practices During Pregnancy and Postpartum Stages

In this study, nurturers are family members, friends, and community members who influence water practices during pregnancies and postpartum stages. Considering this, the

women highlight a diverse group of nurturers. For example, a refugee mother of three boys shares that women often receive advice from "the elders in the community, a grandmother, all the women in the community." As another mother put it, her nurturers showed her how to use water during pregnancy and postpartum when she was a new mother: "I knew nothing. But it was my aunt, my mum, someone who is elderly."

Yet another mother from Congo explains the input her own mother had in her water habits during pregnancy while she was in central Africa:

I remember, when I was at home, I had a friend who had a baby. When she had her baby, I remembered taking a look at the baby. The baby had a bunch of white stuff all over his face. I looked once, and that was it. I could not stand it. Later, I asked my mum why the baby had so much stuff all over his face like that. My mum said some women don't drink enough water during pregnancy, so their babies end up having the white stuff. Oh really? I asked my mum. "Are you sure?" And that was how I promised myself that when I get pregnant, I will drink a lot of water. I want my children to be born clean so bad that "I can kill myself to drink water when I'm pregnant. I can drink 5 liters."

After resettlement in the U.S., nurturers remain key influencers of water-related practices. For many of the women in this study, the elders, aunts, and mothers were in Africa. Hence other nurturers naturally emerged within a community-oriented setting. A Burundian refugee shares that: "Here [in the U.S.], there are the people from the church, the pastor's wife. When I deliver, they come, and they help me, then they go to their homes." She provides examples of waterrelated activities the nurturers support. "When you deliver, it is important that you take hot water to bathe yourself, to massage yourself ... with hot water, very hot water, and with towels. Those
who come to visit ... will then massage you." These helpers were viewed as key nurturers for a positive and healthy postpartum experience.

Discussion

Water Practices During Pregnancy

This study revealed that water practices are essential in promoting positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences among East-Central African refugees. For instance, several participants testified that using water to massage swollen legs during pregnancy was helpful. Sudden swelling may signify preeclampsia - hypertension during pregnancy (United Kingdom National Health Service, 2021). However, preeclampsia is a rare disorder affecting 1 in 25 pregnancies (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022a). Thus, most swelling during pregnancy is normal, albeit uncomfortable. This swelling, or leg or foot edema, is caused by the body holding more water than usual during pregnancy. The good thing is that the swelling would usually disappear after pregnancy. Several women in this study shared that massaging swollen legs with hot water relieves discomfort. However, it is important for **health professionals** working with African refugee mothers to share clear signs of preeclampsia-related swelling that would necessitate a visit to the doctor. This will help the woman decide whether to continue massaging at home or to visit the doctor if she notices signs beyond the 'normal' swelling.

Past studies have also shown that warm water massages and immersing one's legs in warm water alleviate the discomfort, especially during the third trimester (Novelia et al., 2022; Watanabe et al., 2017). Some even recommend mixing the warm water with substances like Aromatic Ginger (Novelia et al., 2022). For **public health education professionals**, it would be helpful to encourage participants to continue to use hot water for massages with caution. Even

more importantly, it would be helpful also to encourage drinking more water during pregnancy (United Kingdom National Health Service, 2021).

Postpartum Water Practices

Participants in this study repeatedly discussed the use of hot water stomach massages after delivery. However, this was only applicable to women who underwent a natural birth, less so to those who had a cesarean section. This practice has been reported in other studies in East Africa, where traditional community birth attendants report sponging the woman's stomach to "remove the dirtiness in the abdomen" (Mahiti et al., 2015, p. 5). This practice, called umugwo, is also present in West Africa among the Nigerian Igbo tribe (Anugwom, 2007). An important aspect of umugwo consists of sponging and massaging the woman vigorously with hot water to remove the bad fluid. Similarly, participants in this study shared a similar practice to remove "dirt" or "bad blood." For health professionals and **public health education specialists**, this practice of hot water stomach massages is noteworthy. Scalding and burning during such massages have been reported in past studies. Hence, public health practitioners may remind refugee mothers to beware of extremely hot water to avoid casualties.

In the pre-resettlement context, participants identified nurturers, like mothers, aunts, or other older women, who are often involved in postpartum water practices. These are the women who give the participant the hot water massage. However, in the U.S., where the extended family and matriarchs may be absent, friends and the pastor's wife fill that void of nurturers. African migrant women in a Canadian setting expressed that such social factors are missing in their North American setting (Quintanilha et al., 2016). Groups like the UMOJA group, described in the methods section, help in providing some of that critical social support. For **public health education professionals and researchers**, it is important to include such nurturers in the

development of interventions and further studies. These individuals make up a support system that is critical in the use of water and the postpartum well-being of the mother.

The use of holy water was reported among some of the participants for blessings and to get rid of demons and curses. Other African groups also report using holy water during pregnancy and after birth. For example, some women in Zimbabwe receive holy water from their church (Mawoza et al., 2019). Right from the first trimester, they drink one cup three times daily or pour a cup of holy water in bathing water twice daily, several days a month. These practices protect the fetus during pregnancy and promote safe delivery. Amhara women in Ethiopia adopt a similar practice (Hannig, 2014). About 10-15 days after birth, a local priest visits the newborns and their mother's homes. The priest pours holy water on the mother, the midwife, and any other person who has come in close contact with the mother. Unfortunately, there is limited information on if such religious water-related practices are continued in the diaspora. The current study, therefore, begins to fill a unique gap in the literature by revealing that some refugee women allege to have discontinued them upon arrival in the U.S. **Public Health researchers** can build on this finding to explore this aspect of maternity care further.

This study also revealed that enemas are a common practice among the refugee women who were interviewed. Enema can be defined as "the injection of a liquid through the anus into the large bowel" (National Cancer Institute, n.d.). "Enemas are used during labor in obstetric settings with the belief that they reduce puerperal and neonatal infections, shorten labor duration, and make delivery cleaner for attending personnel" (Cuervo et al., 2006). A recent Cochrane review looked at the effects of the medical administration of enemas during the first stage of labor. The review found that enemas had no significant beneficial effect on neonatal infections and women's satisfaction. Yet several participants in the current study specifically mentioned

that postpartum mothers undergo enemas to prevent infections and enhance a positive postpartum experience. It is important to note here that the authors of the review were looking at professionally administered enemas within the clinical setting, whereas the participants were referring to hot water enemas within the comfort of their homes.

Indeed, enemas appeared to be one of this population's most mentioned water-related practices. But unfortunately, there have been case reports of rectal burns and other negative outcomes associated with enemas (Diarra et al., 2004; Schapira et al., 1996; Sternber et al., 1995; Zhu et al., 2022). It is therefore important that health professionals, including **maternal-child health experts** working with East-central African women, specifically discuss the postpartum practice of enemas in the home setting.

Strengths and Limitations

The current study has several limitations and strengths, which are important to note. First, the women spoke retrospectively about their water usage during pregnancy and postpartum. Postpartum or postnatal refers to the mother and child's first 6 weeks after birth (World Health Organization, 2022c). Although several women had infants, none were still in the pregnancy or postpartum period. Hence, this may have introduced some recall bias to the interview responses and discussion.

Another limitation is that for some of the women, the interview was not conducted in their mother tongue. This may have limited their freedom to freely express themselves and share their experiences. Nonetheless, given the absence of data on this population, the study helps fill a gaping void. It delves into water-related practices that may affect perinatal outcomes among a minority group.

The semi-structured nature of the interview is a strength. Participants may not have been asked the same questions verbatim. In such an exploratory study, relaying the equivalence of meaning is more important than the exact phrasing of each question (N. Denzin, 1989; McIntosh & Morse, 2015). Indeed, semi-structured interviews allow the interviewer to probe each participant's responses. Probes may be scripted or unstructured (Berg, 2001). Some researchers find that respondents can better express themselves when responding to unscheduled prompts. Herein lies the uniqueness and potential richness of data gathered through a semi-structured interview guide.

Conclusion

Despite these limitations, the current study lays a foundation that other researchers can build on, by addressing a critical knowledge gap in minority maternal-child health. The findings identify positive, negative and existential water-related practices that African refugee mothers engage in during pregnancy and postpartum stages. The positive practices are to be encouraged, while the negative water uses are to be addressed in a culturally appropriate manner. Important societal and cultural beliefs that inform pregnancy and postpartum practices are delineated in this study. This cultural context must be considered when interventions or implications are discussed. Future Studies should investigate the importance of religious water-related practices as these may play a critical role in perceived well-being during pregnancy and postpartum stages. Practitioners may also investigate maximizing enablers and nurturers that are defined in this study to maximize positive experiences of expecting mothers. The study therefore discusses implications for public health educators, researchers and maternal-child health specialists. These insights can inform future public health education interventions to promote positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences among African refugee groups.

CHAPTER VI: DISCUSSION

Study Purpose and Key Findings

This study explored water quality perceptions, water safety practices, and water-related pregnancy-postpartum customs among African refugee women in Greensboro, NC. Findings suggest that structural, cultural, and social actors influence how African refugee women perceive tap water, water safety practices, and water-related maternity customs. These actors were categorized based on the PEN-3 Cultural Model: Perceptions and Practices, Enablers, and Nurturers. (1) Generally, pre-resettlement water quality experiences in the country where the participant lived immediately before coming to the U.S. influenced how she perceived her water quality, regardless of the water situation in which she was born or had grown up. (2) Additionally, enablers in East Africa included the education system, medical professionals, and water, sanitation, and hygiene professionals. (3) Nurturers like family and community members who taught the women how to eliminate pathogens in water were key influences on water quality perceptions in this study.

Findings showed that African refugee women used water to prevent disease and promote health during pregnancy and postpartum. Practices like hot water stomach massage after delivery and sitting in ice-cold water while recovering from an episiotomy are positive practices that may be encouraged. However, the participants also identified other practices, such as hot water enema or post-delivery anal douching. Such practices have been shown to have negative effects. Enablers such as Health professionals and Nurturers, including pastors' wives and fellow refugee friends, were identified as key influencers in this study. Therefore, **an effective public health education intervention** may need to involve **key systemic players** (i.e., resettlement agencies, maternal-child health professionals, and the education system), and **relevant members of**

refugee women's support system, while addressing culturally unique water-related practices.

Research Significance

There are several implications of this study. At the **individual level**, public health education professionals are key stakeholders. We must provide not just education on water quality but also remediation steps. It is also crucial that we provide culturally tailored education that addresses some of the uniqueness of this population. For example, for water quality-related education interventions to benefit this population, it may be important to address the sociocultural belief that buying bottled water is a sign of high social status. This study also revealed the undeniable role of family members and neighbors in shaping individuals' water quality perceptions and pregnancy-postpartum practices. Hence, interventions may be more successful if a community-centered and family-oriented approach is adopted.

Specifically, on exposure to contaminants like lead in water, Harclerode et al. (2016) found the need to increase public awareness of lead contamination and improve knowledge about the contributing factors. Although they focused on lead pollution in soil, the same may apply to water contamination. Citizen science is a promising approach to addressing various environmental health issues in Africa and beyond. In addition, it is a promising approach to educating and engaging low-income communities with environmental issues. Citizen science can be defined as "the engagement of volunteers in science and research. Volunteers are commonly involved in data collection but can also be involved in initiating questions, designing projects, disseminating results, and interpreting data" (Haklay et al., 2021, p. 15). The common denominator of all Citizen Science is when volunteers collect and/or process data (Cooper &

Lewenstein, 2016). Citizen science is often implemented with outreach activities and science education among members of the public.

For **public health education and environmental health professionals**, citizen science may be a good option involving family and community members. In addition, citizen science may be a good venue to explore to ensure that knowledge, awareness, and positive water safety practices are effectively promoted. The key role of educational institutions and public health education units was also emphasized in this study. Participants shared that water quality education was provided in primary or secondary school, as well as awareness raised by public health professionals during water contamination outbreaks.

Community-based citizen science methods open new horizons for more effective health education interventions aimed at improving knowledge and understanding about contaminant exposure and human Health. Although citizen science has little visibility in East Africa, this tool has been gaining traction for its utility in science and raising awareness (Pocock et al., 2019). Recently, natural resource management and conservation experts in research and academic institutions, as well as in government and non-governmental organizations in Kenya, Uganda, and Tanzania, held a conference titled "Unlocking Africa's Potential for Citizen Science." They sought to characterize benefits, opportunities, and barriers to citizen science in East Africa. Some of the benefits they identified that would apply to water quality include increased awareness of water quality issues, the inclusion of marginalized and minoritized voices, and enhanced empowerment of all stakeholders leading to action. While a potential barrier to adopting CS in water quality would be a lack of interest, inadequate funding, and the threat of adverse repercussions such as legal action.

At the **systemic level** - resettlement agencies and health professionals are key in promoting adequate water quality awareness and practices. For example, the African refugee women in this study revealed that they look up to their doctors, nurses, and WIC professionals for information on water quality. Therefore, we must harness this confidence that participants already have in these stakeholders by involving them in raising awareness where necessary.

This awareness and education must go beyond just education around water contamination in the U.S., including zero to low-cost remediation efforts. For instance, resettlement agencies and health professionals could share information on tap water quality in the U.S., emphasizing that avoiding using hot water directly from the tap to make beverages or food is important. Another educational piece could be encouraging them to run their tap for a few minutes in the morning or after it has remained unused for over 6 hours (Ohio Public Health, 2016). This should minimize the chances of exposure to contaminants in water. In addition, to enhance positive pregnancy and postpartum experiences, physicians, nurses, and public health practitioners must consider unique water-related practices. Finally, relevant enablers and nurturers should be incorporated into future interventions for a sustainable impact on improving African refugee women's experiences.

At the **policy level**, a good policy to mandate water testing at the household level before refugees are resettled in the home may be effective. It is important to note that such a policy may discourage landlords from opening their apartment complexes to refugees. Hence such a policy may further aggravate the shortage of adequate housing for refugees. However, if such a policy is adequately developed and implemented, it may begin to identify some root causes for the disproportionately higher rates of contaminated tap water. Policymakers may consider offering incentives in a win-win situation for landlords, refugees, and policy stakeholders. Water deemed

contaminant-free at the water treatment center may become re-contaminated at the household level because of lead piping or aging plumbing and fixtures. Hence it is important that we also conduct household-level testing before resettling a refugee family in a home. Mandating testing is not to discourage landlords but to ensure that funding can be targeted to the homes that test high. This would be funding directed at household-level remediation rather than just systemslevel remediation.

Informing PEN-3 Model

This study was gendered and focused solely on women's perspectives and practices. Indeed, most studies on water, sanitation, and hygiene interventions in Sub-Saharan Africa have focused largely on women as primary household caretakers (Nowicki et al., 2022). However, contextual considerations and past studies reveal that women are especially least likely to enact changes if gender-based inequalities persist in the household and the community. Indeed, if cultural norms and social hierarchies limit their decision-making power, acting on information on water quality might be slow or impossible (Nowicki, 2022). For example, it may be challenging for a woman to decide whether the family should test their water or switch from bottled to tap water.

Similarly, due to cultural norms, a woman telling her support system that she would no longer want to engage in enemas or hot water rectal douching may come with opposition. But, again, this is where it is important to harness African refugee women's trust in the health and education system. For example, if the doctor, nurse, or WIC professional provides advice about addressing water quality concerns, the population is more likely to take it seriously and even act. Additionally, involving other key stakeholders in the household while engaging in women

empowerment efforts may begin to address some foundational barriers to addressing any negative water perceptions and practices.

Future Research

Future studies should focus on testing water in housing where refugees are traditionally resettled. In this regard, a citizen science project of a community-based participatory approach could be used to ensure that the voices of this often-marginalized population are heard. Lead is a highly toxic contaminant in water systems across the U.S. (Faherty, 2020; Jarvis & Fawell, 2021; Santucci & Scully, 2020). Yet refugee groups may be exposed before resettlement, and exposure may continue after resettlement in the U.S. Yet we know close to nothing about their overall awareness around lead exposure, its health effects, and how to minimize exposure. It is, therefore, also important that forthcoming studies seek to ascertain lead awareness levels among refugee groups. This should be from a communal and family-oriented perspective. Relatedly, future studies should also further investigate the root cause of ailments associated with drinking tap water. Is this a common complaint? Or is this unique to this refugee group? What might be causing such pains and health issues?

Regarding the pregnancy and postpartum phases, future studies should investigate the importance of religious water-related practices as these may play a critical role in perceived wellbeing during pregnancy and postpartum stages. Practitioners may also consider maximizing the role of enablers and nurturers defined in this study to improve pregnancy and postpartum experiences. Again, the goal is to minimize negative maternal-child health outcomes and promote positive maternal experiences.

REFERENCES

- Adatara, P., Strumpher, J., Ricks, E., & Mwini-Nyaledzigbor, P. P. (2019). Cultural beliefs and practices of women influencing home births in rural Northern Ghana. *International Journal of Women's Health*, *11*, 353. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJWH.S190402
- Addo-Bediako, A., Matlou, K., & Makushu, E. (2018). Heavy metal concentrations in water and sediment of the Steelpoort River, Olifants River System, South Africa. *African Journal of Aquatic Science*, 43(4), 413–416. https://doi.org/10.2989/16085914.2018.1524745
- Adebamowo, E., Agbede, O., Sridhar, M., & Adebamowo, C. (2006). Questionnaire survey of exposure to lead in the domestic environment in Nigeria. *Science of the Total Environment*, 372(1), 94–99.
- Adebamowo, E. O., Agbede, O. A., Sridhar, M. K. C., & Adebamowo, C. A. (2006). An examination of knowledge, attitudes and practices related to lead exposure in South Western Nigeria. *BMC Public Health*, 6(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-6-82/TABLES/3
- Agency for Toxic Substances & Disease Registry. (2020). *Toxicological Profile for Lead*. Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (1995). *Health and Culture: Beyond the Western Paradigm*. Sage.
- Ajayi, A. I., Nwokocha, E. E., Akpan, W., & Adeniyi, O. V. (2016). Use of non-emergency contraceptive pills and concoctions as emergency contraception among Nigerian University students: Results of a qualitative study. *BMC Public Health*, *16*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12889-016-3707-4/TABLES/1
- Al, M. E., Melancon, J., Oomen-Early, J., & del Rincon, L. M. (2009). Using the PEN-3 Model to Assess Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs about Diabetes Type 2 among Mexican

American and Mexican Native Men and Women in North Texas. *International Electronic Journal of Health Education*, *12*(2), 203–221.

- Alhusen, J. L., Bower, K. M., Epstein, E., & Sharps, P. (2016). Racial Discrimination and
 Adverse Birth Outcomes: An Integrative Review. *Journal of Midwifery & Women's Health*,
 61(6), 707–720. https://doi.org/10.1111/JMWH.12490
- Ali, S. I., Ali, S. S., & Fesselet, J. F. (2021). Evidence-based chlorination targets for household water safety in humanitarian settings: Recommendations from a multi-site study in refugee camps in South Sudan, Jordan, and Rwanda. *Water Research*, 189, 116642. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.WATRES.2020.116642
- Aliff, M., Majid, A., Othman, M., Mohamad, S. F., Abdul, S., Lim, H., & Yusof, A. (2017).
 Piloting for interviews in qualitative research: Operationalization and lessons learnt. *International Journal of Academic Research in Business and Social Sciences*, 7(4), 1080.
 https://doi.org/10.6007/IJARBSS/v7-i4/2916
- Allaire, M., Wu, H., & Lall, U. (2018). National trends in drinking water quality violations.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 115(9), 2078–2083.

https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1719805115/SUPPL_FILE/PNAS.201719805SI.PDF

American College of Obstetricians & Gynecologists (ACOG). (2019). *Lead Screening During Pregnancy and Lactation | ACOG*. https://www.acog.org/clinical/clinicalguidance/committee-opinion/articles/2012/08/lead-screening-during-pregnancy-andlactation

- Amodu, O. C., Salami, B. O., & Richter, M. S. (2021). Reproductive Health for ConflictAffected Displaced Women in Nigeria: An Intersectionality-Based Critical Ethnography
 Study. *Refugee Survey Quarterly*, 40(2), 224–238. https://doi.org/10.1093/RSQ/HDAB009
- Anadu, E. C., & Harding, A. K. (2000). Risk Perception and Bottled Water Use. Journal -American Water Works Association, 92(11), 82–92. https://doi.org/10.1002/J.1551-8833.2000.TB09051.X
- Andreassen, P., Christensen, M. K., & Møller, J. E. (2020). Focused ethnography as an approach in medical education research. *Medical Education*, 54(4), 296–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEDU.14045
- Anugwom EE. (2007). Childrearing and Infant Care Issues: A Cross-cultural Perspective. In *books.google.com*. Nova Publishers.
 https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=HBnfqWtXDRwC&oi=fnd&pg=PA155&d
 q=+CHILDREARING+IN+MOTHERS+AMONG+THE+IGBO+OF+SOUTHEASTERN+
 NIGERIA&ots=JooqdUHSQZ&sig=IEv7E2vkd9GsovcUhrdnEYSYcWk
- Atibu, E. K., Devarajan, N., Laffite, A., Giuliani, G., Salumu, J. A., Muteb, R. C., Mulaji, C. K., Otamonga, J. P., Elongo, V., Mpiana, P. T., & Poté, J. (2016). Assessment of trace metal and rare earth elements contamination in rivers around abandoned and active mine areas. The case of Lubumbashi River and Tshamilemba Canal, Katanga, Democratic Republic of the Congo. *Geochemistry*, *76*(3), 353–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemer.2016.08.004
- Atibu, E. K., Devarajan, N., Thevenon, F., Mwanamoki, P. M., Tshibanda, J. B., Mpiana, P. T.,
 Prabakar, K., Mubedi, J. I., Wildi, W., & Poté, J. (2013). Concentration of metals in surface
 water and sediment of Luilu and Musonoie Rivers, Kolwezi-Katanga, Democratic Republic

of Congo. Applied Geochemistry, 39, 26–32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APGEOCHEM.2013.09.021

- Ayoob, S., & Gupta, A. K. (2007). Fluoride in Drinking Water: A Review on the Status and Stress Effects. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10643380600678112*, *36*(6), 433–487. https://doi.org/10.1080/10643380600678112
- Aziato, L., Odai, P. N. A., & Omenyo, C. N. (2016). Religious beliefs and practices in pregnancy and labour: An inductive qualitative study among post-partum women in Ghana. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *16*(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-016-0920-1/FIGURES/1
- Bailey, A., Hutter, I., & Hennink M. (2020). Qualitative research methods. In *torrossa.com*. Sage. https://www.torrossa.com/gs/resourceProxy?an=5018483&publisher=FZ7200
- Balazs, C. L., & Ray, I. (2014). The drinking water disparities framework: On the origins and persistence of inequities in exposure. *American Journal of Public Health*, 104(4), 603–611. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2013.301664
- Bamuwamye, M., Ogwok, P., Tumuhairwe, V., Eragu, R., Nakisozi, H., & Ogwang, P. E.
 (2022). *Human Health Risk Assessment of Heavy Metals in Kampala (Uganda) Drinking Water*. Journal of Food Research. http://ir.must.ac.ug/xmlui/handle/123456789/2359
- Bassett, M. T., Chen, J. T., & Krieger, N. (2020). Variation in racial/ethnic disparities in COVID-19 mortality by age in the United States: A cross-sectional study. *PLOS Medicine*, *17*(10), e1003402. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PMED.1003402
- Baugh, R. (2022a). Fiscal Year 2020 Refugees and Asylees Annual Flow Report. https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/2022-
 - 03/22_0308_plcy_refugees_and_asylees_fy2020_1.pdf

- Baugh, R. (2022b). Fiscal Year 2020 Refugees and Asylees Annual Flow Report OFFICE OF IMMIGRATION STATISTICS. https://www.dhs.gov/sites/default/files/2022-03/22_0308_plcy_refugees_and_asylees_fy2020_1.pdf
- Baum, R., Amjad, U., Luh, J., & Bartram, J. (2015). An examination of the potential added value of water safety plans to the United States national drinking water legislation. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 218(8), 677–685. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2014.12.004
- Beach, B., Parman, J., & Saavedra, M. H. (2022). Segregation and the Initial Provision of Water in the United States. http://www.nber.org/papers/w29678
- Bede-Ojimadu, O., Amadi, C. N., & Orisakwe, O. E. (2018). Blood lead levels in women of child-bearing age in Sub-Saharan Africa: A systematic review. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 6, 367. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPUBH.2018.00367/BIBTEX
- Behboudi-Gandevani, S., Bidhendi-Yarandi, R., Panahi, M. H., Mardani, A., Prinds, C., & Vaismoradi, M. (2022). Perinatal and Neonatal Outcomes in Immigrants From Conflict-Zone Countries: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. *Frontiers in Public Health*, 10, 766943.

https://doi.org/10.3389/FPUBH.2022.766943/FULL

Berg, B. L. (2001). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences* (4th ed.). Allyn &
Bacon A Pearson Education Company.
http://repository.umpwr.ac.id:8080/bitstream/handle/123456789/3723/qualitative_research_
methods_for_the_social_sciences.pdf?sequence=1

Berger, R. (2015). Now I see it, now I don't: researcher's position and reflexivity in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, *15*(2), 219–234. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794112468475

- Blackstone, S. R., Nwaozuru, U., & Iwelunmor, J. (2018). Antenatal HIV Testing in Sub-Saharan Africa During the Implementation of the Millennium Development Goals: A
 Systematic Review Using the PEN-3 Cultural Model. *International Quarterly of Community Health Education*, 38(2), 115–128. https://doi.org/10.1177/0272684X17749576
- Brandau, M., & Davis, M. E. (2018). "I Need Someone": Adolescent Victims' Reflections on Cyberbullying Journal of Nursing and Health Care "I Need Someone": Adolescent Victims' Reflections on Cyberbullying. *J Nur Helth Care*, 1(1). https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4527-043X
- Brown, M., & Margolis, S. (2012). Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Lead in Drinking Water and Human Blood Lead Levels in the United States. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/27409
- Bueter, S. (2018). *Greensboro Inspectors Condemn Apartment Complex Where Refugee Children Died*. https://www.wfdd.org/story/greensboro-inspectors-condemn-apartmentcomplex-where-refugee-children-died
- Burns, J., Emerson, J. A., Amundson, K., Doocy, S., Caulfield, L. E., W Klemm, R. D., & Keller, H. (2016). A Qualitative Analysis of Barriers and Facilitators to Optimal Breastfeeding and Complementary Feeding Practices in South Kivu, Democratic Republic of Congo. *Food and Nutrition Bulletin*, *37*(2), 119–131. https://doi.org/10.1177/0379572116637947
- Burris, H. H., & Hacker, M. R. (2017). Birth outcome racial disparities: A result of intersecting social and environmental factors. *Seminars in Perinatology*, 41(6), 360–366. https://doi.org/10.1053/J.SEMPERI.2017.07.002

- Bwire, G., Orach, C. G., Aceng, F. L., Arianitwe, S. E., Matseketse, D., Tumusherure, E.,
 Makumbi, I., Muruta, A., Merrill, R. D., Debes, A., Ali, M., & Sack, D. A. (2021). Refugee
 Settlements and Cholera Risks in Uganda, 2016–2019. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 104(4), 1225. https://doi.org/10.4269/AJTMH.20-0741
- Caron-Beaudoin, É., Whyte, K. P., Bouchard, M. F., Chevrier, J., Haddad, S., Copes, R., Frohlich, K. L., Dokkie, D., Juul, S., Bouchard, M., & Verner, M. A. (2022). Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in indoor air and tap water samples in residences of pregnant women living in an area of unconventional natural gas operations: Findings from the EXPERIVA study. *Science of The Total Environment*, 805, 150242. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2021.150242
- Center for New North Carolinians. (n.d.). *The Center for New North Carolinians*. Retrieved February 19, 2023, from https://cnnc.uncg.edu/
- Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. (2019). National and State Housing Fact Sheets & Data / Center on Budget and Policy Priorities. https://www.cbpp.org/research/housing/nationaland-state-housing-fact-sheets-data
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020). *Water Disinfection with Chlorine and Chloramine | Public Water Systems | Drinking Water | Healthy Water | CDC.* https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/public/water_disinfection.html
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021a). *Populations at Higher Risk / Lead* . https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/prevention/populations.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2021b). *Public Water Systems / Drinking Water / Healthy Water / CDC*. https://www.cdc.gov/healthywater/drinking/public/index.html

- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022a). *High Blood Pressure During Pregnancy | cdc.gov*. https://www.cdc.gov/bloodpressure/pregnancy.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022b). *Lead in Drinking Water | Sources of Lead*. https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/prevention/sources/water.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022c). *Lead in Drinking Water | Sources of Lead | CDC*. https://www.cdc.gov/nceh/lead/prevention/sources/water.htm
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2022d). Overseas Refugee Health Guidance / Immigrant and Refugee Health / CDC.

https://www.cdc.gov/immigrantrefugeehealth/guidelines/overseas-guidelines.html

- Chakraborty, J., Collins, T. W., Grineski, S. E., Montgomery, M. C., & Hernandez, M. (2014).
 Comparing Disproportionate Exposure to Acute and Chronic Pollution Risks: A Case Study in Houston, Texas. *Risk Analysis*, *34*(11), 2005–2020. https://doi.org/10.1111/RISA.12224
- Chemuru, N. R., & Srinivas, S. C. (2015). Application of the PEN-3 Cultural Model in Assessing Factors affecting Adolescent Pregnancies in Rural Eastern Cape, South Africa. *Int J Reprod Fertil Sex Health*, *1*. https://doi.org/10.19070/2377-1887-SI01001
- Chen, J., Wu, H., Qian, H., & Gao, Y. (2017). Assessing Nitrate and Fluoride Contaminants in Drinking Water and Their Health Risk of Rural Residents Living in a Semiarid Region of Northwest China. *Exposure and Health*, 9(3), 183–195. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12403-016-0231-9
- Cheng, L., Zhang, B., Huo, W., Cao, Z., Liu, W., Liao, J., Xia, W., Xu, S., & Li, Y. (2017). Fetal exposure to lead during pregnancy and the risk of preterm and early-term deliveries. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 220(6), 984–989. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJHEH.2017.05.006

- City of Greensboro. (n.d.). *Water Treatment | Greensboro, NC*. Retrieved April 19, 2023, from https://www.greensboro-nc.gov/departments/water-resources/water-system/water-treatment
- Cleveland, L. M., Minter, M. L., Cobb, K. A., Scott, A. A., & German, V. F. (2008). Lead hazards for pregnant women and children: part 1: immigrants and the poor shoulder most of the burden of lead exposure in this country. Part 1 of a two. *The American Journal of Nursing*, *108*(10), 40–49.

https://journals.lww.com/ajnonline/fulltext/2008/10000/lead_hazards_for_pregnant_women _and_children__part.23.aspx?casa_token=EqNVHmI4oAQAAAAA:_228x7IM19pYD5z2 GTOCi8qgesyfGDKrkT_keHEbnBrNEqCZEuLsxozmbBr7bDMnARe2qTasbeuAV2-_IoMwWro

- Coghlan, B., Ngoy, P., Mulumba, F., Hardy, C., Bemo, V., Stewart, T., Lewis, J., & Brennan, R. (2007). *Mortality in the DeMocratic republic of congo An ongoing crisis*.
- Cohen, L., & Manion, L. (1994). Research Methods in Education. In *Routledge* (4th ed.). Routledge.
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2002). Research Methods in Education. In *Research Methods in Education*. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203224342/RESEARCH-METHODS-EDUCATION-LOUIS-COHEN-LAWRENCE-MANION-KEITH-MORRISON
- Colburn, A. T., & Kavouras, S. A. (2021). Tap Water Consumption and Perceptions in United States Latinx Adults. *Nutrients*, *13*(9). https://doi.org/10.3390/NU13092999
- Coley, R. L., Leventhal, T., Lynch, A. D., & Kull, M. (2013). Relations between housing characteristics and the well-being of low-income children and adolescents. *Developmental Psychology*, 49(9), 1775–1789. https://doi.org/10.1037/A0031033

- Collins, S. M., Mbullo Owuor, P., Miller, J. D., Boateng, G. O., Wekesa, P., Onono, M., & Young, S. L. (2018). 'I know how stressful it is to lack water!' Exploring the lived experiences of household water insecurity among pregnant and postpartum women in western Kenya. *Global Public Health*, *14*(5), 649–662. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2018.1521861
- Collins, T. W., Grineski, S. E., Chakraborty, J., Montgomery, M. C., & Hernandez, M. (2015).
 Downscaling Environmental Justice Analysis: Determinants of Household-Level Hazardous
 Air Pollutant Exposure in Greater Houston. *Annals of the Association of American Geographers*, 105(4), 684–703. https://doi.org/10.1080/00045608.2015.1050754
- Congressional Research Service. (2022). *Democratic Republic of Congo: Background and U.S. Relations*. https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/R/R43166
- Connett, P., Beck, J. S., & Micklem, H. S. (2010). *The case against fluoride : how hazardous waste ended up in our drinking water and the bad science and powerful politics that keep it there*. Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Cooper, C. B., & Lewenstein, B. v. (2016). Two meanings of citizen science. . *The Rightful Place of Science: Citizen Science*, 2, 51–62.
 https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C34&q=Cooper%2C+C.+B.%2C+%26+Lewenstein%2C+B.+V.+%282016%29.+Two+meanings+of+citizen+science.+The+rig htful+place+of+science&btnG=
- Craft-Blacksheare, M. G. (2017). Lessons Learned From the Crisis in Flint, Michigan Regarding the Effects of Contaminated Water on Maternal and Child Health. *JOGNN - Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing*, 46(2), 258–266. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jogn.2016.10.012

Creswell, J., & Creswell, J. (2017). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches*. Sage Publications.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=KGNADwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&d q=Creswell,+J.W.+(2003).+Research+design:+Qualitative,+quantitative,+and+mixed+meth ods+approaches.&ots=XDKfdd6cdX&sig=_X2iBTiECrqkhGOU-9giV6QZzXY

- Creswell, J. W., & Lundberg, C. C. (2003). Research design: qualitative, quantitative and mixed methods approaches. In *Organizational Research Methods* (Vol. 6, Issue 3). SAGE Publications.
- Creswell John, & Poth Cheryl. (2016). *Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches - John W. Creswell, Cheryl N. Poth - Google Books* (4th ed.). SAGE Publications.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=DLbBDQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq =Qualitative+inquiry+and+research+design:+Choosing+among+five+approaches:+Sage&o ts=-

- hu5adFNSs&sig=_kErhTKLJQfZmw6r9BxLO3ymlJ8#v=onepage&q=Qualitative%20inqui ry%20and%20research%20design%3A%20Choosing%20among%20five%20approaches% 3A%20Sage&f=false
- Cronin, A. A., Shrestha, D., Cornier, N., Abdalla, F., Ezard, N., & Aramburu, C. (2008). A review of water and sanitation provision in refugee camps in association with selected health and nutrition indicators-the need for integrated service provision. *Journal of Water and Health*, 6(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.2166/wh.2007.019
- Cuervo, L. G., del Pilar Bernal, M., & Mendoza, N. (2006). Effects of high volume saline enemas vs no enema during labour - The N-Ma Randomised Controlled Trial

[ISRCTN43153145]. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *6*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2393-6-8/PEER-REVIEW

- Cultural Orientation Resource Center. (2014). *Refugees from the DEMOCRATIC REPUBLIC OF THE CONGO*. https://cnnc.uncg.edu/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/COR-Congolese-Profile.pdf
- Dave, D. M., & Yang, M. (2020). Lead in Drinking Water and Birth Outcomes: A Tale of Two Water Treatment Plants. *NBER Working Papers*. https://ideas.repec.org/p/nbr/nberwo/27996.html
- Davies, A. A., Basten, A., & Frattini, C. (2009). Migration: A Social Determinant of the Health of Migrants International Organization for Migration (IOM) Background Paper. *Eurohealth*, 16(1), 10–12.

https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/document?repid=rep1&type=pdf&doi=810dd2337c806a8c6bd0 cfeaa844f33efb8a3cd1

- de França Doria, M. (2010). Factors influencing public perception of drinking water quality. *Water Policy*, *12*(1), 1–19. https://doi.org/10.2166/WP.2009.051
- Denzin, N. (1989). The Research Act: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Methods. In CIRS: Curriculum Inquiry and Related Studies from Educational Research: A Searchable Bibliography of Selected Studies (3rd ed.). Prentice-Hall. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/cirs/2032
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2008). The Discipline and Practice of Qualitative Research. In *The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research* (pp. 1–23). https://us.sagepub.com/sites/default/files/upm-assets/79661_book_item_79661.pdf

- Diarra, B., Roudie, J., Ehua Somian, F., & Coulibaly, A. (2004). Caustic burns of rectum and colon in emergencies. *The American Journal of Surgery*, 187(6), 785–789. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJSURG.2003.10.019
- Dignam, T., Kaufmann, R. B., Lestourgeon, L., & Brown, M. J. (2019). Control of Lead Sources in the United States, 1970-2017: Public Health Progress and Current Challenges to Eliminating Lead Exposure. *Journal of Public Health Management and Practice : JPHMP*, 25(Suppl 1 LEAD POISONING PREVENTION), S13. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHH.00000000000889
- Dodgson, J. E. (2019). Reflexivity in Qualitative Research. *Journal of Human Lactation*, 35(2), 220–222. https://doi.org/10.1177/0890334419830990
- Edwards, M., Triantafyllidou, S., & Best, D. (2009). Elevated blood lead in young children due to lead-contaminated drinking water: Washington, DC, 2001-2004. *Environmental Science and Technology*, *43*(5), 1618–1623.

https://doi.org/10.1021/ES802789W/SUPPL_FILE/ES802789W_SI_001.PDF

Erlandson, D. A., Harris, E. L., Skipper, B. L., & Allen, S. (1993). *Doing Naturalistic Inquiry: A Guide to Methods*. Sage.

https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=mOawndGmMsIC&oi=fnd&pg=PR17&dq =Doing+naturalistic+inquiry:+A+guide+to+methods.+Sage.&ots=4Ozy30wOOV&sig=FV hKZCJwBBIctcihMx64lVtFFXQ#v=onepage&q=Doing%20naturalistic%20inquiry%3A% 20A%20guide%20to%20methods.%20Sage.&f=false

Etikan, I., Abubakar Musa, S., & Sunusi Alkassim, R. (2016). Comparison of Convenience Sampling and Purposive Sampling. *American Journal of Theoretical and Applied Statistics*, 5(1), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ajtas.20160501.11

- Ettinger, A. S., Wengrovitz, A. G., & Portier, C. (2010). Guidelines for the identification and management of lead exposure in pregnant and lactating women. https://stacks.cdc.gov/view/cdc/11854
- European Union's Generalized Scheme of Preferences. (2020). *Democratic Republic of Congo*. https://gsphub.eu/country-info/Democratic%20Republic%20of%20Congo
- Ezeanolue, E. E., Pharr, J. R., Patel, D. V, Ezeanolue, C. O., Obiefune, M. C., Ogidi, A. G., &
 Ehiri, J. E. (2019). Supporting Providers: Tools and Insight From Health Promotion Practice
 Developing a Theoretical Framework for a Complex Maternal-Child Health Intervention:
 Health Beginning Initiative. *Health Promotion Practice*, 20(6), 941–950.
 https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839918782929
- Faherty, A. (2020). Tapped Out: How Newark, New Jersey's Lead Drinking Water Crisis Illuminates the Inadequacy of the Federal Drinking Water Regulatory Scheme and Fuels Environmental Injustice throughout the Nation.

Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10406026.2020.1848078, *33*(4), 304–327. https://doi.org/10.1080/10406026.2020.1848078

- Fedinick, K. P. (2021). *Millions Served by Water Systems Detecting Lead / NRDC*. https://www.nrdc.org/resources/millions-served-water-systems-detecting-lead
- Ferguson, K. T., Cassells, R. C., MacAllister, J. W., & Evans, G. W. (2013). The physical environment and child development: An international review. *Wiley-Blackwell*, 48(4), 437– 468. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207594.2013.804190
- Fetterman, D. (1989). *Ethnography Step by Step*. Sage Publications. https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C34&q=fetterman+Ethnography+St ep+by+Step+Newbury+Park%3A+Sage+Publications&btnG=

- Flynn, J., Slovic, P., & Mertz, C. K. (1994). Gender, race, and perception of environmental health risks. *Risk Analysis : An Official Publication of the Society for Risk Analysis*, 14(6), 1101–1108. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1539-6924.1994.TB00082.X
- Ford, D. (2018). Chapter 1: The Fatal Fire. https://www.wfdd.org/story/chapter-1-fatal-fire
- Ford, E. S., Li, C., Wheaton, A. G., Chapman, D. P., Perry, G. S., & Croft, J. B. (2014). Sleep duration and body mass index and waist circumference among Us adults. *Obesity*, 22(2), 598–607. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20558
- Geltman, P. L., Brown, M. J., & Cochran, J. (2001). Lead poisoning among refugee children resettled in Massachusetts, 1995 to 1999. *Pediatrics*, 108(1), 158–162. https://doi.org/10.1542/PEDS.108.1.158
- Gieles, N. C., Tankink, J. B., van Midde, M., Düker, J., van der Lans, P., Wessels, C. M.,
 Bloemenkamp, K. W. M., Bonsel, G., van den Akker, T., Goosen, S., Rijken, M. J., &
 Browne, J. L. (2019). Maternal and perinatal outcomes of asylum seekers and
 undocumented migrants in Europe: a systematic review. *European Journal of Public Health*, 29(4), 714–723. https://doi.org/10.1093/EURPUB/CKZ042
- Gilbert, P., Hein, M., & Losby, J. (2010). Exploring Refugee Integration: Experiences in Four American ... https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/35383480/exploring-refugeeintegration-experiences-in-four-american-
- Gorelick, M. H., Gould, L., Nimmer, M., Wagner, D., Heath, M., Bashir, H., & Brousseau, D. C. (2011). Perceptions About Water and Increased Use of Bottled Water in Minority Children. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *165*(10), 928–932.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHPEDIATRICS.2011.83

- Greenwood, J. (2022, February 2). *How are coagulants and flocculants used in water and wastewater treatment?* https://www.wcs-group.co.uk/wcs-blog/coagulants-flocculants-wastewater-treatment
- Grineski, S., Collins, T. W., Chakraborty, J., & Montgomery, M. (2015). Hazardous air pollutants and flooding: a comparative interurban study of environmental injustice. *GeoJournal*, 80(1), 145–158. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10708-014-9542-1/TABLES/6
- Haklay, M., Dörler, D., Heigl, F., Manzoni, M., Hecker, S., & Hecker, S. (2021). What is citizen science? The challenges of definition. *The Science of Citizen Science*, *13*.
 https://scholar.google.com/scholar?hl=en&as_sdt=0%2C34&q=Haklay%2C+M.+M.%2C+
 D%C3%B6rler%2C+D.%2C+Heigl%2C+F.%2C+Manzoni%2C+M.%2C+Hecker%2C+S.
 %2C+%26+Vohland%2C+K.+%282021%29.+What+is+citizen+science%3F+The+challen ges+of+definition.+&btnG=
- Haman, T., Mathee, A., & Swart, A. (2015). Low Levels of Awareness of Lead Hazards among Pregnant Women in a High Risk—Johannesburg Neighbourhood. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 12(12), 15022.

https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH121214968

- Handcock, M. S., & Gile, K. J. (2011). Comment: On the Concept of Snowball Sampling. Sociological Methodology, 41(1), 367–371.
- Hanna-Attisha, M., LaChance, J., Sadler, R. C., & Schnepp, A. C. (2016). Elevated Blood Lead Levels in Children Associated With the Flint Drinking Water Crisis: A Spatial Analysis of Risk and Public Health Response. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(2), 283. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2015.303003

- Hannig, A. (2014). Spiritual border crossings: childbirth, postpartum seclusion and religious alterity in Amhara, Ethiopia. *Africa*, 84(2), 294–313. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0001972014000047
- Harclerode, M. A., Lal, P., Vedwan, N., Wolde, B., & Miller, M. E. (2016). Evaluation of the role of risk perception in stakeholder engagement to prevent lead exposure in an urban setting. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 184, 132-142.

Harrison, E. (2017). *Safe Harbor - UNCG Research Magazine*. https://researchmagazine.uncg.edu/safe-harbor/

- Harvey, P. J., Handley, H. K., & Taylor, M. P. (2016). Widespread copper and lead contamination of household drinking water, New South Wales, Australia. *Environmental Research*, 151, 275–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.07.041
- Heblich, S., Trew, A., & Zylberberg, Y. (2021). East-side story: Historical pollution and persistent neighborhood sorting. *Journal of Political Economy*, 129(5), 1508–1552. https://doi.org/10.1086/713101/SUPPL_FILE/20180238DATA.ZIP
- Heifetz, R., & Laurie, D. (2001). The Work of Leadership. *Harvard Business Review*, 75(1), 124–134. https://hbr.org/2001/12/the-work-of-leadership
- Hobson, W. L., Knochel, M. L., Byington, C. L., Young, P. C., Hoff, C. J., & Buchi, K. F.
 (2007). Bottled, filtered, and tap water use in Latino and non-Latino children. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine*, *161*(5), 457–461.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHPEDI.161.5.457

- Horton, C. J., Acharya, L., & Wells, E. M. (2019). Association between self-reported length of time in the USA and blood lead levels: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2013-2016. *BMJ Open*, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJOPEN-2018-027628
- Howell, R., Sinha, K. M., Wagner, N., Doorn, N., & van Beers, C. (2020). Consumption of bottled water at the bottom of the pyramid: Who purchases first? *Journal of Macromarketing*, 40(1), 31–50. https://doi.org/10.1177/0276146719866890
- Huerta-Saenz, L., Irigoyen, M., Benavides, J., & Mendoza, M. (2012). Tap or bottled water:
 Drinking preferences among urban minority children and adolescents. *Journal of Community Health*, *37*(1), 54–58. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10900-011-9415-1/FIGURES/1

Hunter, L. M. (2000). The Spatial Association between U.S. Immigrant Residential
Concentration and Environmental Hazards]. *International Migration Review*, *34*(2), 460–488. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/019791830003400205?casa_token=-JOnbx9o4zEAAAAA:OzJSAsyv4GDRjqDNXRN_j43CbO7mlFF3aq-3W4L1mptz3aXis1QrIJnh_As5ek1hojzvdjRmON6d

- Hyman, I. (2004). Setting the stage: Reviewing current knowledge on the health of Canadian immigrants: What is the evidence and where are the gaps? *Canadian Journal of Public Health*, 95(3), I4–I8. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03403658/METRICS
- Ilunga Tshiswaka, D., Ibe-Lamberts, K. D., Whembolua, G. L. S., Fapohunda, A., & Tull, E. S. (2018). "Going to the Gym Is Not Congolese's Culture": Examining Attitudes Toward Physical Activity and Risk for Type 2 Diabetes Among Congolese Immigrants. *Diabetes Educator*, 44(1), 94–102. https://doi.org/10.1177/0145721717749578

- International Rescue Committee (IRC). (2022). *Migrants, asylum seekers, refugees and immigrants: What's the difference?* https://www.rescue.org/article/migrants-asylum-seekers-refugees-and-immigrants-whats-difference
- Iwelunmor, J., Newsome, V., & Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (2014). Framing the impact of culture on health: a systematic review of the PEN-3 cultural model and its application in public health research and interventions. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/13557858.2013.857768, 19*(1), 20– 46. https://doi.org/10.1080/13557858.2013.857768
- Jamshaid, M., Khan, A. A., Ahmed, K., & Saleem, M. (2018). Heavy metal in drinking water its effect on human health and its treatment techniques-a review Assessment of Heavy Metals in Mangroves of Karachi View project Ecological risk and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in the surface sediment from Karachi Harbour and Clifton coast Karachi, Pakistan View project Heavy metal in drinking water its effect on human health and its treatment techniques-a review. *Int. J. Biosci*, *12*(4), 223–240. https://doi.org/10.12692/ijb/12.4.223-240
- Jarvis, P., & Fawell, J. (2021). Lead in drinking water An ongoing public health concern? *Current Opinion in Environmental Science & Health*, 20, 100239. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.COESH.2021.100239
- Javidi, A., & Pierce, G. (2018). U.S. Households' Perception of Drinking Water as Unsafe and its Consequences: Examining Alternative Choices to the Tap. *Water Resources Research*, 54(9), 6100–6113. https://doi.org/10.1029/2017WR022186
- Kamdar, N., Hernandez, D., Nipa Kamdar, C., & Ser-, H. (2022). Photo-elicitation: Reflections on a method to study food insecurity among low-income, post-9/11 veterans. *Public Health Nursing*, 39(1), 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/PHN.12989

- Kasozi, K. I., Namubiru, S., Kamugisha, R., Eze, E. D., Tayebwa, D. S., Ssempijja, F.,
 Okpanachi, A. O., Kinyi, H. W., Atusiimirwe, J. K., Suubo, J., Fernandez, E. M., Nshakira,
 N., & Tamale, A. (2019). Safety of Drinking Water from Primary Water Sources and
 Implications for the General Public in Uganda. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7813962
- Katsinde, S., Srinivas, S., Hornby, D., & Srinivas, S. (2014). The Need for Culture Sensitive Participatory Health Promotion Activities To Promote Breastfeeding. *Indian Journal of Pharmacy Practice*, 7(2). https://doi.org/10.5530/ijopp.7.2.2
- Kilavi, P. K., Kaniu, M. I., Patel, J. P., & Usman, I. T. (2021). Quality and human health risk assessment of uranium and other heavy metals in drinking water from Kwale County, Kenya. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, *193*(11), 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10661-021-09466-4/TABLES/12
- Kraft, M. E., & Scheberle, D. (1995). Environmental Justice and the Allocation Of Risk: The Case of Lead and Public Health. *Policy Studies Journal*, 23(1), 113–122. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1541-0072.1995.TB00511.X
- Krogstad, J., & Radford, J. (2017). *Key facts about refugees in the U.S. / Immigration Research Library*. https://www.immigrationresearch.org/node/2290
- Lang-Baldé, R. (2019). Voices Bearing Witness: Culture and the Birth Process in the District of Labé, Fouta Djallon, Guinea.
- Lang-Balde, R. (2019). Voices Bearing Witness: Culture and the Birth Process in the District of Labé, Fouta Djallon, Guinea. *All Dissertations*. https://tigerprints.clemson.edu/all_dissertations/2471

Lead & Copper Program Survey. (2023).

https://storymaps.arcgis.com/stories/2d3525da430744b0b3630e8f205d4eef

- Liévanos, R. S. (2015). Race, deprivation, and immigrant isolation: The spatial demography of air-toxic clusters in the continental United States. *Social Science Research*, 54, 50–67. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SSRESEARCH.2015.06.014
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalistic Inquiry*. Sage. https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=20A9aWlNeooC&oi=fnd&pg=PA7&dq=L incoln+and+Guba+(1985)+&ots=0uqyYdSdzo&sig=vpy1vD-idIUQ4-GsgFrGbd2fjiE#v=onepage&q=Lincoln%20and%20Guba%20(1985)&f=false
- Long, D., Hunter, C., & van der Geest, S. (2008). When the field is a ward or a clinic: Hospital ethnography. *Anthropology & Medicine*, 15(2), 71–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/13648470802121844
- Lutheran Immigration and Refugee Service. (2021). What is the USA Refugee Resettlement Process? . https://www.lirs.org/what-is-usa-refugee-resettlement-process
- Mahdi, A. A., Ansari, J. A., Chaurasia, P., Ahmad, M. K., Kunwar, S., McClean, S., & Yogarajah, P. (2022). A Study of Maternal and Umbilical Cord Blood Lead Levels in Pregnant Women. *Indian Journal of Clinical Biochemistry*, *38*(1), 94–101. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12291-022-01040-0/TABLES/3
- Mahiti, G. R., Kiwara, A. D., Mbekenga, C. K., Hurtig, A. K., & Goicolea, I. (2015). "We have been working overnight without sleeping": Traditional birth attendants' practices and perceptions of post-partum care services in rural Tanzania. *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, *15*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12884-015-0445-Z

- Maietta, R., Mihas, P., Swartout, K., Petruzzelli, J., & Hamilton A. B. (2021). Sort and Sift, Think and Shift: Let the Data Be Your Guide An Applied Approach to Working With, Learning From, and Privileging Qualitative Data. *Qualitative Report*, 26(6). https://nsuworks.nova.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5013&context=tqr
- Mawoza, T., Nhachi, C., & Magwali, T. (2019). Prevalence of Traditional Medicine Use during Pregnancy, at Labour and for Postpartum Care in a Rural Area in Zimbabwe. *Clinics in Mother and Child Health*, *16*(2). https://doi.org/10.24105/2090-7214.16.321
- Maykondo, B. K., Horwood, C., Haskins, L., Mapumulo, S., Mapatano, M. A., Kilola, B. M.,
 Mokanisa, M. B., Hatloy, A., John, V. M., & Bitadi, P. M. B. W. (2022). A qualitative study to explore dietary knowledge, beliefs, and practices among pregnant women in a rural health zone in the Democratic Republic of Congo. *Journal of Health, Population and Nutrition*, *41*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/S41043-022-00333-7/TABLES/2
- McIntosh, M., & Morse, J. (2015). Situating and constructing diversity in semi-structured interviews. *Global Qualitative Nursing Research*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1177/2333393615597674
- Mertens, D. M. (2019). *Research methods in education and psychology: Integrating diversity with quantitative and qualitative approaches* (Vol. 5). SAGE Publications.
- Minnesota Department of Health. (2022). Let it run ... and get the lead out! MN Dept. of Health.

https://www.health.state.mn.us/communities/environment/water/factsheet/letitrun_english.h tml

- Miranda, M. L., Messer, L. C., & Kroeger, G. L. (2012). Associations between the quality of the residential built environment and pregnancy outcomes among women in North Carolina. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 120(3), 471–477. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.1103578
- Mitra, P., Sharma, S., Purohit, P., & Sharma, P. (2017). Clinical and molecular aspects of lead toxicity: An update. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1080/10408363.2017.1408562*, *54*(7–8), 506–528. https://doi.org/10.1080/10408363.2017.1408562
- Mohammadinia, N., Rezaei, M. A., Morowatisharifabad, M. A., & Heydarikhayat, N. (2021).
 The effect of education based on PEN-3 cultural model on students' menstrual health
 behaviors: a mixed method study. *Health Education Research*, *36*(2), 239–247.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/HER/CYAB001
- Monrouxe, L., & Ajjawi, R. (2020). Ethnography, methodology: Striving for clarity. *Medical Education*, *54*(4), 284–286. https://doi.org/10.1111/MEDU.14129
- Muhaya, B. B., & Badarhi, B. B. (2022). Trace metal contamination of groundwater and human health risk in Katuba and Kenya municipalities of Lubumbashi city, Southeastern
 Democratic Republic of Congo. *African Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, *16*(3), 91–110. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJEST2021.3087
- Muhaya, B. B., Mulongo, S. C., Kunyonga, C. Z., Mpomanga, A. W., & Kalonda, E. M. (2021).
 Assessment of trace metal levels of groundwater in Lubumbashi, Kampemba and
 Kamalondo communes of Lubumbashi city, Democratic Republic of Congo. *Journal of Environmental Science and Engineering*, 10, 9–25. https://doi.org/10.17265/21625298/2021.01.002
- Mutebi, R. R., Ario, A. R., Nabatanzi, M., Kyamwine, I. B., Wibabara, Y., Muwereza, P., Eurien, D., Kwesiga, B., Bulage, L., Kabwama, S. N., Kadobera, D., Henderson, A.,

Callahan, J. H., Croley, T. R., Knolhoff, A. M., Mangrum, J. B., Handy, S. M., McFarland,
M. A., Sam, J. L. F., ... Zhu, B. P. (2022). Large outbreak of Jimsonweed (Datura stramonium) poisoning due to consumption of contaminated humanitarian relief food:
Uganda, March–April 2019. *BMC Public Health*, 22(1), 1–10.
https://doi.org/10.1186/S12889-022-12854-1/FIGURES/3

- Mutono, N., Wright, J. A., Mutembei, H., Muema, J., Thomas, M. L. H., Mutunga, M., & Thumbi, S. M. (2021). The nexus between improved water supply and water-borne diseases in urban areas in Africa: a scoping review. AAS Open Research, 4, 27. https://doi.org/10.12688/AASOPENRES.13225.1
- National Cancer Institute. (n.d.). *Definition of enema NCI Dictionary of Cancer Terms NCI*. Retrieved February 8, 2023, from https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/enema
- National Center for Cultural Competence. (2004). Bridging the Cultural Divide in Health Care Settings The Essential Role of Cultural Broker Programs.

https://nccc.georgetown.edu/culturalbroker/Cultural_Broker_EN.pdf

- National Immigration Forum. (2020, November 5). *Fact Sheet: U.S. Refugee Resettlement* . https://immigrationforum.org/article/fact-sheet-u-s-refugee-resettlement/
- National Immigration Law Center. (2018). Special considerations for immigrants and their *families*. http://niwaplibrary.wcl.american.edu/joint-agency-
- National Research Council. (1994). Cultural Diversity and Early Education: Report of a Workshop. In *Cultural Diversity and Early Education*. National Academies Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/9197

- NC Health News. (2021). Setting refugees up for success starts with the right housing. https://www.northcarolinahealthnews.org/2021/11/10/setting-refugees-up-for-successstarts-with-the-right-housing/
- Novelia, S., Rukmaini, & Veratu Caka, R. (2022). THE The Effect of Foot Massage and Warm Water Mixed with Aromatic Ginger Foot Bath on Edema in Pregnancy. *Nursing and Health Science Journal (NHSJ)*, 2(4), 293–298. https://doi.org/10.53713/NHS.V2I4.144
- Nowicki, S. (2022, March 30). Reacting to health hazards how fear and empowerment influence water quality management / Global Water Forum.

https://globalwaterforum.org/2022/03/30/reacting-to-health-hazards-how-fear-and-empowerment-influence-water-quality-

- management/?utm_source=rss&utm_medium=rss&utm_campaign=reacting-to-healthhazards-how-fear-and-empowerment-influence-water-quality-management
- Nowicki, S., Bukachi, S. A., Hoque, S. F., Katuva, J., Musyoka, M. M., Sammy, M. M., Mwaniki, M., Omia, D. O., Wambua, F., & Charles, K. J. (2022). Fear, Efficacy, and Environmental Health Risk Reporting: Complex Responses to Water Quality Test Results in Low-Income Communities. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(1), 597. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH19010597/S1
- Obadia, P., Kayembe-Kitenge, T., Haufroid V, Nkulu CB, & Nemery, B. (2018). Preeclampsia and blood lead (and other metals) in Lubumbashi, DR Congo. *Environmental Research*, *167*, 468–471.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935118304122?casa_token=0Jutof V7pwoAAAAA:8GsRe1oyu8VWVq06sJZE5u-

f2BNEM0L1qT6 rer04 iltEV cxEawqrfTkskYZO enmDEMS5-4A95 w
Odetola, L., Sills, S., & Morrison, S. (2021). A pilot study on the feasibility of testing residential tap water in North Carolina: implications for environmental justice and health. *Journal of Exposure Science & Environmental Epidemiology 2021 31:6*, *31*(6), 972–978. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41370-021-00352-2

Odetola L. & Morrison S. (2021). The Feasibility of Testing for Tap Water Lead Contamination and Related Knowledge, Attitude & Practices in African Immigrant Households: A Citizen Science Pilot Study. [Oral Presentation]. United States Coalition on African Immigrant Health (USCAIH) Conference.

Office of Lead Hazard Control and Healthy Homes, HUD. (2016). Federal Register :: Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally Owned Residential Property and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance; Response to Elevated Blood Lead Levels.

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2016/09/01/2016-20955/requirements-fornotification-evaluation-and-reduction-of-lead-based-paint-hazards-in-federally

- Ogden, C. L., Carroll, M. D., Kit, B. K., & Flegal, K. M. (2012). Prevalence of Obesity and Trends in Body Mass Index Among US Children and Adolescents, 1999-2010. *JAMA*, *307*(5), 483–490. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2012.40
- Ohio Public Health. (2016). Lead in Your Water? Details from the CDC and EPA Public Health - Dayton & Montgomery County. https://www.phdmc.org/news-features/featurearticles/lead-in-your-water-info-from-the-cdc-and-epa
- Okafor, C. B. (2000). Folklore Linked to Pregnancy and Birth in Nigeria. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 22(2), 189–202. https://doi.org/10.1177/019394590002200206

Olewe, T. M., Mwanthi M. A., Wang'ombe, J. K., & Griffiths, J. K. (2009). Blood lead levels and potental environmental exposures among children under five years in Kibera slums, Nairobi. *East African Journal*, 6(1).

https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&profile=ehost&scope=site&authtype= crawler&jrnl=08568960&AN=59336320&h=RmD4lfWaskzAGXol3uHOGqwOGjBIe1yZJ n01HTNFKW%2BQYI2Wx8c9oliX5wO4JkgXrzAl0qdkkP2SMAgLZsoRQQ%3D%3D&c rl=c

- Onufrak, S. J., Park, S., Sharkey, J. R., & Sherry, B. (2014). The relationship of perceptions of tap water safety with intake of sugar-sweetened beverages and plain water among US adults. *Public Health Nutrition*, 17(1), 179–185. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980012004600
- O'Reilly, K. (2012). Ethnographic methods, second edition. In *Ethnographic Methods, Second Edition*. Taylor and Francis Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203864722
- Ormston, R., Spencer, L., Barnard, M., & Snape, D. (2013). The foundations of qualitative research. In *Qualitative research practice: A guide for social science students and researchers* (pp. 1–23). SAGE.
- Otoo, P., Habib, H., & Ankomah, A. (2015). Food Prohibitions and Other Traditional Practices in Pregnancy: A Qualitative Study in Western Region of Ghana. *Advances in Reproductive Sciences*, 03(03), 41–49. https://doi.org/10.4236/ARSCI.2015.33005
- Parchem, J. G., Rice, M. M., Grobman, W. A., Bailit, J. L., Wapner, R. J., Debbink, M. P.,
 Thorp, J. M., Caritis, S. N., Prasad, M., Tita, A. T. N., Saade, G. R., Sorokin, Y., Rouse, D.
 J., & Tolosa, J. E. (2021). Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Adverse Perinatal Outcomes at

Term. *American Journal of Perinatology*, 557–566. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-0041-1730348/ID/JR200979-38

- Park, S., Onufrak, S., Cradock, A., Patel, A., Hecht, C., & Blanck, H. (2022). P031 Associations of Perceptions of Water Safety and Tap Water Taste with Beverage Intake Among US Adults. *Journal of Nutrition Education and Behavior*, 54(7), S32.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEB.2022.04.071
- Park, S., Onufrak, S., Patel, A., Sharkey, J. R., & Blanck, H. M. (2019). Perceptions of drinking water safety and their associations with plain water intake among US Hispanic adults. *Journal of Water and Health*, 17(4), 587–596. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2019.015
- Patrick L. (2006). Lead Toxicity, a review of the literature. Part I: Exposure, Evaluation, and treatment. *Alternative Medicine Review*, *11*(1).
- Patton, Q. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3rd ed.). Sage Publication.
- Payne-Sturges, D., & Gee, G. (2006). National environmental health measures for minority and low-income populations: tracking social disparities in environmental health. *Environmental Research*, 102(2), 154–171.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0013935106001356?casa_token=P7qc58 cjsxsAAAAA:oufmvSyvJApr66FgMPd8GC_giYcqW-DAsMANc-

rK4xqa43q3K1v9f1MWU_6R0tQfQkjqKRT3LQ

Pew Research Center. (2017). Characteristics of the U.S. foreign-born population: 2017.

Pierce, G., & Gonzalez, S. (2017). Mistrust at the tap? Factors contributing to public drinking water (mis)perception across US households. *Water Policy*, 19(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.2166/WP.2016.143 Pierce, G., Gonzalez, S. R., Roquemore, P., & Ferdman, R. (2019a). Sources of and solutions to mistrust of tap water originating between treatment and the tap: Lessons from Los Angeles County. *Science of The Total Environment*, 694, 133646.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.133646

Pierce, G., Gonzalez, S. R., Roquemore, P., & Ferdman, R. (2019b). Sources of and solutions to mistrust of tap water originating between treatment and the tap: Lessons from Los Angeles County. *Science of The Total Environment*, 694, 133646. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.133646

- Pierce, G., & Lai, L. (2019). Toward a comprehensive explanatory model of reliance on alternatives to the tap: evidence from California's retail water stores. *Journal of Water and Health*, 17(3), 455–462. https://doi.org/10.2166/WH.2019.289
- Pizarro, F., Olivares, M., Araya, M., Gidi, V., & Uauy, R. (2001). Gastrointestinal effects associated with soluble and insoluble copper in drinking water. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 109(9), 949–952. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.01109949
- Pocock, M. J. O., Roy, H. E., August, T., Kuria, A., Barasa, F., Bett, J., Githiru, M., Kairo, J., Kimani, J., Kinuthia, W., Kissui, B., Madindou, I., Mbogo, K., Mirembe, J., Mugo, P., Muniale, F. M., Njoroge, P., Njuguna, E. G., Olendo, M. I., ... Trevelyan, R. (2019).
 Developing the global potential of citizen science: Assessing opportunities that benefit people, society and the environment in East Africa. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *56*(2), 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13279
- Pope, A. (2015). *Infographic: The Screening Process for Refugee Entry into the United States / whitehouse.gov.* https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2015/11/20/infographic-screening-process-refugee-entry-united-states

- Pope, C. (2005). Conducting ethnography in medical settings. *Medical Education*, *39*(12), 1180–1187. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2929.2005.02330.X
- Quintanilha, M., Mayan, M. J., Thompson, J., & Bell, R. C. (2016). Contrasting "back home" and "here": How Northeast African migrant women perceive and experience health during pregnancy and postpartum in Canada. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, 15(1), 1– 8. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12939-016-0369-X/METRICS
- Rabiu, A., & Malami, S. (2019). Toxicity Study of Potash Extract, "jar Kanwa": An Earthy Material Consumed for Remedy of various Ailments in Northern Nigeria. *Journal of BioMedical Research and Clinical Practice*, 2(4), 197–201.
 https://jbrcp.net/index.php/jbrcp/article/view/120/298
- Reese, A. C., Burgos-Gil, R., Cleary, S. D., Lora, K., Rivera, I., Gittelsohn, J., Seper, S., Monge-Rojas, R., & Colón-Ramos, U. (2023). Use of a Water Filter at Home Reduces Sugary
 Drink Consumption among Parents and Infants/Toddlers in a Predominantly Hispanic
 Community: Results from the Water Up!@ Home Intervention Trial. *Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *123*(1), 41–51.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAND.2022.06.006

Refugee Council USA. (2017). *The Rigorous Process of Screening Refugees for Resettlement to the United States*. http://tinyurl.com/qd62mez

Remler, D. K., & van Ryzin, G. G. (2021). Research methods in practice : strategies for description and causation (3rd ed.). Sage Publications. https://books.google.com/books/about/Research_Methods_in_Practice.html?id=2iI_EAAA QBAJ

- Renner, R. (2010). Exposure on Tap: Drinking Water as an Overlooked Source of Lead. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 118(2), A68. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.118-A68
- Reyntjens, Filip. (2009). *The Great African War : Congo and Regional Geopolitics, 1996-2006*. Cambridge University Press.

Riggs, B. L., Hodgson, S. F., O'Fallon, W. M., Chao, E. Y. S., Wahner, H. W., Muhs, J. M.,
Cedel, S. L., & Melon, L. J. I. (1990). Effect of Fluoride Treatment on the Fracture Rate in
Postmenopausal Women with Osteoporosis. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1056/NEJM199003223221203*, *322*(12), 802–809.
https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM199003223221203

- Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., Nicholls, C., & Ormston, R. (2013). Qualitative Research Practice. A
 Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers, 2nd Edition. In J. Ritchie, J. Lewis, C.
 M. Nicholls, & R. Ormston (Eds.), *Qualitative Research Practice A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*. SAGE Publishing.
- Ritchie, Roser, Mispy, & Ortiz-Ospina. (2018). *Measuring progress towards the Sustainable Development Goals*. https://sdg-tracker.org/water-and-sanitation
- Roper, J., & Shapira, J. (2000). Ethnography in Nursing Research: Overview of ethnography. In *Ethnography in Nursing Research*. Sage Publications, Inc.
- Rosinger, A. Y., Herrick, K. A., Wutich, A. Y., Yoder, J. S., & Ogden, C. L. (2018). Disparities in plain, tap and bottled water consumption among US adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2007-2014. *Public Health Nutrition*, 21(8), 1455–1464. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980017004050

- Rosinger, A. Y., Patel, A. I., & Weaks, F. (2022). Examining recent trends in the racial disparity gap in tap water consumption: NHANES 2011–2018. *Public Health Nutrition*, 25(2), 207– 213. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1368980021002603
- Santucci, R. J., & Scully, J. R. (2020). The pervasive threat of lead (Pb) in drinking water: Unmasking and pursuing scientific factors that govern lead release. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *117*(38), 23211–23218. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1913749117
- Schapira, M., Gerard, R., Deltenre, P., Henrion, J., Ghilain, J. M., Maisin, J. M., Schmitz, A., & Heller, F. R. (1996). An unusual cause for left sided colitis: hot-water enema. *Acta Gastro-Enterologica Belgica*, 59(3), 220–221. https://europepmc.org/article/med/9015936
- Scherzer, T., Barker, J. C., Pollick, H., & Weintraub, J. A. (2010). Water consumption beliefs and practices in a rural Latino community: implications for fluoridation. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 70(4), 337–343. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1752-7325.2010.00193.X
- Shewamene, Z., Dune, T., & Smith, C. A. (2017). The use of traditional medicine in maternity care among African women in Africa and the diaspora: A systematic review. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *17*(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12906-017-1886-X/TABLES/3
- Silva, G. S., Warren, J. L., & Deziel, N. C. (2018). Spatial Modeling to Identify Sociodemographic Predictors of Hydraulic Fracturing Wastewater Injection Wells in Ohio Census Block Groups. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *126*(6), 067008. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP2663
- Sofolahan-Oladeinde, Y. A., Iwelunmor, J. I., Conserve, D. F., Gbadegesin, A., & Airhihenbuwa, C. O. (2017). Role of healthcare in childbearing decision-making of WLHA

in Nigeria: Application of PEN-3 cultural model. *Global Public Health*, *12*(6), 680–693. https://doi.org/10.1080/17441692.2016.1221982

- Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Ormston, R., O'Connor, W., & Barnard, M. (2014). Analysis: Principles and processes. *Qualitative Research Practice: A Guide for Social Science Students and Researchers*, 2, 269–290.
- Sternber MD, Iuchtman, M., Auslander, L., Sternberg, E., Robinson, S., & Fireman, Z. (1995). Acute Proctitis After a Hot-Water Enema. *Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology*, 20(1), 80– 81. https://doi.org/10.1097/MCG.00000000000331
- Stillo, F., & Gibson, J. M. (2017). Exposure to Contaminated Drinking Water and Health Disparities in North Carolina. *American Journal of Public Health*, 107(1), 180. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2016.303482
- Stoler, J., Tutu, R. A., & Winslow, K. (2015). Piped water flows but sachet consumption grows: The paradoxical drinking water landscape of an urban slum in Ashaiman, Ghana. *Habitat International*, 47, 52–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HABITATINT.2015.01.009
- Suri, H. (2011). Purposeful sampling in qualitative research synthesis. *Qualitative Research Journal*, 11(2), 63–75. https://doi.org/10.3316/QRJ1102063/FULL/PDF
- Switzer, D., & Teodoro, M. P. (2018). Class, Race, Ethnicity, and Justice in Safe Drinking Water Compliance*. Social Science Quarterly, 99(2), 524–535. https://doi.org/10.1111/SSQU.12397
- Taylor, C., Golding, J., & Emond, A. (2015). Adverse effects of maternal lead levels on birth outcomes in the ALSPAC study: a prospective birth cohort study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *122*(3), 322–328. https://doi.org/10.1111/1471-0528.12756

- Thomas, M., Channon, A., Bain, R., Water, M. N.-, & 2020, undefined. (2020). Householdreported availability of drinking water in Africa: A systematic review. *Water*, 12(9), 2603. https://www.mdpi.com/830298
- Thorogood, N., & Green, J. (2013). Qualitative methods for health research. In *torrossa.com*. Sage Publications Ltd.
- Ugran, V., Desai, N. N., Chakraborti, D., Masali, K. A., Mantur, P., Kulkarni, S., Deshmukh, N., Chadchan, K. S., Das, S. N., Tanksali, A. S., Arwikar, A. S., Guggarigoudar, S. P., Vallabha, T., Patil, S. S., & Das, K. K. (2017). Groundwater fluoride contamination and its possible health implications in Indi taluk of Vijayapura District (Karnataka State), India. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, *39*(5), 1017–1029. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10653-016-9869-2/FIGURES/11
- UNICEF. (n.d.). *Water, sanitation and hygiene | UNICEF*. Retrieved February 6, 2023, from https://www.unicef.org/drcongo/en/what-we-do/water-sanitation-and-hygiene
- United Kingdom National Health Service. (2021). *Swollen ankles, feet and fingers in pregnancy* - *NHS*. https://www.nhs.uk/pregnancy/related-conditions/common-symptoms/swollenankles-feet-and-fingers/
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2019). *Global Trends: Forced Displacement* 2018. https://www.unhcr.org/5d08d7ee7.pdf
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2021). *Democratic Republic of the Congo: Regional Refugee Response Plan*. https://reporting.unhcr.org/drc-rrrp-2022
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2022a). *Democratic Republic of the Congo*. https://www.unhcr.org/en-us/democratic-republic-of-the-congo.html

- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2022b). *Refugee Statistics / USA for UNHCR*. https://www.unrefugees.org/refugee-facts/statistics/
- United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees. (2023). *Refugees and Asylum Seekers from DRC*. https://data.unhcr.org/en/situations/drc

United States Census Bureau. (2023). U.S. and World Population Clock. https://www.census.gov/popclock/

- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2017). Protect Your Family from Exposures to Lead. https://www.epa.gov/lead/protect-your-family-exposures-lead
- United States Environmental Protection Agency. (2022). Learn about Lead / US EPA. https://www.epa.gov/lead/learn-about-lead#lower
- Uprety, S., Iwelunmor, J., Sadik, N., Dangol, B., & Nguyen, T. H. (2020). A Qualitative Case Study of Water, Sanitation, and Hygiene Resources after the 2015 Gorkha, Nepal, Earthquake. *Earthquake Spectra*, *33*(1_suppl), 133–146. https://doi.org/10.1193/112916EQS212M
- Urquia, M. L., Frank, J. W., Moineddin, R., & Glazier, R. H. (2010). Immigrants' duration of residence and adverse birth outcomes: a population-based study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, *117*(5), 591–601. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1471-0528.2010.02523.X
- US Census Bureau. (2021). *About Language Use in the U.S. Population*. https://www.census.gov/topics/population/language-use/about.html
- U.S. Department of State. (2021). Report to Congress on Proposed Refugee Admissions for Fiscal Year 2022 - United States Department of State. https://www.state.gov/report-tocongress-on-proposed-refugee-admissions-for-fiscal-year-2022/#_Toc80119707

- U.S. Department of State Bureau of Population, R. and M. (PRM). (2022). *Refugee Arrivals by Region*. https://www.wrapsnet.org/archives/
- US EPA. (2022a). *Drinking Water Regulations / US EPA*. https://www.epa.gov/dwreginfo/drinking-water-regulations

US EPA. (2022b). Safe Drinking Water Act (SDWA) / US EPA. https://www.epa.gov/sdwa

- Wall, S. S. (2015). Focused Ethnography: A Methodological Adaptation for Social Research in Emerging Contexts. Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 16(1). https://doi.org/10.17169/FQS-16.1.2182
- Wang, Q., Chaloumsuk N., & Fongkaew, W. (2022). An Ethnography of "doing the month" and Modern Postpartum Practices among Rural Women in Jiangxi, China. *Pacific Rim International Journal of Nursing Research*, 26(2), 341–354. https://he02.tcithaijo.org/index.php/PRIJNR/article/view/256522
- Wani, A. L., Ara, A., & Usmani, J. A. (2015). Lead toxicity: A review. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 8(2), 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1515/INTOX-2015-0009
- Wanigaratne, S., Cole, D. C., Bassil, K., Hyman, I., Moineddin, R., & Urquia, M. L. (2016). The influence of refugee status and secondary migration on preterm birth. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 70(6), 622–628. https://doi.org/10.1136/JECH-2015-206529
- Watanabe, Y., Koshiyama, M., & Yanagisawa, N. (2017). Treatment of Leg and Foot Edema in Women Article History Citation. *Women Health Open J*, 3(2), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.17140/WHOJ-3-124
- Wei, K., Chopra, P., Strehlow, S., Stow, M., Kaplan, I., Szwarc, J., & Minas, H. (2021). The capacity-building role of community liaison workers with refugee communities in Victoria,

Australia. *International Journal of Mental Health Systems*, *15*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13033-021-00485-9/TABLES/2

Weiss, H. F. (2000). *War and peace in the Democratic Republic of the Congo*. Nordic Africa Institute.

https://books.google.com/books/about/War_and_Peace_in_the_Democratic_Republic.html? id=4ZG_ALnn-70C

- Whembolua, G. L. S., Muvuka, B., Tshiswaka, D. I., & Conserve, D. F. (2019). Socio-Structural Factors Influencing the Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission of HIV in the Democratic Republic of the Congo: A Systematic Review. *Maternal and Child Health Journal*, 23(7), 880–889. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10995-018-2688-6/TABLES/2
- Whembolua, G. L., & Tshiswaka, D. I. (2020). Public trust in the time of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): the case of the DR Congo. *The Pan African Medical Journal*, 35(Suppl 2), 1–2. https://doi.org/10.11604/PAMJ.SUPP.2020.35.2.22606
- Withers, M., Kharazmi, N., & Lim, E. (2018). Traditional beliefs and practices in pregnancy, childbirth and postpartum: A review of the evidence from Asian countries. *Midwifery*, 56, 158–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MIDW.2017.10.019
- World Bank. (2017). WASH Poor in a Water-Rich Country. www.worldbank.org/water World Bank. (2022). The World Bank in DRC: Overview.

https://www.worldbank.org/en/country/drc/overview

World Bank Group. (2017). WASH Poor in a Water-Rich Country. www.worldbank.org/water

World Health Organization. (2013). *Social determinants of health*. https://www.who.int/health-topics/social-determinants-of-health#tab=tab_1

- World Health Organization. (2022a). *Lead poisoning*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/lead-poisoning-and-health
- World Health Organization. (2022b). *Preterm birth*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/preterm-birth
- World Health Organization. (2022c, March 30). WHO urges quality care for women and newborns in critical first weeks after childbirth. https://www.who.int/news/item/30-03-2022-who-urges-quality-care-for-women-and-newborns-in-critical-first-weeks-afterchildbirth
- Zheng, X., Wang, R., Hoekstra, A. Y., Krol, M. S., Zhang, Y., Guo, K., Sanwal, M., Sun, Z.,
 Zhu, J., Zhang, J., Lounsbury, A., Pan, X., Guan, D., Hertwich, E. G., & Wang, C. (2021).
 Consideration of culture is vital if we are to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. *One Earth*, 4(2), 307–319. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ONEEAR.2021.01.012
- Zhu, X., Jiang, S., Wang, C., Gong, H., & Zhang, W. (2022). Severe rectal burn induced by hot normal saline enema: a case report. *Gastroenterology Report*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1093/GASTRO/GOAC027
- Ziebland, S., & McPherson, A. (2006). Making sense of qualitative data analysis: an introduction with illustrations from DIPEx (personal experiences of health and illness). *Medical Education*, 40(5), 405–414. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2929.2006.02467.X
- Ziersch, A., & Due, C. (2018). A mixed methods systematic review of studies examining the relationship between housing and health for people from refugee and asylum seeking backgrounds. *Social Science & Medicine*, 213, 199–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.SOCSCIMED.2018.07.045

APPENDIX A: STUDY INFORMATION SHEET (ENGLISH)

Information Sheet

Project Title: Water Quality Knowledge, Perceptions & Practices among African Immigrants

Principal Investigator: Love Odetola

Faculty Advisor: Sharon Morrison

What is this all about?

I am asking you to participate in this research study assess African immigrant participants' knowledge, attitudes and practices concerning their tap water, exposure to lead in tap water, and related maternal & child health consequences.

This research project will take about 30-60 minutes and will involve you completing one questionnaire and participating in at least one an interview. Your participation in this research project is voluntary.

How will this negatively affect me?

No, other than the time you spend on this project there are no know or foreseeable risks involved with this study.

What do I get out of this research project?

The information that you provide may be used to adapt a community health education intervention to address environmental exposures in tap water among ethnic minority groups.

Will I get paid for participating?

You will also receive a \$20 gift card or cash for your time and effort during the interview. This payment will be provided at the end of the interview. If you decide to discontinue the study after starting, you will still receive the incentive.

What about my confidentiality?

We will seek to ensure that your information is kept confidential. All information obtained in this study is strictly confidential unless disclosure is required by law. All electronic data will be password protected. All participants will be given pseudonyms upon enrollment in the study to ensure privacy. All audio recordings will be uploaded to UNCG-affiliated BOX folder and deleted from the recorder immediately after transfer to BOX. Because your voice will be potentially identifiable by anyone who hears the recording, your confidentiality for things you say on the recording cannot be guaranteed although the researcher will try to limit access to the recording as described in this section.

What if I do not want to be in this research study?

You do not have to be part of this project. This project is voluntary and it is up to you to decide to participate in this research project. If you agree to participate, at any time in this project you may stop participating without penalty.

What if I have questions? You can ask Love Odetola, who may be reached at (651)-497-1228 or loodetol@uncg.edu and Dr. Sharon Morrison at sdmorri2@uncg.edu, anything about the study. If you have concerns about how you have been treated in this study call the Office of Research Integrity Director at 1-855-251-2351.

APPENDIX B: INFORMATION SHEET (FRENCH)

Fiche d'information

Titre du Projet : Connaissances, attitudes et pratiques concernant la qualité de l'eau du robinet dans les Ménages d'Immigrants Africains.

Principal Investigateur : Love Odetola

Conseiller de la faculté : Sharon Morrison

Quel est l'objectif de l'étude ?

Vous êtes invité à participer à une étude de recherche pour évaluer qualitativement les connaissances, les attitudes et les pratiques des participants immigrants africains concernant leur eau du robinet, l'exposition au plomb dans l'eau du robinet et les conséquences connexes sur la santé maternelle et infantile.

Ce projet de recherche ne prendra que 30 à 360 minutes et vous obligera à remplir un questionnaire et participer à une seule entrevue. Votre participation à ce projet de recherche est volontaire.

Comment cela va-t-il m'affecter négativement ?

Non, à part le temps que vous passez sur ce projet, il n'y a aucun risque connu ou prévisible lié à cette étude.

Y a-t-il des avantages pour moi à participer à cette étude de recherche ?

Les informations que vous fournissez peuvent être utilisées pour adapter une intervention d'éducation à la santé communautaire pour traiter les expositions environnementales dans l'eau du robinet parmi les groupes ethniques minoritaires.

Serai-je payé pour participer ?

Vous recevrez également une carte-cadeau de \$20 ou de l'argent pour votre temps et vos efforts pendant l'entrevue. Ce paiement sera versé à la fin de l'entretien. Si vous décidez d'interrompre l'étude après avoir commencé, vous continuerez à recevoir l'incitatif.

Qu'en est-il de ma confidentialité ?

Nous endêverons pour nous assurer que vos informations restent confidentielles. Toutes les informations obtenues au cours de l'interview dans cette étude sont strictement confidentielles, sauf si la divulgation est requise par la loi. Toutes les données électroniques seront protégées par mot de passe. Tous les participants recevront des pseudonymes lors de leur inscription à l'étude afin de garantir leur confidentialité. Tous les enregistrements audios seront téléchargés dans le dossier BOX affilié à UNCG et supprimés de l'enregistreur immédiatement après le transfert vers BOX. Étant donné que votre voix sera potentiellement identifiable par toute personne qui entend l'enregistrement, votre confidentialité pour les choses que vous dites sur l'enregistrement ne peut

être garantie bien que le chercheur essaie de limiter l'accès à l'enregistrement comme décrit dans cette section.

Que faire si je ne veux pas participer à cette étude de recherche ?

Vous n'êtes pas obligé de faire partie de ce projet. Ce projet est volontaire et c'est à vous de décider de participer à ce projet de recherche. Si vous acceptez de participer à tout moment à ce projet, vous pouvez arrêter de participer sans pénalité.

Et si j'ai des questions ?

Vous pouvez demander à Love Odetola, qui peut être jointe au (651)-497-1228 ou loodetol@uncg.edu et à Dr Sharon Morrison à sdmorri2@uncg.edu, tout ce qui concerne l'étude. Si vous avez des inquiétudes sur la façon dont vous avez été traité dans cette étude, appelez le Bureau du directeur de l'intégrité de la recherche au 1-855-251-2351.

APPENDIX C: DEMOGRAPHICS FORM

Tap Water Quality University of North Carolina-Greensboro Department of Public Health

DEMOGRAPHIC DATA FORM

1. What is your biological sex?

O Male

○ Female

O Prefer not to respond

2. What is your birth year? (YYYY) _____

3. What is your race? *Mark* (*X*) *one or more boxes.*

American Indian or Alaska Native
Asian
Black or African
Caucasian
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
Other race – <i>Please print race</i> .

4. What is the highest degree or level of school that you have COMPLETED? *Mark (X) ONE box. If currently enrolled, mark the previous grade or highest degree received.*

C Less than high school

O High school diploma or equivalent

○ Vocational training

O Some college

O Associate's degree (e.g., AA, AE, AFA, AS, ASN)

O Bachelor's degree (e.g., BA, BBA BFA, BS)

• Graduate degree (e.g MS, MS, PhD, MD, DDS)

Other, please specify _____

_ ____

5. When did you come to live in the United States? *If you came to live in the United States more than once, print most recent year.* (YYYY)

7. What was your total household income during the PAST 12 MONTHS?

- \$0 \$9,999
- \$10,000 to \$14,999
- \$15,000 to \$24,999
- \$25,000 to \$34,999
- \$35,000 to \$49,999
- \$50,000 to \$74,999
- \$75,000 or more

APPENDIX D: INTERVIEW GUIDE

Interview Guide

Qualitatively assess African Refugees' Water Quality Knowledge, Perceptions & Practices

Grand Tour Questions

Could you describe your water usage activities on a typical day while pregnant? How would that differ on a typical day when not pregnant? Does this differ from what you did/would have done where you came from? If yes, in what way(s)?

Do you drink your tap water?

Do you drink any other water than the water that comes from your tap?

Could you share with me what you think about your tap water? Do you enjoy your tap water? What are some concerns you may have ever had about your tap water in the US? Are these different concerns than you had where you are from? If yes, in what way(s)?

Do you trust your tap water for drinking purposes? Why or Why not?

Knowledge, Perception & Practices Questions

Since you arrived in the US, have you ever heard of tap water contamination?

Depending on the answer, probe:

Where did you learn/hear about contamination? What contaminates tap water in the U.S.? (What makes tap water unsafe in the US?) What do you know about contaminants such as lead?

Since you arrived in the US, have you heard of ways to reduce consumption of contaminated tap water? *Depending on the answer, probe:*

How can you <u>personally</u> prevent tap water contamination? In what ways ... (From whom or from what) did you receive information on minimizing exposure to contaminated water?

Could you describe what you do (or might do) to make your tap water safer? (*capture KAP about water here and not just carry over from their home countries*) Did you do anything to your water where you were from?

Do you do anything different for the water for other family members? (probe for children if they have). (capture anything that's done by/for pregnant women or children specifically)

What steps would you take if you realized that your water had contaminants that may affect your health? ... on the health of your family member/child?

Is there anything else you would like to share with me about your drinking water?

APPENDIX E: EXCERPT FROM DATA REDUCTION PHASE

Vertical Analysis					
RQ	Time	Code	Memos	Quote	Р#
Practices to ensure WQ	Pre-resettlement (Systems-level practices vs. Individual Level)	Agencies		"The health agencies give medication to each family. So that they will put it in water. If you want to drink water, put the medication inside the water."	1
		"we don't drink that water" (P1)	In Africa, difference is in stagnant vs. Moving water. In America, diff. bottle	"Water that comes out of the rocks and goes down, the water that runs is potable water, Yes, it is potable, it is natural. But stagnant water is dirty In Africa, where we're from, we don't drink that water. We cannot even draw from it."	1
		That mummy or her children will fetch the water for you.	Family business of fetching water	That mummy or her children will fetch the water for you. In the morning you pay.	2
		It is not easy	"Wake up at 5am, 1am to fetch water" (P2)	"In Goma, it really is a problem. You have to wake up at 5am, 1am to fetch water. In the morning like that, there is no water all day"	
			They "fetch the water for you. In the morning you pay." (P2) (I): (financial burden of potable water)	"It's not everyone that has a tap. In the neighborhood, there are may be two people who have a tap. So at 6pm, 7pm, we have containers [jerrycans] and you write your name. For example, in my family, we wrote my name on our container. You write the name, and at 7pm, 6pm, you go drop your container over there. That mummy or her children will fetch the water for you. In the morning you pay."	2 (I)
			"sometimes the water doesn't come" (P2)	"sometimes the water doesn't come, it doesn't come You can go 1week, 2 weeks without water coming from the tap"	2
			Fetch water in Lake Kivu if there is none	"we were close to Kivu Lake"	
	Post- resettlement	"African women here, they use water like Americans" (P1)		"Here in America, I believe African mothers use water the way all Americans use. They go to the store and buy water And to cook, we cook with water from the tap in our houses So you see, for African women here, they use water like Americans"	1
		"It's expensive" (P1)	Cost affects type of bottled they buy	"Fiji? That is a really good water, natural! We buy that sometimes, since it's expensive. I think this one [the bottled water in the living room] is \$5. But that Fiji is \$16 it is expensive"	1
		If I feel like drinking, I drink. (P2)		"Me, I don't decide (between tap and bottled). If I feel like drinking, I drink."	
		sometimes the water doesn't come (P2)		"sometimes the water doesn't come, it doesn't come You can go 1week, 2 weeks without water coming from the tap"	
Water- related practices (Pregnancy)	Pre-resettlement				
	Post- resettlement				
Water- related practices (Postpartum	Pre-resettlement	Massage	Massage with hot water. Goal = Clean up the dirt	"After birth, if a woman gives birth You take hot water, and put here (hand on the stomach area), she lays down like this, and gently, gently, you massage It is to clean up all the dirt that remains."	1

Vertical Analysis						
RQ	Time	Code	Memos	Quote	Р#	
		Douching with hot water	Anal douching = Clean out the stomach Put mother in good health Have desire to eat Recover strength quickly	"And there are others who do douching you put water in the anus. It goes directly into the stomach and clean out. When they do douching, and put in hot water, really that puts the mother in good health. She will have the desire to eat, and she will also recover her strength quickly."	1	
	Post- resettlement	Baby water	(R) – WHO recommends exclusive breastfeeding. PHE to emphasize this in MCH care.	"I think at 1 month I was giving her the water for babies"	2 (R)	
(R) – Recommendation.						

	PERCEPTIONS ABOUT WQ						
	Vertical Analysis						
RQ	Time	Code	Memos	Quote	Р#		
Perceptions about WQ	Pre- resettlement	"You will taste the medication" (P1)	Water taste something, but you know what the taste is from (unlike America)	"They put the medication, and once you turn on your tap, the water comes out like milk Yes, but when you drink that water, you will taste the medication."	1		
				They tell us "No you cannot turn on your tap from 7am −12pm. Leave your taps off. We are putting medication. Use the water that you already have in your homes. But after 3-4 hours, they now say you have fetch water. It has now well purified for the whole city of Lumbumbashi"			
		"In the home country, water is natural" (P1)	Perception, Africa water is 'natural'	"in the home country, we drink water that is good, natural"	1		
		"The water in Goma, it's like they put salt in it" (P2)	Perception differs based on which part of the country/region (Goma vs Bukavu vs Burundi)	The water in Goma, it's like they put salt in it. If you drink it, ohhhh!	2		
		"we were in our own country, we were good."	Not easy, but because still in one's country we are good	In Goma, we were in our own country, we were good.			
	Post- resettlement	"Americans go to the store and buy water" (P1)		"Here in America, I believe African mothers use water the way all Americans use. They go to the store and buy water""	1		
		"Americans don't drink the tap water." (P1)		"Americans. They take water from the tap. But they don't drink the tap water."	1		
		"the taste of water" (P1)		"So when you taste the water, it has the taste of water. When you read that water that I am talking about, on the bottle it is written 'natural water.' So when you taste it, it tastes like natural water That is a really good water, natural!"	1		
		"they all go through the same water pipe" (P1)	Water is bad because all tap water (potable or not) comes from one source	here people say "Oh, the water pipe-tap water, toilet water, water we shower with —they all go through the same water pipe"	1		
		"tap water is safer than the bottled" (P2)		"I think that that tap water is even safer than the bottled water"	2		
		"if it was bad, they would have told us you" (P2)		Because if it was bad, they would have told us you should stop, you should use the bottles	2		